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2 UniCredit

UNICREDIT S.p.A.

(incorporated with limited liability as a Societa per Azioni in the Republic of Italy under registered number 00348170101)

and

UNICREDIT BANK IRELAND p.lLc.

(incorporated with limited liability in Ireland under registered number 240551)

and

UNICREDIT INTERNATIONAL BANK (LUXEMBOURG) S.A.

(incorporated as a public limited liability company (société anonyme) under the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg
and registered with the Luxembourg trade and companies register under number B.103.341)

unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by

UNICREDIT S.p.A.

in the case of Notes issued by UniCredit Bank Ireland p.l.c. and UniCredit International Bank
(Luxembourg) S.A.

Structured Note Programme

Under the terms of this Structured Note Programme (the Programme) described in this document
(the Base Prospectus), UniCredit S.p.A. (UniCredit or the Parent), UniCredit Bank Ireland p.l.c.
(UniCredit Ireland) and UniCredit International Bank (Luxembourg) S.A. (UniCredit International
Luxembourg) (each an Issuer and together the Issuers) may from time to time issue notes (Notes)
denominated in any currency agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as defined
below). The payment of all amounts due in respect of Notes issued by UniCredit Ireland and by
UniCredit International Luxembourg (the Guaranteed Notes) will be unconditionally and irrevocably
guaranteed by UniCredit (in such capacity, the Guarantor). Notes of any kind may be issued
including but not limited to Notes relating to a specified index or a basket of indices (Index Linked
Notes), a specified share or a basket of shares, a specified American depositary receipt or global
depositary receipt or a basket thereof (Equity Linked Notes), a specified currency or a basket of
currencies (Currency Linked Notes), a specified commodity or commodity index or a basket of
commodities and/or commodity indices (Commodity Linked Notes), a specified fund or basket of
funds (Fund Linked Notes), a specified inflation index or a basket of inflation indices (Inflation
Index Linked Notes), or any combination of the foregoing. Each issue of Notes will be issued on the
terms set out herein which are relevant to such Notes under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" (the
Notes Conditions) on pages 122-152 and any applicable Additional Terms and Conditions on
pages 153-238 (together with the Notes Conditions, the Conditions) on such additional terms as will
be set out in the applicable Final Terms (the Final Terms).

The Notes may be issued on a continuing basis to the Initial Dealer specified in the "Summary of the
Programme" section and any additional Dealer appointed under the Programme from time to time by
the Issuer (each a Dealer and together the Dealers), which appointment may be for a specific issue of
Notes or on an ongoing basis. References in this Base Prospectus to the relevant Dealer shall, in the



case of an issue of Notes being (or intended to be) subscribed by more than one Dealer, be to all
Dealers agreeing to subscribe for such Notes.

An investment in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. For a discussion of
these risks see "Risk Factors' on pages 19-57.

Applications have been made to the Commission de surveillance du secteur financier (the CSSF) in
its capacity as competent authority under the laws of Luxembourg, for the approval of this document
as three base prospectuses in accordance with Article 5.4 of Directive 2003/71/EC (the Prospectus
Directive) as amended (which includes the amendments made by Directive 2010/73/EU (the 2010 PD
Amending Directive) to the extent that such amendments have been implemented in a relevant
Member State of the European Economic Area) and Article 8.4 of the Luxembourg Act dated 10 July
2005 on prospectuses for securities (the Prospectus Act 2005). The CSSF assumes no responsibility
for the economic and financial soundness of the transactions contemplated by this Base Prospectus or
the quality or solvency of the Issuers in accordance with Article 7.7 of the Prospectus Act 2005.
Application has also been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the
Programme to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market (as
contemplated by Directive 2004/39/EC) and to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange. Application may also be made for notification to be given to competent authorities in other
Member States of the European Economic Area in order to permit Notes issued under the Programme
to be offered to the public and admitted to trading on regulated markets in such other Member States
in accordance with the procedures under Article 18 of the Prospectus Directive.

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the
issue price of Notes and any other terms and conditions not contained herein which are applicable to
each series of Notes will be set out in the applicable Final Terms which, with respect to Notes to be
listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, will be filed with the CSSF.

The Programme provides that Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on such
other or further stock exchange(s) or markets as may be agreed between the Issuers, the Guarantor and
the relevant Dealer. The Issuers may also issue unlisted Notes and/or Notes not admitted to trading
on any market.

The Issuers and the Guarantor may agree with any Dealer that Notes may be issued in a form not
contemplated by the applicable Conditions set out herein, in which event a supplement to this Base
Prospectus, if appropriate, will be made available which will describe the effect of the agreement
reached in relation to such Notes.

The Notes and, where applicable, the guarantee thereof and the Entitlement (as defined in the
applicable Final Terms) have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act), or under any state securities laws and are subject to
certain United States tax law requirements. Trading in the Notes has not been approved by the United
States Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the CFTC) under the United States Commodity
Exchange Act, as amended (the Commodity Exchange Act). The Notes, or interests therein, may not
be offered or sold in the United States of America or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons
(as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act, U.S. Persons) except to certain persons in
offshore transactions in relation on Regulation S under the Securities Act. See "Offering and Sale" on
pages 321-326.

None of the Issuers and the Guarantor has registered as an investment company pursuant to an
exemption from the registration requirements of the United States Investment Company Act of 1940,
as amended and the rules thereunder.



As more fully set out in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Taxation”, all payments in respect
of the Notes will be made without deduction for or on account of withholding taxes imposed by
any Tax Jurisdiction unless any such deduction is required by law. In the event that any such
deduction is required, neither the Issuer nor, in the case of Guaranteed Notes, the Guarantor
will be required to pay any additional amounts to cover the amounts so deducted.

For a description of certain further restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes and on the distribution
of this Base Prospectus, see "Offering and Sale" on pages 321-326.

Each issue of Notes will be issued in the form set out in "Form of the Notes" on pages 60-62.

Prospective purchasers of Notes should ensure that they understand the nature of the relevant
Notes and the extent of their exposure to risks and that they consider the suitability of the
relevant Notes as an investment in the light of their own circumstances and financial condition.
Notes involve a high degree of risk and potential investors should be prepared to sustain a total
loss of the purchase price of their Notes. See "Risk Factors" on pages 19-57.

Any person (an Investor) intending to acquire or acquiring any Notes from any person (an Offeror)
should be aware that, in the context of an offer to the public as defined in the Prospectus Directive, an
Issuer may be responsible to the Investor for this Base Prospectus only if that Issuer is acting in
association with that Offeror to make the offer to the Investor. Each Investor should therefore verify
with the Offeror whether or not the Offeror is acting in association with an Issuer. If the Offeror is not
acting in association with an Issuer, the Investor should check with the Offeror whether anyone is
responsible for this Base Prospectus for the purposes of Article 6 of the Prospectus Directive as
implemented by the national legislation of each Member State of the European Economic Area in the
context of the offer to the public, and, if so, who that person is. If the Investor is in any doubt about
whether it can rely on this Base Prospectus and/or who is responsible for its contents it should take
legal advice.

The rating of certain Series of Notes to be issued under the Programme may be specified in the
applicable Final Terms. Whether or not each credit rating applied for in relation to a relevant Series of
Notes will be issued by a credit rating agency established in the European Union and registered under
Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended) (the CRA Regulation), and whether such credit rating
agency is included in the list of credit rating agencies published by the European Securities and
Markets Authority on its website in accordance with such Regulation, will be disclosed in the
applicable Final Terms. Please also refer to "Credit ratings may not reflect all risks" in the "Risk
Factors" section of this Base Prospectus.

Arranger
UniCredit S.p.A.
Initial Dealer
UniCredit Bank AG

The date of this Base Prospectus is 26 June 2012.



This document constitutes three base prospectuses for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive
as amended (which includes the amendments made by the 2010 PD Amending Directive to the
extent that such amendments have been implemented in a relevant Member State of the
European Economic Area): (a) the base prospectus for UniCredit in respect of non-equity
securities within the meaning of Article 22 No. 6 (4) of the Commission Regulation (EC) No.
809/2004 of 29 April 2004 (Non-Equity Securities); (b) the base prospectus for UniCredit
Ireland in respect of Non-Equity Securities; and (c¢) the base prospectus for UniCredit
International Luxembourg in respect of Non-Equity Securities (together, the Base Prospectus).

The Issuers and the Guarantor (the Responsible Persons) accept responsibility for the
information contained in this Base Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge of the Responsible
Persons (each having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information
contained in this Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and contains no omissions
likely to affect its import.

Subject as provided in the applicable Final Terms, the only persons authorised to use this Base
Prospectus (and, therefore, acting in association with the relevant Issuer) in connection with an
offer of Notes are the persons named in the applicable Final Terms as the relevant Dealer(s) or
Managers and the persons named in or identifiable following the applicable Final Terms as the
Financial Intermediaries, as the case may be.

AN INVESTOR INTENDING TO ACQUIRE OR ACQUIRING ANY SECURITIES FROM
AN OFFEROR WILL DO SO, AND OFFERS AND SALES OF THE SECURITIES TO AN
INVESTOR BY AN OFFEROR WILL BE MADE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANY TERMS
AND OTHER ARRANGEMENTS IN PLACE BETWEEN SUCH OFFEROR AND SUCH
INVESTOR INCLUDING AS TO PRICE, ALLOCATIONS AND SETTLEMENT
ARRANGEMENTS. THE ISSUER WILL NOT BE A PARTY TO ANY SUCH
ARRANGEMENTS WITH INVESTORS (OTHER THAN THE DEALERS) IN
CONNECTION WITH THE OFFER OR SALE OF THE SECURITIES AND,
ACCORDINGLY, THIS BASE PROSPECTUS AND ANY FINAL TERMS WILL NOT
CONTAIN SUCH INFORMATION. THE INVESTOR MUST LOOK TO THE OFFEROR AT
THE TIME OF SUCH OFFER FOR THE PROVISION OF SUCH INFORMATION. THE
ISSUER HAS NO RESPONSIBILITY TO AN INVESTOR IN RESPECT OF SUCH
INFORMATION.

Copies of the Final Terms will be available from the registered office of the relevant Issuer and
the specified office set out below of the Principal Paying Agent (as defined below) and on the
website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, www.bourse.lu.

This Base Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed to be
incorporated herein by reference (see '"Documents Incorporated by Reference'" on page 8). This
Base Prospectus shall be read and construed on the basis that such documents are incorporated
and form part of this Base Prospectus.

No representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made by any of the Dealers
or any of their respective affiliates and no responsibility or liability is accepted by any of the
Dealers or by any of their respective affiliates as to the accuracy or completeness of the
information contained or incorporated in this Base Prospectus or of any other information
provided by the Issuers or the Guarantor in connection with the Programme. No Dealer or any
of their respective affiliates accepts any liability in relation to the information contained or
incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any other information provided by the
Issuers or the Guarantor in connection with the Programme. This Base Prospectus contains
industry and customer-related data as well as calculations taken from industry reports, market



research reports, publicly available information and commercial publications. It is hereby
confirmed that (a) to the extent that information reproduced herein derives from a third party,
such information has been accurately reproduced and (b) insofar as the Issuers are aware and
are able to ascertain from information derived from a third party, no facts have been omitted
which would render the information reproduced inaccurate or misleading.

Commercial publications generally state that the information they contain originates from
sources assumed to be reliable, but that the accuracy and completeness of such information is
not guaranteed, and that the calculations contained therein are based on a series of
assumptions. External data have not been independently verified by the Issuers.

For convenience, the website addresses of certain third parties are set out in this Base
Prospectus. Except as otherwise provided in this Base Prospectus, no information in such
websites should be deemed to be incorporated in, or form part of, this Base Prospectus and none
of the Issuers, the Guarantor nor any Dealer accepts any responsibility for any information
contained in such websites.

No person is or has been authorised by the Issuers or the Guarantor to give any information or
to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this Base Prospectus or any
other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes and, if given or
made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by
the Issuers, the Guarantor or any of the Dealers.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the
Programme or with any Notes (a) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other
evaluation or (b) should be considered as a recommendation by the Issuers, the Guarantor or
any of the Dealers that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or of any other information
supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes should purchase any Notes. Each
investor contemplating purchasing any Notes should make its own independent investigation of
the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the relevant
Issuer and/or the Guarantor. Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied
in connection with the Programme or the issue of any Notes constitutes an offer or invitation by
or on behalf of the Issuers, the Guarantor or any of the Dealers to any person to subscribe for
or to purchase any Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall
in any circumstances imply that the information contained herein concerning the Issuers and
the Guarantor is correct at any time subsequent to the date hereof or that any other
information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to
the date indicated in the document containing the same. The Dealers expressly do not
undertake to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuers or the Guarantor during the
life of the Programme or to advise any investor in the Notes of any information coming to their
attention. Investors should review, inter alia, the most recently published documents
incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus when deciding whether or not to purchase
any Notes.

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any
Notes in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in
such jurisdiction. The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes may be
restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. The Issuers, the Guarantor and the Dealers do not
represent that this Base Prospectus may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes may be
lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any
such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assume any
responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In particular, unless specifically



indicated to the contrary in the applicable Final Terms, no action has been taken by the Issuers,
the Guarantor or the Dealers which is intended to permit a public offering of any Notes or
distribution of this Base Prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is
required. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this
Base Prospectus nor any advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or
published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with
any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus or any
Notes may come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions on the
distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offering and sale of Notes. In particular, there are
restrictions on the distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes in the
United States, Japan and the European Economic Area (including the United Kingdom, the
Republic of Italy, Ireland, France, the Federal Republic of Germany, Luxembourg and
Austria). See " Offering and Sale" on pages 321-326.

This Base Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that, except to the extent sub-paragraph
(ii) below may apply, any offer of Notes in any Member State of the European Economic Area
which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a Relevant Member State) will be made
pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant
Member State, from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of Notes. Accordingly
any person making or intending to make an offer in that Relevant Member State of Notes which
are the subject of an offering contemplated in this Base Prospectus as completed by final terms
in relation to the offer of those Notes may only do so (i) in circumstances in which no obligation
arises for the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to
Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or to supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the
Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer, or (ii) if a prospectus for such offer
has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where
appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent
authority in that Relevant Member State and (in either case) published, all in accordance with
the Prospectus Directive, provided that any such prospectus has subsequently been completed
by final terms which specify that offers may be made other than pursuant to Article 3(2) of the
Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State, such offer is made in the period beginning
and ending on the dates specified for such purpose in such prospectus or final terms, as
applicable, and each Issuer has consented in writing to its use for the purpose of such offer.
Except to the extent sub-paragraph (ii) above may apply, none of the Issuers, the Guarantor nor
any Dealer have authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in
circumstances in which an obligation arises for the Issuers, the Guarantor or any Dealer to
publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer.

This Base Prospectus has not been submitted for clearance to the Autorité des Marchés
financiers in France.

All references in this document to U.S. dollars, USD, U.S.$ and $ refer to the currency of the
United States of America and references to Sterling and £ refer to pounds sterling. In addition,
references to euro and € refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of
European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the
European Union (the EC Treaty), as amended.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents which have previously been published and have been filed with CSSF at the
same time as this Base Prospectus shall be incorporated in, and form part of, this Base Prospectus:

Document Information incorporated Page numbers

UniCredit Audited Consolidated Annual Consolidated Balance Sheet 130-131

Financial Statements as at and for the

Financial Year Ended 31 December 2011 Consolidated Income Statement 132
Consolidated Statement of 133

Comprehensive Income

Statement of Changes in 134-135
Shareholders’ Equity

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 136-137

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts 139-464

Report of External Auditors 532
UniCredit Audited Consolidated Annual Consolidated Balance Sheet 122-123
Financial Statements as at and for the
Financial Year Ended 31 December 2010 Consolidated Income Statement 124
Statement of Changes in
Shareholders’ Equity 126-127
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 128-129
Notes to the Consolidated Accounts 131-435
Report of External Auditors 503
UniCredit Unaudited Consolidated Interim Consolidated Balance Sheet 16
Financial Statements as at and for the Three
Months Ended 31 March 2012 Consolidated Income Statement 17
UniCredit Ireland Audited Annual Financial =~ Accounting Policies 11-24
Statements as at and for the Financial Year
Ended 31 December 2011 Balance Sheet 25-26
Income Statement 27

Statement of Comprehensive Income 28

Statement of Changes in 29-30
Shareholders’ Equity

Cash Flow Statement 31-32



Document

UniCredit Ireland Audited Annual Financial
Statements as at and for the Financial Year

Ended 31 December 2010

UniCredit International Luxembourg Audited
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements as

at and for the Financial Year Ended 31
December 2011

UniCredit International Luxembourg Audited
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements as

at and for the Financial Year Ended 31
December 2010

Information incorporated

Notes to the Financial Statements
Independent Auditors’ Report
Accounting Policies

Balance sheet

Income statement

Statement of comprehensive income

Statement of changes in shareholders’
equity

Cash flow statement
Notes to the financial statements
Independent Auditors’ report

Consolidated statement of financial
position

Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

Consolidated statement of changes in
equity

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Notes to the consolidated financial
statements

Report of the réviseur d’entreprises
agréé

Consolidated statement of financial
position

Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

Consolidated statement of changes in
equity

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Notes to the consolidated financial
statements

Page numbers

33-78
8-10
11-24
25-26
27

28

29-30
31-32
33-76

8-10

5-6

7-43

8-9 (of the
Consolidated

Management
Report)

3-4

5-6

7-44



Document Information incorporated Page numbers

9-10 (of the

Consolidated
Report of the réviseur d’entreprises Management
agréé Report)

Memorandum and Articles of Association of
UniCredit Entire document

Memorandum and Articles of Association of
UniCredit Ireland Entire document

Memorandum and Articles of Association of

UniCredit International Luxembourg Entire document
Press Release dated 11 May 2012 Entire document
Press Release dated 5 June 2012 Entire document

Information other than that listed in the cross-reference list above and contained in the documents
incorporated by reference is for information purposes only.

Following the publication of this Base Prospectus a supplement may be prepared by the Issuers and
the Guarantor and approved by the CSSF in accordance with Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.
Statements contained in any such supplement (or contained in any document incorporated by
reference therein) shall, to the extent applicable (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise), be
deemed to modify or supersede statements contained in this Base Prospectus or in a document which
is incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. Any statement so modified or superseded shall
not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Base Prospectus.

Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus can be obtained free of charge
from the registered office of each of the Issuers and from the specified office of the Paying Agents for
the time being in London and Luxembourg. Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this
Base Prospectus, as well as the Final Terms relating to each Tranche of Notes issued under the
Programme, will also be published on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s website (www. bourse.lu).

The Issuers and the Guarantor will, in the event of any significant new factor, material mistake or
inaccuracy relating to information included in this Base Prospectus which is capable of affecting the
assessment of any Notes, prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus or publish a new Prospectus
for use in connection with any subsequent issue of Notes.
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SUMMARY OF THE PROGRAMME

This summary must be read as an introduction to this Base Prospectus. Any decision to invest
in any Notes should be based on a consideration of this Base Prospectus as a whole, including
any documents incorporated by reference. Following the implementation of the relevant
provisions of the Prospectus Directive in each Member State of the European Economic Area,
no civil liability will attach to the Responsible Persons in any such Member State in respect of
this Summary, including any translation thereof, unless it is misleading, inaccurate or
inconsistent when read together with the other parts of this Base Prospectus. Where a claim
relating to information contained in this Base Prospectus is brought before a court in a Member
State of the European Economic Area, the plaintiff may, under the national legislation of the
Member State where the claim is brought, be required to bear the costs of translating the Base
Prospectus before the legal proceedings are initiated.

Words and expressions defined in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes", and in the remainder of
this Base Prospectus shall have the same meanings in this summary.

Issuers: UniCredit S.p.A. (UniCredit)
UniCredit Bank Ireland p.l.c. (UniCredit Ireland)

UniCredit International Bank (Luxembourg) S.A. (UniCredit
International Luxembourg)

UniCredit is a bank corporation organised and existing under the
laws of Italy and is the parent holding company of the UniCredit
Group (the Group), a full-service financial services group
engaged in a wide range of banking, financial and related activities
throughout Italy and certain Central and Eastern European
countries. Its registered office is at Via A. Specchi 16, 00186,
Rome, Italy and has fiscal code and VAT number 00348170101.
UniCredit’s principal centre of business is at Piazza Cordusio,
20123, Milan, Italy, telephone number +39 02 8862 8715
(Investor Relations).

UniCredit Ireland is a public limited company registered with the
Registrar of Companies in Dublin under registration number
240551 and has its registered office at La Touche House,
International Financial Services Centre, Dublin 1, Ireland,
telephone number +353 1 670 2000. UniCredit Ireland is a fully
owned subsidiary of UniCredit and is engaged in the business of
banking and the provision of financial services.

UniCredit International Luxembourg is a public limited company
(société anonyme) registered with the Luxembourg trade and
companies register under the number B.103.341 and has its
registered office at 8-10 rue Jean Monnet, L.-2180 Luxembourg,
telephone number +352 22 08 42 1 (Switchboard). UniCredit
International Luxembourg is a fully owned subsidiary of
UniCredit and is engaged in the business of banking and the
provision of financial services. UniCredit International
Luxembourg is a Luxembourg credit institution and is supervised
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Guarantor:

Description:

Calculation Agent:

Arranger:

Initial Dealer:

Principal Paying Agent:

Form of Notes:

Issue Price:

Terms of Notes:

by the CSSF.

Notes issued by UniCredit Ireland and UniCredit International
Luxembourg will be guaranteed by UniCredit.

Structured Note Programme.

UniCredit Bank AG or such other calculation agent specified in
the applicable Final Terms.

UniCredit S.p.A..
UniCredit Bank AG.
Notes may also be issued to other dealers and third parties.

Citibank, N.A., London Branch or such other agent(s) specified in
the applicable Final Terms.

Notes will be issued in bearer form and, in the case of definitive
Notes, serially numbered, in the Specified Currency and the
Specified Denomination(s).

Notes may be issued on a fully-paid or partly-paid basis at an issue
price which is at par or a discount to, or a premium over, par.

Notes may be denominated in any currency specified in the
applicable Final Terms with any agreed maturity, subject to
compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory restrictions.

Notes may: (i) bear interest at a fixed or floating rate; (ii) not bear
interest; (iii) bear interest and/or provide that the redemption
amount is calculated by reference to one or more specified
underlying assets or bases of reference such as indices, shares or
GDRs/ADRs, currency exchange rates, commodities, fund shares
or units, the credit of one or more underlying entities, bonds or
other securities contracts such as derivatives or assets; (iv)
reference any combination of the foregoing (each such underlying
asset or basis of reference, a Reference Item and any Reference
Item linked Notes which are specified as such in the applicable
Final Terms, Reference Item Linked Notes), (v) be redeemed by
physical delivery (Physical Delivery Notes) of specified asset(s);
and/or (vi) have such other terms and conditions as specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

Interest periods, interest rates and the terms of and/or amounts
payable on redemption will be specified in the applicable Final
Terms.

The Final Terms will indicate either that the relevant Notes may
not be redeemed prior to their stated maturity (other than in
specified instalments, (if applicable); following an Event of
Default and acceleration of the Notes, or (if applicable) following
an Additional Disruption Event), or that such Notes will be
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Denomination of Notes:

Physical Delivery Notes:

Absence of Negative Pledge:

Cross Default:

Events of Default:

redeemable at the option of the relevant Issuer and/or the Holders.

The Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be agreed
between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) save that the
minimum denomination of each Note will be such amount as may
be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central
bank (or equivalent body) or by any laws or regulations applicable
to the relevant Specified Currency, see “Certain Restrictions —
Notes having a maturity of less than one year” below, and save
that the minimum denomination of each Note admitted to trading
on a regulated market within the European Economic Area or
offered to the public in a Member State of the European Economic
Area in circumstances which require the publication of a
prospectus under the Prospectus Directive will be €1,000 (or, if
the Notes are denominated in a currency other than euro, the
equivalent amount in such currency) and save that any Notes
issued by UniCredit Ireland that: (i) will not be listed on any stock
market and that mature within two years will have a minimum
denomination of €500,000 or U.S.$500,000 or, in the case of
Notes which are denominated in a currency other than euro or U.S.
dollars, the equivalent in that other currency of €500,000 (such
amount to be determined by reference to the relevant rate of
exchange at the date of the first publication of this Programme);
and (ii) will not be listed on any stock exchange and that do not
mature within two years will have a minimum denomination of
€500,000 or its equivalent at the date of issuance.

In order to receive the relevant asset(s) comprising the
Entitlement, a Holder must deliver an Asset Transfer Notice on or
prior to a specified cut-off time and pay all taxes, duties and/or
expenses arising from delivery. For certain Reference Item
Linked Notes, if certain disruption events occur on settlement, the
relevant settlement date may be postponed and in certain
circumstances the relevant Issuer will be entitled to make payment
of a cash amount in lieu of physical delivery.

Prior to the delivery of the Entitlement in respect of a Physical
Delivery Note the holder thereof will be required to represent that,
inter alia, he is not a US Person, the Note was not exercised on
behalf of a US Person and no cash, and in the case of Physical
Delivery Notes, no securities or other property have been or will
be delivered within the United States or to, or the account or
benefit of, a US Person in connection with any exercise thereof
(see "Annex 7 to the Terms and Conditions — Additional Terms
and Conditions for Physical Delivery Notes").

The terms of the Notes will not contain a negative pledge
provision.

The terms of the Notes contain a cross default provision as further
described in Notes Condition 10 ("Events of Default").

Terms of the Notes contain, among others, events of default
covering non-payment or non-delivery and relating to the
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Taxation:

Reference Item Linked Notes

Index Linked Notes:

Equity Linked Notes (including
GDR/ADR Linked Notes):

insolvency of the relevant Issuer.

In the event that any deduction for or on account of withholding
taxes imposed by any Tax Jurisdiction is required, payment will be
made after such amounts have been deducted and the relevant
Issuer or the Guarantor, if applicable, will not be required to pay
any additional amounts to cover the amounts so deducted.

Interest, premiums and capital gains paid under, or arising from,
the Notes and received by Italian resident individuals or Italian
non-commercial entities may be subject — in the cases, the manner
and terms envisaged by Legislative Decree No. 239 of 1 April
1996 and Legislative Decree No. 461 of 21 November 1997, as
subsequently amended and restated — to substitute taxes generally
applicable at a rate of 20 per cent., as further described under
“Taxation”. Neither UniCredit, UniCredit Ireland nor UniCredit
International Luxembourg will be liable to pay any additional
amounts to the Noteholders in relation to any such tax.

All payments in respect of the Notes will be made subject to any
withholding or deduction required pursuant to FATCA, as
provided in Condition 6(B).

Amounts payable in respect of Index Linked Notes will be
calculated by reference to one or more Indices. An Index may
reference or comprise reference equities, bonds, property, currency
exchange rates, funds, commodities or other assets or bases of
reference.

Index Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or early
cancellation or adjustment if an Index is modified or cancelled and
there is no successor index acceptable to the Calculation Agent, if
the Index's Sponsor fails to calculate and announce the Index, if
certain market disruption events occur, or if certain events (such as
illegality, disruptions or cost increases) occur with respect to the
hedging arrangements of the relevant Issuer or any Affiliate
thereof.

If certain disruption events occur with respect to valuation of an
Index such valuation will be postponed and may be made by the
Calculation Agent. Payments may also be postponed.

If "Mandatory Early Termination Provisions" are specified as
applicable in the applicable Final Terms, on the occurrence of a
specified "Mandatory Early Termination Event" the Notes will be
redeemed or cancelled on the designated "Mandatory Early
Termination Date".

Amounts payable in respect of Equity Linked Notes will be
calculated by reference to a single share or basket of shares.
Equity Linked Notes may also provide for settlement by physical
delivery of a specified amount of shares of one or more
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Currency Linked Notes:

companies, subject to payment of any applicable sums payable.

Amounts payable in respect of GDR/ADR Linked Notes will be
calculated by reference to a single global depositary receipt
(GDRs) or American depositary receipts (ADRs) or a basket of
GDRs and/or ADRs. GDR/ADR Linked Notes may also provide
for settlement by physical delivery of a specified amount of GDRs
and/or ADRs, subject to payment of any applicable sums payable.

Equity Linked Notes may, at the discretion of the relevant Issuer,
be subject to early redemption or early cancellation or adjustment
(including valuation and in certain circumstances Share
substitutions) if certain corporate events (such as events affecting
the value of a Share (including Share divisions or consolidations,
extraordinary dividends and capital calls), de-listing of a Share,
insolvency, merger or nationalisation of a Share issuer; a tender
offer or redenomination of a Share) occur, if certain events (such
as illegality, disruptions or cost increases) occur with respect to
the hedging arrangements of the relevant Issuer or any Affiliate
thereof, or if insolvency filings are made with respect to a Share
issuer.

GDR/ADR Linked Notes may, at the discretion of the relevant
Issuer, be subject to early redemption or early cancellation or
adjustment (including valuation and in certain circumstances
GDR/ADR substitutions) if certain corporate events (such as
events affecting the value of a GDR and/or ADR (including GDR,
ADR or underlying share divisions or consolidations,
extraordinary dividends and capital calls), de-listing of a GDR,
ADR or underlying share, insolvency, merger or nationalisation of
an underlying share issuer, a tender offer or redenomination of a
GDR, ADR and/or underlying share) occur, if certain events (such
as illegality, disruptions or cost increases) occur with respect to
the hedging arrangements of the relevant Issuer or any Affiliate
thereof, or if insolvency filings are made with respect to an
underlying share issuer.

If certain disruption events occur with respect to valuation of a
Share, such valuation will be postponed and may be made by the
Calculation Agent. Payments may also be postponed.

If "Mandatory Early Termination Provisions" are specified as
applicable in the applicable Final Terms, on the occurrence of a
specified "Mandatory Early Termination Event" the Notes will be
redeemed or cancelled on the designated "Mandatory Early
Termination Date".

Amounts payable in respect of Currency Linked Notes will be
calculated by reference to the rate of exchange of a single currency
or basket of currencies. Currency Linked Notes may also provide
for settlement by physical delivery of a specified amount of the
relevant currencies, subject to payment of any applicable sums
payable.
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Commodity Linked Notes:

Fund Linked Notes:

If certain disruption events occur with respect to a rate of
exchange of a single currency or basket of currencies, such
valuation may be postponed and/or made by the Calculation
Agent.

Amounts payable in respect of Commodity Linked Notes will be
calculated by reference to a single commodity and/or commodity
index or basket of commodities and/or commodity indices.
Commodity Linked Notes may also provide for settlement by
physical delivery of a specified amount of commodities, subject to
payment of any applicable sums payable.

If certain disruption events occur with respect to valuation of a
Commodity or futures or options contracts relating to such
Commodity, such valuation may be postponed and/or made by the
Calculation Agent. Commodity Linked Notes linked to a
commodity index may be subject to adjustment if the index is
modified or cancelled and there is no successor acceptable to the
Calculation Agent or if the index's sponsor fails to calculate and
announce the index.

If "Mandatory Early Termination Provisions" are specified as
applicable in the applicable Final Terms, on the occurrence of a
specified "Mandatory Early Termination Event" the Notes will be
redeemed or cancelled on the designated "Mandatory Early
Termination Date".

Amounts payable in respect of Fund Linked Notes will be
calculated by reference to units, interests or shares in a single fund
or basket of funds. Fund Linked Notes may also provide for
settlement by physical delivery of a specified amount of units,
interests or shares of one or more Funds, subject to payment of
any applicable sums payable.

Fund Linked Notes may, at the discretion of the relevant Issuer, be
subject to early redemption or early cancellation or adjustment
(including as to valuations and fund substitutions) if certain
corporate events (such as insolvency (or an analogous event) or
nationalisation of a Fund; litigation against, or regulatory events
occurring with respect to a Fund, suspensions of Fund
subscriptions or redemptions, certain changes in net asset value or
violations of leverage restrictions of a Fund, Fund reporting
disruptions, or modifications to the investment objectives or
changes in the nature or administration of a Fund) occur, if certain
valuation or settlement disruption events occur with respect to a
Fund, or if certain events (such as illegality, disruptions or cost
increases) occur with respect to the hedging arrangements of the
relevant [ssuer or any Affiliate thereof.

Fund Linked Notes linked to Exchange Traded Funds may be
subject to early redemption or cancellation or adjustment
(including as to valuation) if certain corporate events (such as
events affecting the value of a Fund Share including share
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Inflation Index Linked Notes:

General

Status of the Notes and the
Guarantee:

Approval, listing and admission
to trading:

Governing law:

divisions or consolidation, de-listing of a Fund Share, insolvency,
merger or nationalisation of a Fund Share issuer, or a tender offer
of a Fund Share) or modifications of its investment objectives
occur or if certain events occur with respect to the hedging
arrangements of the relevant Issuer or any Affiliate thereof.

If certain disruption events occur with respect to the valuation of a
Fund Share in respect of an Exchange Traded Fund, such
valuation may be postponed and may be made by the Calculation
Agent. Payments may also be postponed.

Amounts payable in respect of Inflation Index Linked Notes will
be calculated by reference to one or more inflation/consumer price
indices. Inflation Index Linked Notes may be subject to early
redemption or adjustment if publication of an Inflation Index is
delayed or ceases or if the Inflation Index is rebased or modified.
Such adjustments may be made by reference to a Related Bond if
specified in the applicable Final Terms. In addition Inflation Index
Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment if
certain additional disruption events (such as illegality, disruptions
or cost increases) occur with respect to the hedging arrangements
of the relevant Issuer or any Affiliate thereof.

The Notes, and the obligations of the Guarantor under the
Guarantee (if any), will constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured
and unsubordinated obligations of the relevant Issuer or the
Guarantor, as the case may be, and, in the case of the Notes, will
rank pari passu among themselves.

Application has been made to the CSSF to approve this document
as three base prospectuses. Application has also been made to the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the
Programme to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange's regulated market and to be listed on the Official List of
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on
such other or further stock exchange(s) or market(s) as determined
by the relevant Issuer. Notes which are neither listed nor admitted
to trading on any market may also be issued.

The applicable Final Terms will state whether or not the relevant
Notes are to be listed and/or admitted to trading and, if so, on
which stock exchange(s) and/or markets.

The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in
connection with them will be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, English law.

For the avoidance of doubt, with respect to Notes issued by

UniCredit International Luxembourg, the provisions of Articles 86
to 94-8 of the Luxembourg act dated 10 August 1915 on
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Use of Proceeds:

Rating:

Selling Restrictions — United
States:

Selling Restrictions - Other:

Certain Restrictions:

commercial companies, as amended (the Companies Act 1915)
relating to meetings of Noteholders shall not apply.

The net proceeds from each issue of Notes will be applied by the
Issuers for their general corporate purposes, which include making
a profit. If, in respect of any particular issue, there is a particular
identified use of proceeds, this will be stated in the applicable
Final Terms.

The rating of certain Series of Notes to be issued under the
Programme may be specified in the applicable Final Terms.
Whether or not each credit rating applied for in relation to relevant
Series of Notes will be issued by a credit rating agency established
in the European Union and registered under Regulation (EC) No.
1060/2009 (as amended) will be disclosed in the Final Terms.
Such rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating(s)
assigned to the Programme (if any). A rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject
to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the
assigning rating agency.

The Notes, any Guarantee thereof and any Entitlement (as defined
in the Final Terms) have not been and will not be registered under
the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (Securities
Act) or under any state securities laws and the Notes may not be
offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or
benefit of, any US Person (as defined in Regulation S under the
Securities Act). Furthermore, trading in the Securities has not
been approved by the United States Commodity Futures Trading
Commission (CFTC) under the United States Commodity
Exchange Act, as amended (CEA).

There are restrictions on the offer, sale and transfer of the Notes in
Japan and the European Economic Area (including the United
Kingdom, the Republic of Italy, Ireland, France, the Federal
Republic of Germany, Luxembourg and Austria) and such other
restrictions as may be required in connection with the offering and
sale of a particular series of Notes, see ("Offering and Sale").

Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which
particular laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting
requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which
comply with such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or
reporting requirements from time to time (see “Offering and
Sale”) including the following restrictions applicable at the date of
this Base Prospectus.

Notes issued by UniCredit Ireland and/or UniCredit
International Luxembourg having a maturity of less than one
year:

Notes issued by UniCredit Ireland and/or UniCredit International

Luxembourg having a maturity of less than one year will, if the
proceeds of the issue are accepted in the United Kingdom,
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Risk Factors:

constitute deposits for the purposes of the prohibition on accepting
deposits contained in section 19 of the Financial Services and
Markets Act 2000 unless they are issued to a limited class of
professional investors and have a denomination of at least
£100,000 or its equivalent. See “Offering and Sale”.

Under Part II of the Prospectus Act 2005, which implements the
Prospectus Directive in Luxembourg, prospectuses for the
admission to trading of money market instruments having a
maturity at issue of less than 12 months and complying also with
the definition of securities are not subject to the approval
provisions of Part II and do not need to be approved by the CSSF.
Any offers to the public of such securities in Luxembourg would
be subject to the prior approval of the CSSF of a simplified
prospectus pursuant to Part III, Chapter 1 of the Prospectus Act
2005.

There are certain factors that may affect the Issuers' ability to fulfil
their obligations under Notes issued under the Programme. These
are set out under "Risk Factors" below and include risks
associated with adverse macroeconomic and market conditions,
the exposure of the Group to liquidity risks and credit risks, the
Group’s expansion into Central and Eastern Europe, structural
risks relating to particular Notes, including with respect to
Reference Item Linked Notes, risks relating to unsecured
obligations, market disruption, settlement disruption, failure to
deliver due to illiquidity, expenses and taxation, no claim against
the Reference Item, modification, meetings, hedging and potential
conflicts of interest, physical delivery requirements and settlement
risk, illegality and cancellation, partly-paid Notes, optional
redemption, minimum denomination, possible illiquidity of Notes,
exchange rate risks and exchange listing and legal regulation risk.

The results of the Group are affected by general economic,
financial and other business conditions. During recessionary
periods, there may be less demand for loan products and a greater
number of the Group’s customers may default on their loans or
other obligations. Interest rate rises may also have an impact on
the demand for mortgages and other loan products. Fluctuations in
interest rates in Europe and in the other markets in which the
Group operates influence the Group’s performance.

In addition, there are certain factors which are material for the
purpose of assessing the market risks associated with the Notes
issued under the Programme. These are set out under "Risk
Factors" and include risks of changes in currency exchange rates,
liquidity risks, equity, commodity and bond market risks, risks of
early redemption, risks of changes in market interest rates, and
risks of volatile market price or indexes or underlying assets in the
case of Index Linked Notes, economic, political and regulatory
risks or a combination of these or other risks, the fact that the
Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors, certain
risks relating to the structure of particular issue of Notes and
certain market risks.
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PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS MUST REVIEW THE
APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS TO ASCERTAIN WHAT THE
RELEVANT REFERENCE ITEM(S) (IF ANY) ARE AND TO
SEE HOW THE AMOUNT PAYABLE AND/OR
DELIVERABLE ON THE NOTES AND ANY PERIODIC
INTEREST PAYMENTS ARE DETERMINED AND WHEN
SUCH AMOUNTS ARE PAYABLE AND/OR DELIVERABLE,
AS THE CASE MAY BE, BEFORE MAKING ANY DECISION
TO PURCHASE ANY NOTES.
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RISK FACTORS

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil
its obligations under Notes issued under the Programme. All of these factors are contingencies which
may or may not occur and neither the Issuers nor the Guarantor is in a position to express a view on
the likelihood of any such contingency occurring.

In addition, factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with
Notes issued under the Programme are also described below.

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor believes that the factors described below represent the
principal risks inherent in investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the inability of the
Issuers or the Guarantor to pay any cash amounts in connection with any cash settled Notes (Cash
Settled Notes) or to deliver the Entitlement in connection with any physically settled Notes (Physical
Delivery Notes) may occur for other reasons which may not be considered significant risks by the
Issuers and the Guarantor based on information currently available to them or which they may not
currently be able to anticipate. Neither the Issuers nor the Guarantor represent that the statements set
out below regarding the potential risks of undertaking in any Notes are exhaustive. The Final Terms
in respect of an issue of Notes may contain additional Risk Factors in respect of such Notes.
Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Base
Prospectus and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

THE PURCHASE OF NOTES MAY INVOLVE SUBSTANTIAL RISKS AND MAY BE
SUITABLE ONLY FOR INVESTORS WHO HAVE THE KNOWLEDGE AND
EXPERIENCE IN FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS MATTERS NECESSARY TO ENABLE
THEM TO EVALUATE THE RISKS AND THE MERITS OF AN INVESTMENT IN THE
NOTES. PRIOR TO MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION, PROSPECTIVE
INVESTORS SHOULD CONSIDER CAREFULLY, IN LIGHT OF THEIR OWN
FINANCIAL CIRCUMSTANCES AND INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, (I) ALL THE
INFORMATION SET FORTH IN THIS BASE PROSPECTUS AND, IN PARTICULAR, THE
CONSIDERATIONS SET FORTH BELOW AND (II) ALL THE INFORMATION SET
FORTH IN THE APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS. PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD
MAKE SUCH ENQUIRIES AS THEY DEEM NECESSARY (INCLUDING, WITHOUT
LIMITATION, CONSULTING WITH SUCH FINANCIAL, TAX LEGAL OR OTHER
ADVISORS AS THEY DEEM APPROPRIATE) WITHOUT RELYING ON THE ISSUER OR
ANY DEALER.

AN INVESTMENT IN NOTES LINKED TO ONE OR MORE REFERENCE ITEMS MAY
ENTAIL SIGNIFICANT RISKS NOT ASSOCIATED WITH INVESTMENTS IN A
CONVENTIONAL SECURITY, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO THE RISKS SET
OUT BELOW. THE AMOUNT PAID BY THE ISSUER ON REDEMPTION OF THE NOTES
MAY BE LESS THAN THE NOMINAL AMOUNT OR ISSUE PRICE OF THE NOTES,
TOGETHER WITH ANY ACCRUED INTEREST AND MAY IN CERTAIN
CIRCUMSTANCES BE ZERO. WHERE THE NOTES ARE REDEEMED BY THE ISSUER
BY DELIVERY OF REFERENCE ITEM(S) THE VALUE OF THE REFERENCE ITEM(S)
MAY BE LESS THAN THE NOMINAL AMOUNT OR ISSUE PRICE OF THE NOTES,
TOGETHER WITH ANY ACCRUED INTEREST AND MAY IN CERTAIN
CIRCUMSTANCES BE ZERO.

CERTAIN ISSUES OF NOTES INVOLVE A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK AND POTENTIAL

INVESTORS SHOULD BE PREPARED TO SUSTAIN A LOSS OF ALL OR PART OF
THEIR INVESTMENT.
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Terms used in this section and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings given to them in the
"Terms and Conditions of the Notes" (the Conditions and references herein to relevant Conditions
shall be construed accordingly).

Factors that may affect the relevant Issuer’s ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued
under the Programme - Factors that may affect the Guarantor’s ability to fulfil its obligations
under the Guarantee

Risks concerning liquidity which could affect the Group’s ability to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due

The UniCredit Group is subject to liquidity risk, i.e., the risk that it will be unable to meet its
obligations, including funding commitments and deposit withdrawals, as they fall due. In this context,
the procurement of liquidity for business activities and the ability to access long-term financing are
necessary to enable the Group to meet its payment obligations in cash, scheduled or unscheduled, and
avoid prejudice to its current activities and financial situation.

The global financial crisis and resulting financial instability have significantly reduced the levels and
availability of liquidity and term funding. In particular, the perception of counterparty credit risk
between banks has increased significantly, resulting in further reductions in interbank lending and the
level of confidence from banks’ customers, together with pressures on bond markets as a result of
speculation. In addition, the Group’s access to liquidity could be further prejudiced through its
inability to access bond markets, issue securities or secure other forms of wholesale funding. In this
context, the Group has announced, as part of its 2010-2015 Strategic Plan, its intention to decrease the
proportion of wholesale funding in favour of retail funding. However, reduced customer confidence
could result in the Group’s inability to access retail funding and to increased deposit outflows, which
in turn could further limit the Group’s ability to fund its operations and meet its minimum liquidity
requirements. Furthermore, the differing tax treatment of securities issued by UniCredit and those
issued by the Italian Government has resulted in the securities issued by UniCredit being
comparatively less favourable to investors, which could lead to higher funding costs. Therefore,
further increases in the cost of interbank funding, reductions in the availability of such funding,
increases in the costs of, together with decreases in the availability of, similar or other forms of
funding and/or the inability of the Group to dispose of its assets or liquidate its investments could
affect the Group’s business and materially adversely affect its results of operations and financial
condition.

UniCredit also borrows from the European Central Bank (the ECB). Thus, any adverse change to the
ECB's lending policy or any changes to the funding requirements set by the ECB, including changes
to collateral requirements (particularly those with retroactive effect), could significantly affect the
Group’s results of operations, business and financial condition.

In addition, supervisory authorities are increasingly monitoring the transfer of liquidity between
Group entities — particularly with regard to UniCredit as a holding company — as well as requiring
Group subsidiaries to reduce their respective exposures to other Group companies. This increased
oversight could affect the Group’s ability to support the liquidity requirements of its parent company
and subsidiaries through inter-group transfers of capital, which in turn could adversely affect the
Group’s results of operations, business and financial condition.

The UniCredit Group’s results of operations, business and financial condition have been and will
continue to be affected by adverse macroeconomic and market conditions

The Group’s performance is influenced by the financial markets conditions and the macroeconomic
situations of the countries in which it operates. In recent years, the global financial system has been

22



subject to considerable turmoil and uncertainty and, as of the date of this Base Prospectus, short to
medium term expectations of global economic performance remain uncertain.

The recent repricing of sovereign risk and the restructuring of Greek debt have contributed to keep
volatility and uncertainty high weighing negatively on the global financial system.

Such continued deterioration has led to significant distortions in global financial markets, including
critically low levels of liquidity and availability of financing (with consequentially high funding
costs), historically high credit spreads, volatile and unstable capital markets and declining asset
values. In addition, the international banking system has been imperilled with unprecedented issues,
which have led to sharp reductions in and, in some cases, the suspension of interbank lending.

The businesses of many leading commercial banks, investment banks and insurance companies have
been particularly subject to significant pressure. Some of these institutions have failed or have become
insolvent, have been integrated with other financial institutions or have required capital injections
from governmental authorities and supranational organisations. Additional adverse effects of the
global financial crisis include the deterioration of loan portfolios, decreased consumer confidence in
financial institutions, high levels of unemployment and a general decline in the demand for financial
services.

Furthermore, the general economic decline in the countries in which the Group operates has had, and
could continue to have, adverse effects on its operations, financing costs, share price and the value of
its assets and has led to, and could continue to lead to, additional costs relating to such devaluations
and decreases in value.

All of the above could be further impacted by any measure taken with respect to the currencies of
such countries as well as by political instability in such countries and/or the inability of the
governments thereof to take prompt action to confront the financial crisis.

The European sovereign debt crisis has adversely affected, and may continue to, adversely affect
the Group’s results of operations, business and financial condition

The continued deterioration of the merit of credit of various countries, including, among others,
Greece, Ireland and Portugal, together with the potential for contagion to spread to other countries in
Europe, mainly Spain and Italy, has exacerbated the severity of the global financial crisis. Such
developments have posed a significant risk to the stability and status quo of the European Monetary
Union.

Rising market tensions might affect negatively the funding costs and economic outlook of some euro
member countries, like in the case of the three bailed out countries (Greece, Ireland and Portugal).
This, together with the risk that some countries (even if not especially significant in terms of GDP)
might leave the euro area, would have a material and negative impact on the Group and/or on the
Group’s clients, with negative implications for the Group’s business, results and financial position.

Lingering market tensions might affect negatively the global economy and hamper the recovery of the
euro area. Moreover, the tightening fiscal policy by some countries might weigh on households
disposable income and on corporate profits with negative implications for the Group’s business,
results and financial position. This trend will likely continue in the coming quarters.

Any further deterioration of the Italian economy would have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
business, in light of the Group’s significant exposure to the Italian economy. In addition, if any of the
countries in which the Group operates witnessed a significant deterioration in economic activity, the
Group’s results of operations, business and financial condition would be materially and adversely
affected.
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The ECB’s unconventional policy (including a security market programme and provision of liquidity
via "Longer Term Refinancing Operations” (LTRQO) with full allotment) has contributed to ease
tensions, limiting the refinancing risk for the banking system and leading to a tightening of credit
spreads. The possibility that the ECB could halt or reconsider the current set up of unconventional
measures would impact negatively the value of sovereign debt instruments. This would have a
materially negative impact on the Group’s business, results and financial position.

Despite the several initiatives of supranational organisations to deal with the heightened sovereign
debt crisis in the euro area, global markets remain characterised by high uncertainty and volatility.
Any further acceleration of the European sovereign debt crisis would likely significantly affect,
among other things, the recoverability and quality of the sovereign debt securities held by the Group
as well as the financial resources of the Group’s clients holding similar securities. The occurrence of
any of the above events could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results and
financial condition.

The Group has significant exposure to European sovereign debt

In carrying out its activities, the Group has significant financial exposure to the central and local
governments and governmental bodies of the major European countries, as well as to other
countries outside the Eurozone (so-called "sovereign exposure"). As at 31 December 2011, the
book value of UniCredit’s Group sovereign debt securities amounted to €87,774 million, 92 per
cent of which was concentrated in eight countries: Italy (which, with € 35,087 million, represents
40per cent. of the total), Germany, Poland, Turkey, Austria, Spain, Czech Republic and Hungary.
The remaining 8 per cent of UniCredit’s sovereign debt exposure is divided between 43
countries, including the United States, Ireland, Portugal and Greece. As at 31 December 2011,
sovereign debt securities belonging to the Group’s banking book equalled €77,206 million.

These exposures were not subject to impairment at 31 December 2011, with the exception of
those towards Greece.

The value of the positions represented by Greek government securities classified under available-
for-sale financial assets as at December 2011 was determined by applying the prices observed in
the market at that date, which mainly fall into Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The assessment
of the Greek government bonds classified under held-to-maturity assets was updated to reflect
expectations of higher losses implicit in market prices as at 31 December 2011, consistent with
the assessment of available-for-sale financial assets.

On 21 February 2012, the Greek Republic and the public sector (EU Member States and the
International Monetary Fund-IMF) reached a mutual agreement which provided for an offer to
swap old Greek bonds with new financial instruments. More specifically, these instruments
consist of (i) European Financial Stability Facility (EFSF) notes with a face value of 15 per cent.
of the exchanged bonds, (ii) new Greek government bonds with maturities between 10 and 30
years and a face value of 31.5 per cent. of the exchanged bonds and (iii) GDP-linked securities.

The participation in Greece's bond swap offer has entailed a loss of about 77 per cent. on the
nominal value, broadly in line with market prices at the end of 2011.

In addition to UniCredit’s exposure to sovereign debt securities, the Group is also exposed to
sovereign debt through loans made to central and local governments and other governmental
bodies. With reference to the such loans (excluding tax liabilities) as at 31 December 2011,
€13,475 million were made to the German state, €8,183 million were made to the Italian state
and €6,576 million were made to the Austrian state.
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Furthermore, any future downgrades to the credit ratings of the countries referred to above could
result in UniCredit having to revise the weighting criteria it uses for calculating risk weighted
assets (RWAs), which could adversely affect UniCredit’s capital ratios.

Thus, any negative developments in the Group’s "sovereign exposure" could adversely affect its
results of operations, business and financial condition.

Financial regulators have requested that UniCredit Group companies reduce their credit
exposure to other UniCredit Group entities, particularly their upstream exposure to UniCredit,
which could have a material adverse effect on the way in which the UniCredit Group funds its
operations and provides liquidity to members of the Group.

In common with other multi-jurisdictional banking groups, the UniCredit Group companies have
historically provided funding to other members of the Group, resulting in the transfer of excess
cash liquidity from one member of the Group to another. Currently, one of the largest such
outstanding exposures is from UniCredit Bank AG (UCB AG) to UniCredit, although UCB AG
also has exposures to other UniCredit Group members. In addition, as the UniCredit Group’s
investment banking activities are centralised within UCB AG, significant non-cash intra-group
credit exposures exist on a day-to-day basis between UCB AG and other Group members
resulting from, among other things, UCB AG acting as an intermediary between such Group
members, on the one hand, and external counterparties, on the other hand, in connection with
various financial risk hedging transactions. Due to the nature of this business, the intra-group
credit exposure of UCB AG is volatile and can change significantly on a daily basis. In order to
reduce the volatility in Intragroup exposure UCB AG and UniCredit S.p.A. have entered into an
ISDA Credit Support Annex (CSA). The Intra group Counterparty Exposure between UCB AG
and UniCredit S.p.A. has therefore been collateralized. Whilst this immunizes the counterparty
exposure, it creates additional intra group liquidity streams.

As a result of the ongoing global financial crisis, banking regulators in many of the jurisdictions
in which the Group operates have sought, and continue to seek, to reduce the exposure of banks
operating within their jurisdictions to other affiliated banks operating in jurisdictions over which
they have no legal and/or regulatory control. This could have a material adverse effect on the
way in which the UniCredit Group funds its operations and provides liquidity to members of the
Group.

Furthermore, under applicable German regulations, credit institutions may be exempted from
including intra-group exposures in their overall limit for large exposures if certain conditions are
met. UCB AG relies on this exemption with respect to the intra-group exposures described
above. If such exemption is no longer available due to changes in applicable regulations or
otherwise, UCB AG could have to either reduce or balance its risk-weighted assets by allocating
additional qualifying regulatory capital to remain in compliance with its statutory minimum
solvency ratio, as well as the higher ratio it has agreed with Bundesanstalt fiir
Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht (BaFin) to maintain.

In Germany, as a result of the level of UCB AG’s intra-group cash and non-cash exposures and
consequent discussions between UniCredit, UCB AG and BaFin, UniCredit and UCB AG have
undertaken to reduce UCB AG’s net intra-group exposure to the UniCredit Group, including
through the use of collateral, based on on-going discussions with BaFin and the Bank of Italy.

The implementation of the measures described above, the inability of the Group to provide
additional collateral to support these arrangements were it required to do so or a request by BaFin
to further reduce UCB AG’s intra-group exposure because of a perceived or actual deterioration
in the credit outlook of its counterparties or any other reason, could have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s liquidity and the liquidity of certain of its subsidiaries. Any of these events
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could have a material adverse effect on the way in which the Group funds itself internally, on the
cost of such funding (particularly if it has to be obtained externally) as well as on the results of
operations, business and financial condition of UniCredit and the Group.

Systemic risk could adversely affect the Group’s business

In light of the relative shortage of liquidity and relatively high funding costs that have prevailed
in the interbank lending market since the onset of the global financial crisis, the Group is exposed
to the risk that the financial viability (actual or perceived) of the financial institutions with
whom, and the countries in which, it carries out its activities could deteriorate. The Group
routinely executes a high volume of transactions with numerous counterparties in the financial
services industry, including brokers and dealers, commercial banks, investment banks and other
institutional clients. Financial services institutions that transact with each other are interrelated as
a result of trading, investment, clearing, counterparty and other relationships; concerns about the
stability of any one or more of these institutions or the countries in which they operate could lead
to significant constraints on the availability of liquidity (including completely frozen interbank
funding markets), losses or other institutional failures. In addition, should one of the
counterparties of a certain financial institution suffer losses due to the actual or perceived threat
of default of a sovereign country, that counterparty may be unable to satisfy its obligations to the
above financial institution. The above risks, commonly referred to as "systemic" risks, could
adversely affect financial intermediaries, such as clearing agencies, clearing houses, banks,
securities firms and exchanges, with whom the Group interacts on a daily basis, which in turn
could adversely affect the Group’s ability to raise new funding. The occurrence of any
“systemic” risks could adversely affect the Group’s results of operations, business and financial
condition.

In addition, in each of the countries in which the Group operates, it is required to participate in
deposit guarantee and investor protection schemes. As a result, the insolvency of one or more of
the participants in these schemes could result in UniCredit’s, or one of its banking subsidiaries’,
obligation to settle guaranteed customer claims against such insolvent participant(s) or to pay
increased or additional contributions, which could materially adversely affect the Group’s results
of operations, business and financial condition.

Risks connected to an economic slowdown and volatility of the financial markets — credit risk

The banking and financial services market in which the Group operates is affected by
unpredictable factors, including overall economic developments, fiscal and monetary policies,
liquidity and expectations within capital markets and consumers’ behaviour in terms of
investment and saving. In particular, the demand for financial products in traditional lending
operations could lessen during periods of economic downturn. Overall economic development
can furthermore negatively impact the solvency of mortgage debtors and other borrowers of
UniCredit and the Group such as to affect their overall financial condition. Such developments
could negatively affect the recovery of loans and amounts due by counterparties of the Group
companies, which, together with an increase in the level of insolvent clients compared to
outstanding loans and obligations, will have an impact on the levels of credit risk.

The Group is exposed to potential losses linked to such credit risk, in connection with the
granting of financing, commitments, credit letters, derivative instruments, currency transactions
and other kinds of transactions. This credit risk derives from the potential inability or refusal by
customers to honour their contractual obligations under these transactions and the Group’s
consequent exposure to the risk that receivables from third parties owing money, securities or
other assets to it will not be collected when due and must be written off (in whole or in part) due
to the deterioration of such third parties’ respective financial standing (counterparty risk). This
risk is present in both the traditional on-balance sheet uncollateralised and collateralised lending

26



business and off-balance sheet business, for example when extending credit by means of a bank
guarantee. Credit risks have historically been aggravated during periods of economic downturn
or stagnation, which are typically characterised by higher rates of insolvencies and defaults. As
part of their respective businesses, entities of the Group operate in countries with a generally
higher country risk profile than in their respective home markets (emerging markets). Entities of
the Group hold assets located in such countries. The Group’s future earnings could also be
adversely affected by depressed asset valuations resulting from a deterioration in market
conditions in any of the markets in which the Group companies operate. The above factors could
also have a significant impact in terms of capital market volatility. As a result, volumes, revenues
and net profits in banking and financial services business could vary significantly over time.

The Group monitors credit quality and manages the specific risk of each counterparty and the
overall risk of the respective loan portfolios, and the Group will continue to do so, but there can
be no assurance that such monitoring and risk management will suffice to keep the Group’s
exposure to credit risk at acceptable levels. Any deterioration of the creditworthiness of
significant individual customers or counterparties, or of the performance of loans and other
receivables, as well as wrong assessments of creditworthiness or country risks may have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, protracted or steep declines in the stock or bond markets in Italy and elsewhere may
have an adverse impact on the Group’s investment banking, securities trading and brokerage
activities, the Group’s asset management and private banking services, as well as the Group’s
investments in and sales of products linked to financial assets performance.

The fair values of the Group’s structured credit products have been and may continue to be
significantly reduced

The Group acts as originator, sponsor and investor with respect to structured credit products (SCPs).
The group monitors the fair value and economic value of its portfolio of SCPs. As a result of the
current market environment, the fair value of many products in the Group’s portfolio have been
significantly reduced. The disposal of these financial products at prices below book value and, with
respect to the Group’s banking portfolio, the write downs triggered by declines, if any, in economic or
market value below book value, could result in a material adverse effect on the Group’s results of
operations, business and financial condition and, which would be more severe the higher the
difference between the book value and the fair value.

Securitisations originated by the UniCredit Group

The UniCredit Group acts as originator with respect to loan portfolios of special purpose vehicles
(SPVs), including traditional securitisation transactions where the loan portfolio is actually transferred
to the vehicle, as well as synthetic securitisation transactions where the underlying credit risk is
hedged in full or in part through credit default swaps and/or financial guarantees.

As at 31 December 2011, the level of cash exposure deriving from the Group’s securitisations totaled
Euro 9.0 billion and was as follows:

. exposure from securitisations of derecognized assets: Euro 1.0 billion;
. exposure from securitisations of assets not derecognized: Euro 3.2 billion; and
. exposure from synthetic securitisations: Euro 4.8 billion.

In terms of seniority, these exposures can be reported as follows:
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. Euro 1.4 billion of junior notes;
° Euro 1.5 billion of mezzanine notes; and
° Euro 6.1 billion of senior notes.

In addition to the above exposures, the Group also has an asset exposure of Euro 45.4 billion to so-
called self-securitisations.

Conduits

The UniCredit Group acts as sponsor of Asset Backed Commercial Paper Conduits of Multi Seller
Customer Conduits. As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s cash exposure to conduits totaled Euro 3.1
billion and its exposure to credit lines totaled Euro 0.5 billion.

In connection with its role as sponsor, the Group selects the asset portfolios acquired by the conduits,
and manages and provides collateral in the form of a unique specific line granted to each vehicle of
subordinated level to ensure the timely reimbursement of the securities issued by such conduits.

Since the Group manages the conduits and benefits from their performance, the conduits are fully
consolidated. As a result, the Group bears the main risk with respect to such conduit operations.

Other structured credit products in which the Group acts as investor

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s total net exposure to SCPs was Euro 6.6 billion. The Group’s
portfolio of SCPs was limited to 0.78 per cent. of the total portfolio of financial assets as at 31
December 2011.

In addition, a portion of the Group’s exposure to SCPs was reclassified in October 2008, reflecting
certain changes to accounting policies, as the SCPs were no longer held for trading due to reduced
liquidity and significant volatility in the financial markets. As at 31 December 2011, the book value of
the Group’s reclassified asset backed securities was Euro 4.7 billion, while their fair value was Euro
3.9 billion.

Deteriorating asset valuations resulting from poor market conditions may adversely affect the
Group’s future earnings

The global economic slowdown and economic crisis in certain countries of the Euro-zone have
exerted, and may continue to exert, downward pressure on asset prices, which has an impact on the
credit quality of the Group’s customers and counterparties. This may cause the Group to incur losses
or to experience reductions in business activity, increases in non-performing loans, decreased asset
values, additional write-downs and impairment charges, resulting in significant changes in the fair
values of the Group’s exposures.

A substantial portion of the Group’s loans to corporate and individual borrowers are secured by
collateral such as real estate, securities, ships, term deposits and receivables. In particular, as
mortgage loans are one of the Group’s principal assets, it is highly exposed to developments in real
estate markets.

Continued decline in the general economies of the countries in which the Group operates, or a general
deterioration of economic conditions in any industries in which its borrowers operate or in other
markets in which the collateral is located, may result in decreases in the value of collateral securing
the loans to levels below the outstanding principal balance on such loans. A decline in the value of
collateral securing these loans or the inability to obtain additional collateral may require the Group to
reclassify the relevant loans, establish additional provisions for loan losses and increase reserve
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requirements. In addition, a failure to recover the expected value of collateral in the case of
foreclosure may expose the Group to losses which could have a material adverse effect on its
business, financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, an increase in financial market
volatility or adverse changes in the liquidity of its assets could impair the Group’s ability to value
certain of its assets and exposures or result in significant changes in the fair values of these assets and
exposures, which may be materially different from the current or estimated fair value. Any of these
factors could require the Group to recognise write-downs or realise impairment charges, any of which
may adversely affect its financial condition and results of operations.

The economic conditions of the geographic markets in which the Group operates have had, and
may continue to have, adverse effects on the Group’s results of operations, business and financial
condition

While the Group operates in many countries, Italy is the primary country in which it operates. Thus,
the Group’s business is particularly linked to the macroeconomic situation existing in Italy and could
be materially adversely affected by any changes thereto. Recently, economic forecasts have suggested
considerable uncertainty over the future growth of the Italian economy.

In addition to other factors that may arise in the future, declining or stagnating Italian GDP, rising
unemployment and unfavourable conditions in the financial and capital markets in Italy could result in
declining consumer confidence and investment in the Italian financial system, increases in the number
of impaired loans and/or loan defaults, leading to an overall reduction in demand for the products and
services offered by the Group.

Thus, a persistence of adverse economic conditions, political and economic uncertainty and/or a
slower economic recovery in Italy compared with other Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development countries could materially adversely affect the Group’s results of operations, business
and financial condition.

The Group also has significant operations in several Central and Eastern European countries (CEE
countries), including Poland, Turkey, Russia, Croatia, Czech Republic, Bulgaria, Kazakhstan and
Hungary. Within the CEE countries, the risks and uncertainties to which the UniCredit Group is
exposed differ in nature and intensity, and a CEE country’s membership in the European Union, or
lack thereof, is only one of the key distinguishing factors that must be considered in assessing such
risks and uncertainties. In addition, CEE countries, as a whole, however, have historically been
characterised by highly volatile capital markets and exchange rates, a certain degree of political,
economic and financial instability, and, in several cases, less developed political, financial and
judicial systems.

Although the global financial crisis has exacerbated certain of these risks and uncertainties in those
CEE countries in which the Group operates, economic recovery in the region has been consolidating
during 2012 and 2011, albeit at varying levels of significance. The timing of full economic recovery
in some CEE countries remains however uncertain and subject to, among others, developments in
Western European economies and the global economy as a whole.

In recent years, with the aim of managing the effects of the global financial crisis, the Group
recapitalised certain of its subsidiaries in several CEE countries, including some of those in Ukraine
and Kazakhstan. In addition, the Group recognised impairments to the goodwill related to the
subsidiaries in Ukraine and Kazakhstan in 2008, 2010 and 2011.

Nevertheless, given the more restrictive regulations than those prevailing at the international level, the
Group may need to continue strengthening the equity of and/or transfer an increasing amount of funds
to its subsidiaries located in CEE countries, particularly those located outside the European Union,
also considering the risk of being exposed to, among other things, regulatory or legal initiatives of
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local authorities in those countries. In addition, similar to the risks present in all countries in which the
Group operates, local authorities in CEE countries could also adopt measures and/or initiatives such
as: (a) requiring the waiver or reduction of loan repayment obligations, resulting in a level of risk
provisions more significant than would normally apply under Group policies; (b) demanding
additional capital; (c) increasing levies on banking activities. The Group may also be required to
ensure that its subsidiaries located in CEE countries have greater levels of liquidity, in a context
where access to liquidity worldwide may be increasingly difficult to obtain. An increase in loan
impairments could be necessary in connection with levels of credit risk estimated by the Group.
Furthermore, unfavorable developments in the growth rates of CEE countries compared to historical
levels, together with the uncertainties surrounding Western European economies, could adversely
affect the Group’s achievement of its strategic goals.

Non-traditional banking activities expose the Group to additional credit risks

In addition to traditional banking activities such as lending and deposit-taking, the Group carries out
non-traditional banking activities, which may expose the Group to additional credit and/or
counterparty risk. Such additional risk may originate, for example, from: executing securities, futures,
currency or commodity trades that fail to settle timely due to non-delivery by the counterparty or to
system failures by clearing agents, exchanges, clearing houses or other financial intermediaries
(including the Group); owning securities of third parties; and extending credit through other
arrangements.

Parties to these transactions, such as trading counterparties or counterparties issuing securities held by
entities of the Group, may default on their obligations due to insolvency, political and economic
events, lack of liquidity, operational failure or other reasons. Defaults by counterparties with respect
to a significant number of transactions or one or more transactions that involve significant volumes
would have a material adverse effect on the Group's results of operations, business and financial
condition.

The Group has made a series of significant investments in other companies, including those resulting
from the conversion of debt into equity in the context of restructuring processes. Any losses or risks,
operational or financial, to which the invested companies may be exposed may restrict the Group’s
ability to dispose of the above mentioned investments, and may cause considerable reductions in their
value, with possible adverse effects to the Group’s results of operations, business and financial
condition.

In addition, the Group, as a result of executing guarantees and/or signing agreements to restructure
debt, holds, and could acquire in the future, control or minority stakes in companies operating in
industries other than those in which the Group currently operates, including, for example, real estate,
oil, transport and consumer goods. These industries require specific skills in terms of knowledge and
management that are not among those skills currently held by the Group. Nevertheless, in the course
of any disposals, the Group may have to deal with such companies. This exposes the Group to the
risks inherent in the activities of an individual company or subsidiary and to the risks arising from the
inefficient management of such shareholdings, which could have adverse effects on the Group’s
results of operations, business and financial condition.

Unidentified or unanticipated risks, by their nature, might not be captured in the current Group’s
risk management policies

Banks belonging to the Group are subject to the risks inherent to banking and financial activities. The

Group has structures, processes and human resources aimed at developing risk management policies,
procedures and assessment methods for its activities in line with best market practices in the industry.
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The Group’s Risk Management Division provides strategic direction and defines the risk management
policies implemented, locally, by the Group’s risk management entities. Some of the methods used to
monitor and manage these risks involve observations of historic market conditions and the use of
statistical models for identifying, monitoring, controlling and managing risk. However, these methods
and strategies may be inadequate for the monitoring and management of certain risks, such as the
risks attached to some complex financial products that are traded on unregulated markets (e.g., OTC
derivatives), and, as a result, the Group could suffer greater losses than those contemplated by the
methods or suffer losses not previously considered.

In addition, the occurrence of unforeseeable events or of events outside of the historical observation
window, which have not been considered by the Risk Management Division and which may affect the
performance of the markets in which the Group operates, could adversely affect the Group’s results of
operations, business and financial condition. These risks, and their effects, may be further aggravated
by the complexities of integrating risk management policies into the Group’s acquired entities.

At the date of this Base Prospectus, some of the relevant supervisory authorities are carrying out
procedures to validate internal risk measurements that will be used for internal and regulatory
purposes by UniCredit and other companies belonging to the Group. These procedures apply to
models awaiting initial implementation as well as models already adopted, but for which the Group
must demonstrate its maintenance of regulatory requirements.

In order to ensure the integrity and accuracy of the above measurement and risk management models,
the Group employs a governance policy that is consistent with current applicable regulations in each
of the markets in which it operates (for example, Bank of Italy, Circular No. 263 of 27 December
2006) as well as with international best practices.

Despite the adoption of these models, it is possible that, after investigation or verification by the
supervisory authorities, the Group’s internal models might no longer be adequate with respect to risks
undertaken, which could adversely affect the Group, particularly with respect to its capital
requirements.

Various regulators that exercise oversight of UCB AG’s operations, including the German Central
Bank, BaFin and the FSA, have conducted audits and/ or reviews of UCB AG's risk management and
internal control systems, and highlighted concerns (which were also the subject of additional internal
and external UCB AG audits) about the extent to which such systems are fully compliant with
applicable legal and regulatory requirements in Germany. As a result of discussions with BaFin
regarding these matters, and after informing the Bank of Italy, UniCredit and UCB AG have
undertaken to maintain within UCB AG a minimum solvency ratio that exceeds the statutory
minimum required in order to address BaFin’s concern that there be sufficient capital within UCB AG
to absorb any losses that could result from shortcomings in its risk management policies, until such
shortcomings are addressed to BaFin’s satisfaction. Progress on actions undertaken have been, and
will continue to be, regularly reported by UCB AG to both UniCredit and to the relevant regulators,
including the Bank of Italy and BaFin.

Nevertheless, even if UCB AG’s plans, system improvements and robust monitoring process are
acknowledged by BaFin, there can be no assurance that the actions taken, and planned to be taken, by
UCB AG will be fully satisfactory to BaFin or the other regulators that have oversight of these
matters. While UCB AG is in the process of addressing all the material concerns raised, there is a risk
that BaFin and other regulators could take additional measures against UCB AG and its management,
including issuing fines, imposing limitations on the conduct, outsourcing or the expansion of certain
business activities, or seeking to require UCB AG to maintain a higher regulatory capital buffer.
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Fluctuations in interest and exchange rates may affect the Group’s results

Fluctuations in interest rates in Europe and in the other markets in which the Group operates may
influence the Group’s performance. The results of the Group’s banking operations are affected, inter
alia, by the Group’s management of interest rate sensitivity. Interest rate sensitivity refers to the
relationship between changes in market interest rates and changes in net interest income. A mismatch
of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities in any given period, which tends to
accompany changes in interest rates, may have a material effect on the Group’s financial condition
and results of operations.

Rising interest rates along the yield curve can increase the cost of the Group’s borrowed funds faster
and at a higher rate than the yield on its assets, due to, for example, a mismatch in the maturities of its
assets and liabilities that are sensitive to interest rate changes or a mismatch in the degree of interest
rate sensitivity of assets and liabilities with similar maturities. At the same time, decreasing interest
rates can also reduce the yield on the Group’s assets at a rate which may not correspond to the
decrease in the cost of funding.

Furthermore, a significant portion of the UniCredit Group’s operations are conducted in currencies
other than the Euro, principally the Polish Zloty, the Turkish Lira, the U.S. dollar, the Swiss Franc and
the Japanese Yen. Unfavourable movements in foreign exchange rates could therefore significantly
influence the Group’s results of operations, business, financial condition and prospects. As a result,
the Group is exposed to foreign currency exchange rates and foreign currency transaction risks.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements (including its interim financial statements) are
prepared in Euro and carry out the necessary currency translations in accordance with applicable
international accounting standards.

The Group employs a hedging policy with respect to the profits and dividends of its subsidiaries
operating outside the Euro area. The Group takes prevailing market conditions into account in
implementing its hedging policy. Any negative change in exchange rates and/or a hedging policy that
is ineffective at covering risk could significantly adversely affect the Group’s results of operations,
business and financial condition.

Changes in the Italian and European regulatory framework could adversely affect the Group’s
business

The Group is subject to extensive regulation and supervision in all jurisdictions in which it operates,
including by the Bank of Italy, BaFin, PFSA, FMA, the ECB, the EBA and the ESCB. The rules
applicable to banks and funds are aimed at preserving the stability and solidity of banks and limiting
their risk exposure. The Group is also subject to regulations applicable to financial services that
govern, among other things, the sale, placement and marketing of financial instruments as well as to
those applicable to its bank-assurance activities. In particular, the Group is subject to the supervision
of CONSOB, the Institute for the Supervision of Private Insurance and the FMA. The Issuer is also
subject to the rules applicable to it as an issuer of shares listed on the Milan, Frankfurt and Warsaw
Stock Exchanges.

The supervisory authorities mentioned above govern various aspects of the Group, which may
include, among other things, liquidity levels and capital adequacy, the prevention and combating of
money laundering, privacy protection, ensuring transparency and fairness in customer relations and
registration and reporting obligations. In order to operate in compliance with these regulations, the
Group has in place specific procedures and internal policies. Despite the existence of these procedures
and policies, there can be no assurance that violations of regulations will not occur, which could
adversely affect the Group’s results of operations, business and financial condition. The above risks
are compounded by the fact that, as at the date of this Base Prospectus, certain laws and regulations
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have only been recently approved and the relevant implementation procedures are still in the process
of being developed.

In particular, in the wake of the global financial crisis that began in 2008, the Basel Committee
approved, in the fourth quarter of 2010, revised global regulatory standards on bank capital adequacy
and liquidity, higher and better-quality capital, better risk coverage, measures to promote the build-up
of capital that can be drawn down in periods of stress and the introduction of a leverage ratio as a
backstop to the risk-based requirement as well as two global liquidity standards (the so-called Basel
III). The Basel III framework adopts a gradual approach, with the requirements to be implemented
over the period from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2019 (some of the new requirements which are
still in the course of being defined will have to be adopted by individual member states).

Between the end of 2010 and the beginning of 2011, the Bank of Italy issued a series of measures
which amended the New Provisions of Prudential Supervision of Banks for the purposes of
implementing the CRD II Directives which may require the Group, after a transitional period, to
replace its financial instruments no longer computable for such purposes. In November 2010, the
CRD III Directive was issued and included additional capital requirements relating to the trading
portfolio and repackaging securitisations as well as a review of the remuneration policies.

In the European Union, Basel III will be reflected by an amended Capital Requirements Directive
(known as the CRD 1V) and the implementation of an EU regulation (the Capital Requirements
Regulation) directly in each member state (known as the CRR) from 1 January 2013. Drafts of the
CRD IV and the CRR have been released by the European Commission but are not scheduled to be
published in final form until at least the middle of 2012. The rules are expected to enter into force by
1 January 2013 though subject to a series of transitional arrangements with phasing in of the rules
occurring over a period of time.

The impact of these regulations could, therefore, have an adverse effect on the Group’s results of
operations, business and financial condition.

In addition, UniCredit was included in the list of financial institutions of global systemic importance
published on 4 November 2011 by the Financial Stability Board. The banks included in that list,
which will be updated annually, will be subject to increased oversight and will be required, in
consultation with supervisory authorities, to prepare (by 2012) resolution and recovery plans to
prevent the risk of the bank’s failure from driving systemic risk. The banks will also be required to,
among other things, maintain the capacity to absorb additional losses through a capital buffer
comprised of common equity.

The various requirements may affect the activities of the Group, including its ability to grant funding,
or result in the need for further capital injections in order to meet capital requirements as well as
require other sources of funding to satisfy liquidity requirements, which could result in adverse effects
to the Group’s results of operations, business, assets, cash flows and financial condition, the products
and services offered by the Group as well as the Group’s ability to pay dividends.

In addition, consistent with the exercise carried out by the Committee of European Banking
Supervisors (CEBS) in 2010, the European Banking Authority in 2011 commenced a stress test over a
sample of 90 European banks. The Group passed the stress test. Furthermore, in October 2011, the
EBA in collaboration with other competent authorities, initiated a regulatory capital exercise with
respect to 71 banks throughout Europe, including UniCredit. Based on 30 September 2011 data,
UniCredit’s capital requirements were estimated at €7,974 million (compared to the estimated €7,379
million calculated in October 2011, which was based on figures as at 30 June 2011). The increase is
due mainly to (i) the fact that the October exercise took into account the evaluation of sovereign debt
securities held by the Group as at 30 June 2011 and (ii) the fact that the October exercise did not take
into account the Group’s economic results for the quarter ended 30 September 2011.
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This capital requirement based on data as at 30 September 2011, will have to be attained by June
2012. UniCredit has presented to the Bank of Italy its plan to achieve a Core Tier 1 Ratio of 9 per
cent. by the required deadline. Although the UniCredit Group believes that it has already identified
measures deemed sufficient to satisfy this revised capital requirement, should those measures prove
insufficient or ineffective, based on the recommendations of the EBA and Bank of Italy, the Group
may have to seek capital from the private sector, through the intervention of Governments or, as a last
resort, from the EFSF.

Due to the uncertainties connected with the above laws and regulations, there can be no assurance that
their application will not have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations, business,
assets, cash flows and financial condition, as well as on the products and services offered by the
Group. In carrying out its activities, the Group is subject to numerous regulations of general
application such as those concerning taxation, social security, pensions, occupational safety and
privacy. Any changes to the above laws and regulations and/or changes in their interpretation and/or
their application by the supervisory authorities could adversely affect the Group’s results of
operations, business and financial condition.

The Group adopts International Financial Reporting Standards in preparing its financial statements.
Due to the fact that some of these standards are in the process of being amended or may be amended
and that several new standards will be effective in the coming future, the Group may need to restate
figures in its financial statements that have already been published for prior financial years and/or
periods, as well as update the Group's financial plans for future years, reflecting the new accounting
requirements. Moreover, the Group may also need to revise its accounting treatment of certain
transactions and the related income and expense, which could have potentially negative effects on the
estimates contained in the Group’s financial plans for future years.

In this regard, the Group in preparing its financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011
has taken into account the amendments introduced by the IASB to IFRSs that are effective for 2011
financial statements. Furthermore, the Group will, in the future, have to take into account the
amendments to IAS 19 and the new IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 standards, which are in the
process of being approved by the European Union and will enter into force on 1 January 2014 and
IFRS 13 which is in the process of being approved and will enter into force on 1 January 2013. The
new IFRS 9 standard that is currently being prepared to replace IAS 39 will introduce significant
changes to the classification, measurement, impairment and hedge accounting of certain instruments.
The new IFRS 9 standard is currently expected to enter into force on 1 January 2015, pending final
publication and European Union approval.

Increased Capital Requirements

Under the Basel III framework, new capital requirements will be phased in gradually starting from
2013 until 2019. Minimum common equity tier 1 (CET1) will be increased from the current 2 per
cent. of risk-weighted assets to 7.0 per cent.. The 7.0 per cent. includes a "capital conservation buffer"
of 2.5 per cent. to ensure that banks maintain a buffer of capital that can be used to absorb losses
during periods of financial and economic stress. An additional "countercyclical buffer requirement" of
0-2.5 per cent. will be implemented according to national circumstances. The countercyclical buffer
requirement will apply in periods of excess lending growth in the economy and can vary for each
jurisdiction. For each systemically important financial institutions (SIFIs) there will be additional
buffer requirements. In this context, UniCredit has been included in the list of global systemically
important banks (G-SIB). The additional loss absorbency requirement, determined according to
specific indicators (size, interconnectedness, lack of substitutes for the services provided, global
activity and complexity), will be phased-in in parallel with the capital conservation and
countercyclical buffers, ie between 1 January 2016 and year end 2018, becoming fully effective on 1
January 2019. Before implementation on 1 January 2016, national jurisdictions will implement
official regulations/legislations (expected in 2014).
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The Group may be subject to the provisions of the Crisis Management Directive, once finalised and
implemented, in the future.

On 6 June 2012, the European Commission published a legislative proposal for a directive providing
for the establishment of an EU-wide framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions
and investment firms (the Crisis Management Directive or CMD). The stated aim of the draft CMD
is to provide authorities with common tools and powers to address banking crises pre-emptively in
order to safeguard financial stability and minimize taxpayers' exposure to losses. The powers provided
to authorities in the draft CMD are divided into three categories: (i) preparatory steps and plans to
minimise the risks of potential problems (preparation and prevention); (ii) in the event of incipient
problems, powers to arrest a bank's deteriorating situation at an early stage so as to avoid insolvency
(early intervention); and (iii) if insolvency of an institution presents a concern as regards the general
public interest, a clear means to reorganise or wind down the bank in an orderly fashion while
preserving its critical functions and limiting to the maximum extent any exposure of taxpayers to
losses in insolvency (resolution).

The draft CMD currently contains four resolution tools and powers: (i) sale of business - which
enables resolution authorities to the sale of the institution or the whole or part of its business on
commercial terms without requiring the consent of the shareholders or complying with the procedural
requirements that would otherwise apply; (ii) bridge institution - which enables resolution authorities
to transfer of all or part of the business of an institution to a "bridge bank" (a publically controlled
entity); (iii) asset separation - which enables resolution authorities to transfer impaired or problem
assets to an asset management vehicle to allow them to be managed and worked out over time; and
(iv) bail in - which gives resolution authorities the power to write down the claims of unsecured
creditors of a failing institution and to convert unsecured debt claims to equity (subject to certain
parameters as to which liabilities would be eligible for the bail in tool).

The draft CMD contemplates that it will be implemented in Member States by 31 December 2014
except for the bail in tool which is to be implemented by 1 January 2018.

The powers currently set out in the draft CMD would impact how credit institutions and investment
firms are managed as well as, in certain circumstances, the rights of creditors. However, the proposed
directive is not in final form and changes may be made to it in the course of the legislative procedure.
As such, it is too early to anticipate the full impact of the draft directive but there can be no assurance
that, once it is agreed upon and implemented, Noteholders will not be adversely affected by actions
taken under it. In addition, there can be no assurance that, once the draft CMD is agreed upon and
implemented, its application will not have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations,
business, assets, cash flows and financial condition, as well as on funding activities carried out by the
Group and the products and services offered by the Group.

Operational and IT risks are inherent in the Group’s business

The Group’s operations are complex and geographically diverse, and require the ability to efficiently
and accurately process a large number of transactions while complying with applicable laws and
regulations in the countries in which it operates. The Group is exposed to operational risks and losses
that can result from, among other things, internal and external fraud, unauthorised activities in the
capital markets, inadequate or faulty systems and controls, telecommunications and other equipment
failures, data security system failures, errors, omissions or delays of employees, including with
respect to the products and services offered, unsuitable Group policies and procedures, including
those related to risk management, customer complaints, natural disasters, terrorist attacks, computer
viruses and violations of law.

In addition, recent acquisitions and organisational restructuring in Italy, Germany, Austria and Central
and Eastern Europe, has led to the integration of the information, internal audit and accounting
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systems of the companies acquired, some of which were profoundly different from those used by the
Group. As at 21 December 2011, the Group’s commercial banking activities in Italy and Germany are
integrated on the EuroSIG platform, which is currently in the process of being implemented in
Austria.

While the Group actively employs procedures to contain and mitigate operational risk and related
adverse effects, the occurrence of certain unforeseeable events, wholly or partly out of the Group’s
control, could substantially limit their effectiveness. As a result, there can be no assurance that the
Group will not suffer future material losses due to the inadequacy or failure of the above procedures.
The occurrence of one or more of above risks could adversely affect the Group’s results of operations,
business and financial position.

Although the Group believes that its resources are sufficient, complications and/or unexpected
problems have arisen in the past and may arise in the future, which could delay or result in the
inability of the Group to successfully integrate the above systems.

Intense competition, especially in the Italian market, where the Group has a substantial part of
its businesses, could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s results of operations and
financial condition

UniCredit and the companies belonging to the UniCredit Group are subject to risks arising from
competition in the markets in which they operate, particularly in Italy, Germany, Austria, Poland and
the CEE countries.

In particular, the Italian market represents the main market in which the Group operates. As at 31
December 2011, 50 per cent. of direct funding and 44 per cent. of the revenues of the Group is related
to the Italian market.

In general, the international banking and financial services industry is extremely competitive.
Competitive pressure could increase as a result of regulatory actions, the behaviour of competitors,
consumer demand, technological advances, aggregation processes which involve large groups like the
UniCredit Group requiring ever larger economies of scale, the entry of new competitors and other
factors not entirely within the Group’s control. In addition, the aforementioned aggregation processes
could intensify if instability in the financial markets persists. A worsening of the macroeconomic
situation may also result in increased competitive pressure due to, for example, increased pressure on
prices and lower volumes of activity.

In the event that the Group is not able to respond to increasing competitive pressure through, among
other things, providing innovative and profitable products and services to meet the needs of
customers, the Group could lose market share in the various sectors in which it is active.

In addition, as a result of such competition, the Group may fail to maintain or increase business
volumes and profit levels that have been achieved in the past, resulting in adverse effects on the
Group’s results of operations, business and financial condition.

Ratings

UniCredit is rated by Fitch Italia S.p.A. (Fitch), by Moody’s Italia S.r.1. (Moody’s) and by Standard
& Poor’s Credit Market Services Italia S.r.l. (Standard & Poor’s). In determining the rating assigned
to UniCredit, these rating agencies consider and will continue to review various factors, including the
Group’s performance, UniCredit’s profitability and its consolidated capital ratios. If one or more of
these factors are not in line with rating agency expectations, this may result in a downgrade of
UniCredit’s rating by Fitch, Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s.
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Any rating downgrades of UniCredit or other entities of the Group would increase the re-financing
costs of the Group and may limit its access to the financial markets and other sources of liquidity, all
of which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of
operations.

A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision,
suspension or withdrawal at any time by the relevant rating organisation.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as
amended) (the CRA Regulation) from using credit ratings for regulatory purposes, unless such
ratings are issued by a credit rating agency established in the EU and registered under the CRA
Regulation (and such registration has not been withdrawn or suspended), subject to transitional
provisions that apply in certain circumstances whilst the registration application is pending. Such
general restriction will also apply in the case of credit ratings issued by non-EU credit rating agencies,
unless the relevant credit ratings are endorsed by an EU-registered credit rating agency or the relevant
non-EU rating agency is certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement
action or certification, as the case may be, has not been withdrawn or suspended). The list of
registered and certified rating agencies published by the European Securities and Markets Authority
(ESMA) on its website in accordance with the CRA Regulation is not conclusive evidence of the
status of the relevant rating agency included in such list, as there may be delays between certain
supervisory measures being taken against a relevant rating agency and the publication of the updated
ESMA list. Certain information with respect to the credit rating agencies, their registration and ratings
referred to in this Base Prospectus and/or the Final Terms, will be disclosed in the relevant Final
Terms.

Risks in connection with legal proceedings

As at the date of this Base Prospectus, there are certain legal proceedings pending against UniCredit
and other companies belonging to the Group.

In many cases there is significant uncertainty as to the possible outcome of the proceedings and the
amount of possible losses. These cases include criminal proceedings and administrative proceedings
brought by supervising authorities as well as civil litigation where damages have not been specified
(as is the case in the putative class actions in the United States).

To cover liabilities that may arise from pending lawsuits (other than those concerning employment
matters, taxes or the recovery of loans), the Group has in place, as at 31 December 2011, a provision
for risks and charges of €1,496 million. An estimated liability is based on information available from
time to time, but it is also based on estimates because of the many uncertainties connected to
litigation. Therefore, it is possible that provisions may be insufficient to fully deal with the charges,
expenses, penalties, damages and other requests relating to pending proceedings, and, therefore the
actual costs upon completion of pending proceedings may be significantly higher than previously
anticipated. There are also proceedings, some of which have substantial amounts in issue, for which
the Group did not consider it necessary to make, or for which the Group was not able to quantify, a
provision.

The Group must also comply with various legal and regulatory requirements concerning, among
others, conflicts of interest, ethical issues, anti-money laundering, sanctions imposed by the United
States or international bodies, privacy rights and information security. In particular, a member of the
UniCredit Group is currently responding to a third-party witness subpoena from the New York
County District Attorney's Office in connection with an ongoing investigation regarding certain,
persons and/or entities believed to have engaged in conduct that violated applicable sanctions
promulgated by the US Treasury Department Office of Foreign Assets Control. Failure to comply
with these requirements may lead to additional litigation and/or investigations and may subject the
Group to claims for damages, fines, penalties as well as subject it to reputational damage.
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The Group is involved in pending tax proceedings

At the date of this Base Prospectus, there are some tax proceedings pending against UniCredit and
other companies belonging to the UniCredit Group.

For example, over the past decade, several Group banks have carried out structured finance
transactions, including the “DB Vantage” and “Brontos” transactions. In connection with such
structured finance transactions, UniCredit and several Group banks have been audited or investigated
by the Italian Tax Police (Guardia di Finanza), Tax Agency and the Prosecutor of Milan. Those
audits and investigations presented tax and legal risks to the Group. Some of the above audits resulted
in the issuance of tax assessment notices to UniCredit and other Group banks. However, in respect of
2005 and 2006 large issues, UniCredit settled the tax assessment notice for amounts lower than
originally assessed. For different years suitable provisions have been booked in the accounts.

However, there can be no assurance that the UniCredit Group will not be subject to an adverse
outcome of one or more of the tax proceedings to which it is subject or may be subject in the future.
Such an adverse outcome could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s results of operations,
business and financial condition. In addition, should a member of the Group breach or allegedly
breach tax legislation in one or more of the countries in which the Group operates, the Group could be
exposed to increased tax risks, which in turn could increase the likelihood of further tax litigation and
result in reputational damage.

The Group may be unable to fully implement its 2010-2015 Strategic Plan

On 14 November 2011, the Board of Directors of UniCredit approved the 2010-2015 Strategic
Plan (the Strategic Plan).

The Strategic Plan is based on projections and estimates relating to the occurrence of future
events and regarding the effect of initiatives and steps taken by the management in the time of
the Strategic Plan 2010-2015.

The main assumptions upon which the Strategic Plan 2010-2015 is based relate to the
macroeconomic environment in which the Group operates, which is beyond the control of the
management, and to assumptions relating to specific actions and future events to be undertaken
by the management of the Group, which may not occur or evolve differently than assumed in the
Strategic Plan.

Such circumstances could determine even significant deviations from the projections included in
the Strategic Plan and therefore could have a significant impact on the Group’s forecasts.

Hedging and other Potential Conflicts of Interest

The Issuers, the Initial Dealer, the Arranger, the Index Sponsor and the Calculation Agent may be part
of the same corporate group. Each will pursue actions and take steps that they deem or any of them
deems necessary or appropriate to protect their or its interests without regard to the consequences for
any Noteholder. Consequently, the value of the Notes may be adversely affected if any such actions or
steps are taken.

The Issuers, the Guarantor and/or any of their respective Affiliates or agents may engage in activities
that may result in conflicts of interests between their and their respective Affiliates' or agents' financial
interests on the one hand and the interests of the Noteholders on the other hand. The Issuers, the
Guarantor and/or any of their respective Affiliates or agents may also engage in trading activities
(including hedging activities) related to the Reference Item(s) underlying any Notes and other
instruments or derivative products based on or related to the Reference Item(s) underlying any Note
for their proprietary accounts or for other accounts under their management. The Issuers, the
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Guarantor and/or any of the Guarantor's Affiliates or agents may also issue other derivative
instruments in respect of the Reference Item(s) underlying Notes. The Issuers, the Guarantor and/or
any of the Guarantor's Affiliates or agents may also act as underwriter in connection with future
offerings of shares or other securities related to an issue of Notes or may act as financial adviser to
certain companies, companies whose shares are included in a basket of shares, a company which is a
reference entity, or in a commercial banking capacity for any such companies. Such activities could
present certain conflicts of interest, could influence the prices of such shares or other securities and
could adversely affect the value of such Notes. The Issuers also may enter into arrangements with
Affiliates or agents to hedge market risks associated with its obligations under the Notes. Any such
Affiliate or agent would expect to make a profit in connection with such arrangements. The Issuers
might not seek competitive bids for such arrangements from unaffiliated parties.

Where the Notes are offered through a distributor(s) or via an introducing broker, such distributor(s)
or introducing broker may act pursuant to a mandate granted by the Issuers or the Initial Dealer and
may receive fees on the basis of the services performed and the outcome of the placement of the
Notes. In this case, potential conflicts of interest could arise.

Additional risk factors relating to additional conflicts of interest with respect to such Notes may be
specified in the applicable Final Terms.

In addition, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Calculation Agent is an
Affiliate of the Issuers and the Guarantor and in such capacity may make certain determinations and
calculate amounts payable or deliverable to Noteholders. Under certain circumstances, the Calculation
Agent as an Affiliate of the Issuers or the Guarantor and its responsibilities as Calculation Agent for
the Notes could give rise to potential conflicts of interest between the Calculation Agent and the
Noteholders. In performing its services in relation to the Notes, the Calculation Agent may in certain
circumstances have a wide discretion and does not, in any case, act on behalf of, or accept any duty of
care or fiduciary duty to any Noteholder or, except as required by law, any other person. Subject to
regulatory obligations, the Calculation Agent will pursue actions and take steps that it deems
necessary or appropriate in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Notes without regard to
the consequences for Noteholders. The Calculation Agent may at any time be in possession of
information in relation to the Notes which may not be available to Noteholders. There is no obligation
on the Calculation Agent to disclose such information to Noteholders.

Factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes
issued under the Programme

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its
own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

(i) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the
merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Base Prospectus or in any applicable supplement;

(i1) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have
on its overall investment portfolio;

(iit) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the

Notes, including Notes with amounts payable in one or more currencies, or where the
Specified Currency of the Notes is different from the potential investor’s currency;
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(iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any
relevant indices and financial markets; and

v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear
the applicable risks.

In addition, an investment in any Reference Item Linked Notes may entail significant risks not
associated with investments in conventional securities such as debt or equity securities, including, but
not limited to, the risks set out in "Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes" set out
below.

Some Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not
purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex financial
instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate
addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are
complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to
evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of
the Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor’s overall investment
portfolio.

Neither the obligations of the Issuers under the Notes nor those of the Guarantor in respect of Notes
issued by UniCredit Ireland or UniCredit International Luxembourg are covered by deposit insurance
schemes in the Republic of Italy, Ireland or Luxembourg. Furthermore, neither Notes issued by
UniCredit nor Notes issued by UniCredit Ireland or by UniCredit International Luxembourg will be
guaranteed by, respectively, the Republic of Italy, Ireland or Luxembourg under any legislation that is
or will be passed to address liquidity issues in the credit markets, including government guarantees or
similar measures.

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have
features which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the
most common such features:

General risks and risks relating to Reference Item Linked Notes

Reference Item Linked Notes involve a high degree of risk, which may include, among others, interest
rate, foreign exchange, time value and political risks. Purchasers should be prepared to sustain a total
loss of the purchase price of the Notes. This risk reflects the nature of such a Note as an asset which,
other factors held constant, tends to decline in value over time and which may become worthless. See
"Certain Factors Affecting the Value and Trading Price of Notes" below. Prospective purchasers of
Notes should understand the risks of transactions involving the relevant Notes and should reach an
investment decision only after careful consideration, with their advisers, of the suitability of such
Notes in light of their particular financial circumstances, the information set forth herein and the
information regarding the relevant Notes and the particular Reference Item to which the value of, or
payments or deliveries in respect of, the relevant Notes may relate, as specified in the applicable Final
Terms.

Reference Item Linked Notes will represent an investment linked to the economic performance of the
relevant Reference Item(s) and prospective investors should note that the return (if any) on their
investment in such Notes will depend upon the performance of such Reference Item(s). Potential
investors should also note that whilst the market value of such Notes is linked to such Reference
Item(s) and will be influenced (positively or negatively) by such Reference Item(s), any change may
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not be comparable and may be disproportionate. It is impossible to predict how the level of the
relevant Reference Item(s) will vary over time. In contrast to a direct investment in the relevant
Reference Item(s), Notes represent the right to receive payment or delivery, as the case may be, of the
Final Redemption Amount(s), Cash Settlement Amount(s) or the Entitlement, as the case may be, as
well as periodic payments of interest (if specified in the applicable Final Terms in respect of Notes),
all or some of which and the value of which will be determined by reference to the performance of the
relevant Reference Item(s).

As the amounts payable and/or deliverable in respect of Reference Item Linked Notes are linked to the
performance of the relevant Reference Item(s), a purchaser of such a Note must generally be correct
about the direction, timing and magnitude of an anticipated change in the value of the relevant
Reference Item(s). Assuming all other factors are held constant, the lower the value of such a Note
and the shorter the remaining term to redemption or cancellation, as applicable, the greater the risk
that purchasers of such Note will lose all or part of their investment.

Reference Item Linked Notes may be principal protected or non-principal protected at maturity.
Investors in Reference Item Linked Notes that are non-principal protected at maturity may risk losing
their entire investment if the value of the relevant Reference Item(s) does not move in the anticipated
direction.

PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS MUST REVIEW THE APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS TO
ASCERTAIN WHAT THE RELEVANT REFERENCE ITEM(S) (IF ANY) ARE AND TO SEE
HOW THE FINAL REDEMPTION AMOUNT OR THE ENTITLEMENT, AS THE CASE
MAY BE, AND ANY PERIODIC INTEREST PAYMENTS ARE DETERMINED AND WHEN
SUCH AMOUNTS ARE PAYABLE AND/OR DELIVERABLE, AS THE CASE MAY BE,
BEFORE MAKING ANY DECISION TO PURCHASE ANY NOTES.

Fluctuations in the value and/or volatility of the relevant Reference Item(s) will affect the value of the
relevant Notes. Other factors which may influence the market value of Notes include interest rates,
potential dividend or interest payments (as applicable) in respect of the relevant Reference Item(s),
changes in the method of calculating the relevant Reference Item(s) from time to time and market
expectations regarding the future performance of the relevant Reference Item(s), its composition and
such Notes.

The relevant Issuer may issue several issues of Notes relating to a particular Reference Item.
However, no assurance can be given that an Issuer will issue any such Notes other than the Notes to
which particular Final Terms relate. At any given time, the number of Notes outstanding may be
substantial. Notes provide opportunities for investment and pose risks to investors as a result of
fluctuations in the value of the relevant Reference Item(s).

Risks relating to Index Linked Notes

The relevant Issuer may issue Index Linked Notes where the Final Redemption Amount or interest
payable is dependent upon the level of an index or indices. The index or indices may comprise of
reference equities, bonds, other securities, property, currency exchange rate or other assets or bases of
reference, and may be a well known and widely published index or indices or an index or indices
established by the relevant Issuer or another entity which may not be widely published or available.
An investment in Index Linked Notes will entail significant risks not associated with a conventional
fixed rate or floating rate debt security.

Index Linked Redemption Notes may be redeemable by the relevant Issuer by payment of the par
value amount and/or by the physical delivery of a specified asset or assets and/or by payment of an
amount determined by reference to the value of the index/indices. Interest payable on Index Linked
Interest Notes may be calculated by reference to the value of one or more indices.
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Potential investors in Index Linked Notes should be aware that depending on the terms of the Index
Linked Notes (i) they may receive no or a limited amount of interest, (ii) payments may occur at a
different time than expected and (iii) except in the case of Notes which are principal protected at
maturity, they may lose all or a substantial portion of their investment if the value of the index/indices
do not move in the anticipated direction.

In addition, the movements in the level of the index or indices may be subject to significant
fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices and the
timing of changes in the relevant level of the index or indices may affect the actual yield to investors,
even if the average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the
level of an index or result of a formula, the greater the effect on yield.

If the Final Redemption Amount or interest payable, or Entitlement deliverable, are determined in
conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or by reference to some other leverage factor, the effect
of changes in the level of the index or the indices on the Final Redemption Amount or interest
payable, or Entitlement deliverable, will be magnified.

Index Linked Notes may, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, be structured to include any of
the following features:

e "Knock-in", being the occurrence of a specified knock-in event when the level of the relevant
index or indices reaches or breaches a pre-defined barrier on a specified observation date(s) or day
during an observation period, which results in a certain payout on maturity or exercise (as
applicable) and/or an interim payment;

o "Knock-out", being the occurrence of a specified knock-in event when the level of the relevant
index or indices reaches or breaches a pre-defined barrier on a specified observation date(s) or day
during an observation period, which results in the deactivation of a certain payout on maturity or
exercise (as applicable) and/or an interim payment;

e '"Trigger Event", being the occurrence of any index being equal to or less than the specified level
for such index during the relevant observation period (or such other event as specified in the
applicable Final Terms); and

e "Best/Worst Performance", being, in relation to Index Linked Notes referencing more than one
index, that the payout on maturity or exercise (as applicable) and/or interim payment can be
determined by reference to the index or weighted basket of indices giving the highest performance
or lowest performance on a specified observation date or dates.

In such circumstances, the market value of the Notes may be more volatile than for securities that do
not include such features and the timing of changes to the level of the index or indices may affect the
return on the Notes even if the level is generally consistent with an investor's expectations.

If "Mandatory Early Termination Provisions" are specified as applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, on the occurrence of a specified event (such as an index or indices exceeding or falling below
a specified level on an observation date or during an observation period), such Index Linked Notes
will be redeemed prior to their designated Maturity Date at the specified Mandatory Early
Termination Amount and no further amounts will be payable or deliverable in relation to such Notes.

In such circumstances, investors are subject to reinvestment risk as they may not be able to replace
their investment in such Notes with an investment that has a similar profile as the Index Linked Notes.
In addition, investors will only receive the specified Mandatory Early Termination Amount and will
not benefit from any movement in the level of the relevant index or indices that would have resulted
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in a higher return on the Notes if they had not been redeemed or cancelled prior to their designated
Maturity Date.

If the Calculation Agent determines that an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred at any
relevant time, such determination may have an effect on the timing of valuation and consequently the
value of the Notes and/or may delay settlement in respect of the Notes. In addition if an Index
Adjustment Event occurs the Notes may be adjusted or early redeemed. Prospective purchasers
should review the relevant Conditions of the Notes and the applicable Final Terms to ascertain
whether and how such provisions apply to the Notes.

The market price of Index Linked Notes may be volatile and may depend on the time remaining to the
redemption date or exercise date (as applicable) and the volatility of the level of the index or indices.
The level of the index or indices may be affected by the economic, financial and political events in
one or more jurisdictions, including the stock exchange(s) or quotation system(s) on which any
securities comprising the index or indices may be traded.

Risks relating to Equity Linked Notes and GDR/ADR Linked Notes

The relevant Issuer may issue Equity Linked Notes where the Final Redemption Amount or interest
payable are dependent upon the price of or changes in the price of shares or a basket of shares or
where, depending on the price or change in the price of the shares or basket of shares, the relevant
Issuer has an obligation to deliver specified assets. Accordingly, an investment in Equity Linked
Notes may bear similar market risks to a direct equity investment and investors should take advice
accordingly. An investment in Equity Linked Notes will entail significant risks not associated with a
conventional debt security.

Equity Linked Redemption Notes may be redeemable by the relevant Issuer by payment of the par
value amount and/or by the physical delivery of a specified number of share(s) and/or by payment of
an amount determined by reference to the value of the share(s).

Interest payable on Equity Linked Interest Notes may be calculated by reference to the value of one or
more shares.

Potential investors in Equity Linked Notes should be aware that depending on the terms of the Equity
Linked Notes (i) they may receive no or a limited amount of interest, (ii) payments or delivery of any
specified assets may occur at a different time than expected and (iii) except in the case of Notes which
are principal protected at maturity, they may lose all or a substantial portion of their investment if the
value of the share(s) do not move in the anticipated direction.

In addition, the movements in the price of the share or basket of shares may be subject to significant
fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices and the
timing of changes in the relevant price of the share or shares may affect the actual yield to investors,
even if the average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the
price of the share or shares, the greater the effect on yield.

If the Final Redemption Amount or interest payable, or Entitlement deliverable, are determined in
conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or by reference to some other leverage factor, the effect
of changes in the price of the share or shares on the Final Redemption Amount or interest payable, or
Entitlement deliverable, will be magnified.

Equity Linked Notes may, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, be structured to include any
of the following features:
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e "Knock-in", being the occurrence of a specified knock-in event when the price of the relevant
share or basket of shares or breaches a pre-defined barrier on a specified observation date(s) or
day during an observation period, which results in a certain payout on maturity or exercise (as
applicable) and/or interim payment;

o "Knock-out", being the occurrence of a specified knock-in event when the price of the relevant
share or basket of shares reaches or breaches a pre-defined barrier on a specified observation
date(s) or day during an observation period, which results in the deactivation of a certain payout
on maturity or exercise (as applicable) and/or interim payment;

e "Trigger Event", being the occurrence of any share being equal to or less than the specified price
for such share during the relevant observation period (or such other event as specified in the
applicable Final Terms); and

e "Best/Worst Performance", being, in relation to Equity Linked Notes referencing more than one
share, that the payout on maturity or exercise (as applicable) and/or interim payment can be
determined by reference to the share or weighted basket of shares giving the highest performance
or lowest performance on a specified observation date or dates.

In such circumstances, the market value of the Notes may be more volatile than for securities that do
not include such features and the timing of changes to the price of the share or basket of shares may
affect the return on the Notes even if the price is generally consistent with an investor's expectations.

If "Mandatory Early Termination Provisions" are specified as applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, on the occurrence of a specified event (such as a share or basket of shares exceeding or falling
below a specified price on an observation date or during an observation period), such Equity Linked
Notes will be redeemed or cancelled prior to their designated Maturity Date at the specified
Mandatory Early Termination Amount and no further amounts will be payable or deliverable in
relation to such Notes.

In such circumstances, investors are subject to reinvestment risk as they may not be able to replace
their investment in such Notes with an investment that has a similar profile as the Equity Linked
Notes. In addition, investors will only receive the specified Mandatory Early Termination Amount
and will not benefit from any movement in the price of the relevant share or basket of shares that
would have resulted in a higher return on the Notes if they had not been redeemed prior to their
designated Maturity Date.

If the Calculation Agent determines that an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred at any
relevant time any such determination may have an effect on the timing of valuation and consequently
the value of the Notes and/or may delay settlement in respect of the Notes. Prospective purchasers
should review the relevant Conditions of the Notes and the applicable Final Terms to ascertain
whether and how such provisions apply to the Notes.

In the case of Equity Linked Notes following the declaration by the Share Company of the terms of
any Potential Adjustment Event, the Calculation Agent will, in its sole and absolute discretion,
determine whether such Potential Adjustment Event has a diluting or concentrative effect on the
theoretical value of the Shares and, if so, will (i) make the corresponding adjustment, if any, to any of
the terms of the Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms as the Calculation Agent in its sole and
absolute discretion determines appropriate to account for that diluting or concentrative effect
(provided that no adjustments will be made to account solely for changes in volatility, expected
dividends, stock loan rate or liquidity relative to the relevant Share) and (ii) determine the effective
date of that adjustment. Such adjustment may have an adverse effect on the value and liquidity of the
affected Equity Linked Notes.
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In addition, in the case of Equity Linked Notes, if a Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-listing,
Nationalisation or Insolvency occurs in relation to any Share, the relevant Issuer in its sole and
absolute discretion may take the action described in (i), (ii) or (iii) below:

6) require the Calculation Agent to determine in its sole and absolute discretion the appropriate
adjustment, if any, to be made to any of the relevant Conditions and/or the applicable Final
Terms to account for the Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-listing, Nationalisation or
Insolvency and determine the effective date of that adjustment. Such adjustment may have an
adverse effect on the value and liquidity of the affected Equity Linked Notes;

(i1) redeem part (in the case of Equity Linked Notes relating to a basket of Shares) or all (in any
other case) of the Notes. Following such redemption or cancellation an investor generally
would not be able to reinvest the redemption or cancellation proceeds at an effective interest
rate as high as the interest rate on the relevant Notes being redeemed or cancelled and may
only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Prospective investors should consider
reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time; and

(iii)  if the applicable Final Terms provide that "Share Substitution” is applicable, require the
Calculation Agent to adjust the basket of Shares to include a share selected by it in
accordance with the criteria for share selection set out in the applicable Final Terms in place
of the Share(s) which are affected by such Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-listing,
Nationalisation or Insolvency and the substitute shares will be deemed to be "Shares" and the
relevant issuer of such shares, a "Share Company" for the purposes of the Notes, and the
Calculation Agent will make such adjustment, if any, to any of the terms of the Conditions
and/or the applicable Final Terms as the Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion
determines appropriate.

The market price of Equity Linked Notes may be volatile and may be affected by the time remaining
to the redemption date or exercise date (as applicable), the volatility of the share or shares, the
dividend rate (if any) and the financial results and prospects of the issuer or issuers of the relevant
share or shares as well as economic, financial and political events in one or more jurisdictions,
including factors affecting the stock exchange(s) or quotation system(s) on which any such shares
may be traded.

No issuer of the relevant share(s) will have participated in the preparation of the applicable Final
Terms or in establishing the terms of the Equity Linked Notes and none of the Issuers, the Guarantor
nor any Dealer will make any investigation or enquiry in connection with such offering with respect
to any information concerning any such issuer of shares contained in such Final Terms or in the
documents from which such information was extracted. Consequently, there can be no assurance that
all events occurring prior to the relevant issue date (including events that would affect the accuracy or
completeness of the publicly available information described in this paragraph or in any relevant Final
Terms) that would affect the trading price of the share will have been publicly disclosed. Subsequent
disclosure of any such events or the disclosure of or failure to disclose material future events
concerning such an issuer of shares could affect the trading price of the share and therefore the trading
price of the Notes.

Except as provided in the Conditions in relation to Physical Delivery Notes, Holders of Equity Linked
Notes will not have voting rights or rights to receive dividends or distributions or any other rights with
respect to the relevant shares to which such Notes relate.

The relevant Issuer may issue GDR/ADR Linked Notes where the Final Redemption Amount, Cash
Settlement Amount or interest payable are dependent upon the value of GDRs or ADRs, or where,
depending on the price of or change in the price of the GDRs or ADRs, the relevant Issuer has an
obligation to deliver specified assets. Accordingly, an investment in GDR/ADR Linked Notes may
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bear similar market risks to a direct GDR/ADR investment and investors should take advice
accordingly. An investment in GDR/ADR Linked Notes will entail significant risks not associated
with a conventional debt security.

GDR/ADR Linked Redemption Notes may be redeemable by the relevant Issuer by payment of the
par value amount and/or by the physical delivery of a specified number of GDRs and/or ADRs and/or
by payment of an amount determined by reference to the value of the GDRs and/or ADRs. Interest
payable on GDR/ADR Interest Notes may be calculated by reference to the value of the GDRs and/or
ADREs.

Potential investors in GDR/ADR Linked Notes should be aware that depending on the terms of such
Notes (i) they may receive no or a limited amount of interest, (ii) payments or delivery of any
specified assets may occur at a different time than expected and (iii) except in the case of Notes which
are principal protected at maturity, they may lose all or a substantial portion of their investment if the
value of the GDRs and/or ADRs does not move in the anticipated direction.

In addition, the movements in the price of the GDRs and/or ADRs may be subject to significant
fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices and the
timing of changes in the relevant price of the GDRs and/or ADRs may affect the actual yield to
investors, even if the average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the
change in the price of the GDRs and/or ADRs, the greater the effect on yield.

If the Final Redemption Amount or interest payable, or Entitlement deliverable, are determined in
conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or by reference to some other leverage factor, the effect
of changes in the price of the GDRs and/or ADRs on the Final Redemption Amount or interest
payable, or Entitlement deliverable, will be magnified.

GDR/ADR Linked Notes may, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, be structured to include
any of the following features:

e "Knock-in", being the occurrence of a specified knock-in event when the price of the relevant
GDRs and/or ADRs breaches a pre-defined barrier on a specified observation date(s) or day
during an observation period, which results in a certain payout on maturity or exercise (as
applicable) and/or interim payment;

o "Knock-out", being the occurrence of a specified knock-in event when the price of the relevant
GDRs and/or ADRs reaches or breaches a pre-defined barrier on a specified observation date(s) or
day during an observation period, which results in the deactivation of a certain payout on maturity
or exercise (as applicable) and/or interim payment;

e "Trigger Event", being the occurrence of any GDR and/or ADR being equal to or less than the
specified price for such GDR/ADR during the relevant observation period (or such other event as
specified in the applicable Final Terms); and

e "Best/Worst Performance", being, in relation to GDR/ADR Linked Notes referencing more than
one GDR/ADR, that the payout on maturity or exercise (as applicable) and/or interim payment
can be determined by reference to the GDR/ADR or weighted basket of GDRs and/or ADRs
giving the highest performance or lowest performance on a specified observation date or dates.

In such circumstances, the market value of the Notes may be more volatile than for securities that do

not include such features and the timing of changes to the price of the GDRs and/or ADRs may affect
the return on the Notes even if the price is generally consistent with an investor's expectations.
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If "Mandatory Early Termination Provisions" are specified as applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, on the occurrence of a specified event (such as any GDR and/or ADR or basket of GDRs
and/or ADRs exceeding or falling below a specified price on an observation date or during an
observation period), such GDR/ADR Linked Notes will be redeemed or cancelled prior to their
designated Maturity Date at the specified Mandatory Early Termination Amount and no further
amounts will be payable or deliverable in relation to such Notes.

In such circumstances, investors are subject to reinvestment risk as they may not be able to replace
their investment in such Notes with an investment that has a similar profile as the GDR/ADR Linked
Notes. In addition, investors will only receive the specified Mandatory Early Termination Amount
and will not benefit from any movement in the price of the relevant GDRs and/or ADRs that would
have resulted in a higher return on the Notes if they had not been redeemed or cancelled prior to their
designated Maturity Date.

The market price of GDR/ADR Linked Notes may be volatile and may be affected by the time
remaining to the redemption date or exercise date (as applicable), the volatility of the GDRs and/or
ADRs and the financial results and prospects of the issuer or issuers of the GDRs and/or ADRs as
well as economic, financial and political events in one or more jurisdictions, including factors
affecting the stock exchange(s) or quotation system(s) on which any such GDRs and/or ADRs may be
traded.

Risks relating to Currency Linked Notes

The relevant Issuer may issue Currency Linked Notes where the Final Redemption Amount or interest
payable are dependent upon movements in currency exchange rates or are payable in one or more
currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Notes are denominated.
Accordingly, an investment in Currency Linked Notes may bear similar market risks to a direct
foreign exchange investment and investors should take advice accordingly. An investment in
Currency Linked Notes will entail significant risks not associated with a conventional debt security.

Currency Linked Redemption Notes may be redeemable by the relevant Issuer by payment of the par
value amount and/or by the physical delivery of specified amount of one or more currencies and/or by
payment of an amount determined by reference to the value of the currency/currencies. Interest
payable on Currency Linked Interest Notes may be calculated by reference to the value of one or more
currencies.

Potential investors in any Currency Linked Notes should be aware that depending on the terms of the
Currency Linked Notes (i) they may receive no or a limited amount of interest, (ii) payments or
delivery of any specified assets may occur at a different time than expected and (iii) except in the case
of Notes which are principal protected at maturity, they may lose all or a substantial portion of their
investment if the currency exchange rates do not move in the anticipated direction.

In addition, the movements in currency exchange rates may be subject to significant fluctuations that
may not correlate with changes in interest rates or other indices and the timing of changes in the
exchange rates may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average level is consistent with
their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the price of the currency exchange rates, the
greater the effect on yield.

If the Final Redemption Amount or interest payable, or Entitlement deliverable, are determined in
conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or by reference to some other leverage factor, the effect
of changes in the currency exchange rates on the Final Redemption Amount or interest payable, or
Entitlement deliverable, will be magnified.
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If any FX Market Disruption Event occurs or exists Noteholders should be aware that the Issuer may
either direct the Calculation Agent (i) to make such consequential adjustments to the Notes (including
any payment or delivery obligations or the currency of payment) as it determines and/or (ii) to
determine any Reference Exchange Rate or to substitute any affected Reference Exchange Rate with a
substitute Reference Exchange Rate or redeem all (but not some only) of the Notes in each case at the
Early Redemption Amount.

Fluctuations in exchange rates of the relevant currency (or basket of currencies) will affect the value
of Currency Linked Notes. Furthermore, investors who intend to convert gains or losses from the
exercise, redemption or sale of Currency Linked Notes into their home currency may be affected by
fluctuations in exchange rates between their home currency and Settled Currency (as defined below)
of the Notes. Currency values may be affected by complex political and economic factors, including
governmental action to fix or support the value of a currency/currencies, regardless of other market
forces (see "Exchange rate risks and exchange controls" below).

Risks relating to Commodity Linked Notes

The relevant Issuer may issue Commodity Linked Notes where the Final Redemption Amount or
interest payable are dependent upon the price or changes in the price of commodities, a basket of
commodities, a commodity index or a basket of commodity indices or where, depending on the price
or change in the price of the commodities, basket of commodities, commodity index or basket of
commodity indices, the relevant Issuer has an obligation to deliver specified assets. Accordingly, an
investment in Commodity Linked Notes may bear similar market risks to a direct commodity
investment and investors should take advice accordingly. An investment in Commodity Linked Notes
will entail significant risks not associated with a conventional debt security.

Commodity Linked Redemption Notes may be redeemable by the relevant Issuer by payment of the
par value amount and/or by the physical delivery of specified amount of one or more commodities
and/or by payment of an amount determined by reference to the value of the commodity, commodity
index, commodities and/or commodity indices. Interest payable on Commodity Linked Interest Notes
may be calculated by reference to the value of one or more commodity, commodity index,
commodities and/or commodity indices.

Potential investors in Commodity Linked Notes should be aware that depending on the terms of the
Commodity Linked Notes (i) they may receive no or a limited amount of interest, (ii) payments or
delivery of any specified assets may occur at a different time than expected and (iii) except in the case
of Notes which are principal protected at maturity, they may lose all or a substantial portion of their
investment if the value of the commodity(ies) or commodity index(ices) do not move in the
anticipated direction.

In addition, the movements in the price of the commodity(ies) or commodity index(ices) may be
subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or
other indices and the timing of changes in the relevant price of the commodity(ies) or commodity
index(ices) may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average level is consistent with their
expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the price or level of the commodity(ies) or
commodity index(ices), the greater the effect on yield.

If the Final Redemption Amount or interest payable, or Entitlement deliverable, are determined in
conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or by reference to some other leverage factor, the effect
of changes in the price or level of the commodity(ies) or commodity index(ices) on the Final
Redemption Amount or interest payable, or Entitlement deliverable, will be magnified.

Commodity Linked Notes may, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, be structured to include
any of the following features:
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e "Knock-in", being the occurrence of a specified knock-in event when the price of the relevant
Commodity(ies) breaches a pre-defined barrier on a specified observation date(s) or day during an
observation period, which results in a certain payout on maturity or exercise (as applicable) and/or
interim payment

o "Knock-out", being the occurrence of a specified knock-in event when the price of the relevant
Commodity(ies) reaches or breaches a pre-defined barrier on a specified observation date(s) or
day during an observation period, which results in the deactivation of a certain payout on maturity
or exercise (as applicable) and/or interim payment

e "Trigger Event", being the occurrence of any Commodity(ies) being equal to or less than the
specified price for such Commodity(ies) during the relevant observation period (or such other
event as specified in the applicable Final Terms).

e "Best/Worst Performance", being in relation to Commodity Linked Notes referencing more than
one Commodity, that the payout on maturity or exercise (as applicable) and/or interim payment
can be determined by reference to the Commodity or weighted basket of Commodities giving the
highest performance ("Best Performance") or lowest performance ("Worst Performance") on a
specified observation date or dates

In such circumstances, the market value of the Notes may be more volatile than for securities that do
not include such features and the timing of changes to the price of the Commodities may affect the
return on the Notes even if the price is generally consistent with an investor's expectations.

If "Mandatory Early Termination Provisions" are specified as applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, on the occurrence of a specified event (such as any Commodity or basket of Commodities
exceeding or falling below a specified price on an observation date or during an observation period),
such Commodity Linked Notes will be redeemed or cancelled prior to their designated Maturity Date
at the specified Mandatory Early Termination Amount and no further amounts will be payable or
deliverable in relation to such Notes.

In such circumstances, investors are subject to reinvestment risk as they may not be able to replace
their investment in such Notes with an investment that has a similar profile as the Commodity Linked
Notes. In addition, investors will only receive the specified Mandatory Early Termination Amount
and will not benefit from any movement in the price of the relevant Commodities that would have
resulted in a higher return on the Notes if they had not been redeemed or cancelled prior to their
designated Maturity Date.

The market price of Commodity Linked Notes may be volatile and may be affected by the time
remaining to the redemption date or exercise date (as applicable), the volatility of the commodity(ies)
or commodity index(ices) as well as economic, financial and political events in one or more
jurisdictions, including factors affecting the stock exchange(s) or quotation system(s) on which any
such commodity(ies) may be traded.

Risks relating to Fund Linked Notes

The relevant Issuer may issue Fund Linked Notes where the Final Redemption Amount or interest
payable are dependent upon the price or changes in the price of fund interest(s), share(s) or unit(s) or
where, depending on the price or changes in the price of fund interest(s), share(s) or unit(s), the
relevant Issuer has an obligation to deliver specified assets. Accordingly, an investment in Fund
Linked Notes may bear similar market risks to a direct fund investment and investors should take
advice accordingly. An investment in Fund Linked Notes will entail significant risks not associated
with a conventional debt security, including but not limited to changes in investment strategies,
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dependence on certain personel, the impact of fees and commssions, conflict of interest and the legal,
accounting and tax analysis of fund interests, shares or units.

Fund Linked Redemption Notes may be redeemable by the relevant Issuer by payment of the par
value amount and/or by the physical delivery of specified amount of one or more fund shares or units
and/or by payment of an amount determined by reference to the value of the fund interest(s), share(s)
or unit(s). Interest payable on Fund Linked Interest Notes may be calculated by reference to the value
of one or more fund interests, shares or units.

Potential investors in Fund Linked Notes should be aware that depending on the terms of the Fund
Linked Notes (i) they may receive no or a limited amount of interest, (ii) payments or delivery of any
specified assets may occur at a different time than expected and (iii) except in the case of Notes which
are principal protected at maturity, they may lose all or a substantial portion of their investment if the
value of the fund interest(s), share(s) or unit(s) do not move in the anticipated direction.

In addition, the movements in the price of fund interest(s), share(s) or unit(s) may be subject to
significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or other
indices and the timing of changes in the relevant price of the fund interest(s), share(s) or unit(s) may
affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average level is consistent with their expectations. In
general, the earlier the change in the price or prices of the fund interest(s), share(s) or unit(s), the
greater the effect on yield.

If the Final Redemption Amount or interest payable, or Entitlement deliverable, are determined in
conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or by reference to some other leverage factor, the effect
of changes in the price of the fund interest(s), share(s) or unit(s) on the Final Redemption Amount or
interest payable, or Entitlement deliverable, will be magnified.

The price of fund interest(s), unit(s) or share(s) may be affected by the performance of the fund
service providers, and in particular the expertise of the investment adviser and/or the management
team.

In the case of Fund Linked Notes linked to Exchange Traded Funds, if the Calculation Agent
determines that an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred at any relevant time any such
determination may have an effect on the timing of valuation and consequently the value of the Notes
and/or may delay settlement in respect of the Notes. Prospective purchasers should review the
Conditions and the applicable Final Terms to ascertain whether and how such provisions apply to the
Notes.

In the case of Fund Linked Notes linked to Exchange Traded Funds, following the declaration by the
ETF of the occurrence of any Potential Adjustment Event, the Calculation Agent will, in its sole and
absolute discretion, determine whether such Potential Adjustment Event has a diluting or
concentrative effect on the theoretical relevant Fund Shares and, if so, will (i) make the corresponding
adjustment, if any, to any of the terms of the Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms as the
Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion determines appropriate to account for that
diluting or concentrative effect and (ii) determine the effective date of that adjustment. Such
adjustment may have an adverse effect on the value and liquidity of the affected Fund Linked Notes.

In addition, (a) in the case of any Fund Linked Notes, if a Merger Event, Tender Offer, Material
Underlying Event, Nationalisation or Insolvency occurs in relation to any Fund Share, and (b) in the
case of Fund Linked Notes linked to Exchange Traded Funds only, a De-Listing occurs in relation to
any Fund Share, the relevant Issuer in its sole and absolute discretion may take the action described in
(i), (ii) or (iii) below:
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6)) require the Calculation Agent to determine in its sole and absolute discretion the appropriate
adjustment, if any, to be made to any of the Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms to
account for the Merger Event, Tender Offer, De-Listing, Material Underlying Event,
Nationalisation or Insolvency and determine the effective date of that adjustment. Such
adjustment may have an adverse effect on the value and liquidity of the affected Fund Linked
Notes;

(i1) require the Calculation Agent to replace a Fund Interest with a replacement fund interest with
a value as determined by the Calculation Agent equal to the removal value for the replaced
Fund Interest and in a fund which in the determination of the Calculation Agent has similar
characteristics, investment objectives and policies to those applicable to the Fund in respect of
the replaced Fund Interest immediately prior to the occurrence of the Merger Event, Tender
Offer, De-Listing, Material Underlying Event, Nationalisation or Insolvency; and

(iii)  redeem all of the Notes. Following such redemption or cancellation an investor generally
would not be able to reinvest the redemption or cancellation proceeds at an effective interest
rate as high as the interest rate on the relevant Notes being redeemed or cancelled and may
only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Prospective investors should consider
reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

The market price of Fund Linked Notes may be volatile and may depend on the time remaining to the
redemption date or exercise date (as applicable) and the volatility of the price of fund share(s) or
unit(s). The price of fund share(s) or unit(s) may be affected by the economic, financial and political
events in one or more jurisdictions, including factors affecting the exchange(s) or quotation system(s)
on which any units in the fund or funds may be traded.

Risks relating to Inflation Index Linked Notes

The relevant Issuer may issue Inflation Index Linked Notes where the amount of principal and/or
interest or the settlement amount payable are dependent upon the level of an inflation/consumer price
index or indices.

Potential investors in any such Notes should be aware that depending on the terms of the Inflation
Index Linked Notes (i) they may receive no interest or a limited amount of interest, (ii) payment of
principal, interest or the settlement amount may occur at a different time than expected and (iii) they
may lose all or a substantial portion of their investment. In addition, the movements in the level of the
inflation/consumer price index or indices may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not
correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices and the timing of changes in the
relevant level of the index or indices may affect the actual return to investors, even if the average level
is consistent with their expectations.

Inflation Index Linked Notes may be subject to certain disruption provisions or extraordinary event
provisions. Relevant events may relate to an inflation/consumer price index publication being delayed
or ceasing or such index being rebased or modified. If the Calculation Agent determines that any such
event has occurred this may delay valuations under and/or settlements in respect of the Notes and
consequently adversely affect the value of the Notes. Any such adjustments may be by reference to a
Related Bond if specified in the applicable Final Terms. In addition certain extraordinary or disruption
events may lead to early termination of the Notes which may have an adverse effect on the value of
the Notes. Whether and how such provisions apply to the relevant Notes can be ascertained by reading
the Inflation Index Linked Conditions in conjunction with the applicable Final Terms.

If the amount of principal and/or interest or the settlement amount payable are determined in
conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or by reference to some other leverage factor, the effect

51



of changes in the level of the inflation/consumer price index or the indices on principal or interest
payable will be magnified.

A relevant consumer price index or other formula linked to a measure of inflation to which the Notes
are linked may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with other indices. Any
movement in the level of the index may result in a reduction of the interest payable on the Notes (if
applicable) or, in the case of Notes with a redemption amount or settlement amount linked to
inflation, in a reduction of the amount payable on redemption or settlement which in some cases could
be less than the amount originally invested or zero.

The timing of changes in the relevant consumer price index or other formula linked to the measure of
inflation comprising the relevant index or indices may affect the actual yield to investors on the Notes,
even if the average level is consistent with their expectations.

An inflation or consumer price index to which interest payments and/or the redemption amount or
settlement amount of Inflation Index Linked Notes are linked is only one measure of inflation for the
relevant jurisdiction or area, and such Index may not correlate perfectly with the rate of inflation
experienced by Noteholders in such jurisdiction or area.

The market price of Inflation Index Linked Notes may be volatile and may depend on the time
remaining to the maturity date or expiration and the volatility of the level of the inflation or consumer
price index or indices. The level of the inflation or consumer price index or indices may be affected
by the economic, financial and political events in one or more jurisdictions or areas.

Risks relating to Notes generally
Notes and the Guarantee are Unsecured Obligations

The Notes, and (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) the obligations of the Guarantor under the
Guarantee, will constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the
relevant Issuer and the Guarantor, respectively, and will rank (save for certain obligations preferred by
law) equally with all other unsecured obligations (other than subordinated obligations, if any) of the
relevant Issuer and the Guarantor respectively, from time to time outstanding and, in the case of the
Notes, will rank pari passu among themselves.

Market Disruption Event and Disrupted Day

If an issue of Notes includes provisions dealing with the occurrence of a market disruption event or a
failure to open of an exchange or related exchange on a Valuation Date, an Averaging Date or a
Pricing Date and the Calculation Agent determines that a market disruption event or such failure has
occurred or exists on a Valuation Date, an Averaging Date or a Pricing Date, any consequential
postponement of the Valuation Date, Averaging Date or a Pricing Date or any alternative provisions
for valuation provided in any Notes may have an adverse effect on the value of such Notes.

Settlement Disruption Event and Failure to Deliver due to Illiquidity

In the case of Physical Delivery Notes, if a Settlement Disruption Event occurs or exists on the
Maturity Delivery Date, settlement will be postponed until the next date on which no Settlement
Disruption Event occurs. The relevant Issuer in these circumstances also has the right to pay the
Disruption Cash Redemption Price in lieu of delivering the Entitlement. Such a determination may
have an adverse effect on the value of the relevant Notes. In addition if "Failure to Deliver due to
Iliquidity" is specified as applying in the applicable Final Terms, and in the opinion of the
Calculation Agent it is impossible or impracticable to deliver some or all of the Relevant Assets
comprising the Entitlement when due as a result of illiquidity in the market for the Relevant Assets,
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the relevant Issuer has the right to pay the Failure to Deliver Settlement Price in lieu of delivering
those Relevant Assets.

Expenses

Holders of Physical Delivery Notes must pay all Expenses relating to such Physical Delivery Notes.
As used in the Conditions, Expenses includes any applicable depositary charges, transaction or
exercise charges, stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax, issue, registration, securities transfer and/or
other taxes or duties arising from the redemption, exercise and settlement (as applicable) of such
Notes and/or the delivery of the Entitlement.

No claim against any Reference Item

A Note will not represent a claim against any Reference Item and, in the event of any loss, a Holder
will not have recourse under a Note to any Reference Item.

Modification and Waivers

The Conditions provide that the Principal Paying Agent and the relevant Issuer may, without the
consent of Noteholders, agree to (i) any modification (subject to certain specific exceptions) of the
Notes or the Agency Agreement which is not, in the sole opinion of the relevant Issuer, prejudicial to
the interests of the Noteholders or (ii) any modification of the Notes or the Agency Agreement which
is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest or proven error or to comply
with mandatory provisions of law.

Meetings of Noteholders

The Conditions contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting
their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including
Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a
manner contrary to the majority.

Physical Delivery Requirements and Settlement Risk

In order to receive the Entitlement in respect of a Physical Delivery Notes, the holder of such Notes
must (1) duly deliver a duly completed Asset Transfer Notice on or prior to the relevant time on the
Cut-Off Date and (2) pay the relevant Expenses.

Unless specified otherwise in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Issuer has an option to vary
settlement in respect of the Notes. If exercised by the relevant Issuer, this option will lead to Physical
Delivery Notes being cash settled or Cash Settled Notes being physically settled. Exercise of such
option may affect the value of the Notes.

1llegality of Notes, Force Majeure and Hedging Disruption

If the relevant Issuer determines that (i) the performance of its obligations under the Notes or that any
arrangements made to hedge its obligations under the Notes has or will become illegal in whole or in
part for any reason, (ii) a Force Majeure Event exists and/or (iii) a General Hedging Disruption Event
exists or occurs, the relevant Issuer may redeem or cancel, as applicable, the Notes.

If, in any of the above cases and to the extent permitted by applicable law, the relevant Issuer redeems
or cancels the Notes, then the relevant Issuer will redeem each Note at the Early Redemption Amount
together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption, which may be
less than the purchase price of the Notes and may in certain circumstances be zero.
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EU Savings Directive

Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC (the Directive) on the taxation of savings income, each
Member State is required to provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of
payments of interest (or similar income) paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual
resident in that other Member State or to certain limited types of entities established in that other
Member State. However, for a transitional period, Luxembourg and Austria are instead required
(unless during that period they elect otherwise) to operate a withholding system in relation to such
payments (the ending of such transitional period being dependent upon the conclusion of certain other
agreements relating to information exchange with certain other countries). A number of non-EU
countries and territories, including Switzerland, have adopted similar measures (a withholding system
in the case of Switzerland).

The European Commission has proposed certain amendments to the Directive which may, if
implemented, amend or broaden the scope of the requirements described above.

If a payment were to be made in or collected through a Member State which has opted for a
withholding system and an amount of, or in respect of, tax were to be withheld from that payment,
neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor nor any Paying Agent, nor any institution where the Notes
are deposited would be obliged to pay additional amounts with respect to any Note as a result of the
imposition of such withholding tax. The relevant Issuer is required to maintain a Paying Agent in a
Member State that is not obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to the Directive.

U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Withholding

The Issuers, the Guarantor and other financial institutions through which payments on the Notes are
made may be required to withhold U.S. tax at a rate of 30 per cent. on all, or a portion of, payments
made after 31 December 2016 in respect of (i) any Notes characterised as debt (or which are not
otherwise characterised as equity and have a fixed term) for U.S. federal tax purposes that are issued
after 31 December 2012 or are materially modified from that date and (ii) any Notes characterised as
equity or which do not have a fixed term for U.S. federal tax purposes, whenever issued, pursuant to
Sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code (FATCA) or similar law
implementing an intergovernmental approach to FATCA. In addition, pursuant to the Conditions of
the Notes, the Issuers may issue further notes in respect of any Series of Notes already issued such
that the further Notes shall be consolidated and form a single Series with the outstanding Notes. An
issue of such further Notes after 31 December 2012 that will be consolidated and form a single Series
with, and have the same operational identification numbers as, outstanding Notes issued on or before
31 December 2012 may result in such outstanding Notes also being subject to withholding.

This withholding tax may be triggered if (i) the relevant Issuer is a foreign financial institution (FFI)
(as defined in FATCA) that enters into and complies with an agreement with the U.S. Internal
Revenue Service (IRS) to provide certain information on its account holders (making the relevant
Issuer a Participating FFI), (ii) the relevant Issuer has a positive "passthru payment percentage" (as
determined under FATCA), and (iii)(a) an investor does not provide information sufficient for the
relevant Participating FFI to determine whether the investor is a U.S. person or should otherwise be
treated as holding a "United States Account" of such Participating FFI, or (b) any FFI that is an
investor, or through which payment on such Notes is made, is not a Participating FFI.

The application of FATCA to interest, principal or other amounts paid with respect to the Notes is not
clear. If an amount in respect of U.S. withholding tax were to be deducted or withheld from interest,
principal or other payments on the Notes, neither the Issuer nor any paying agent nor any other person
would, pursuant to the conditions of the Notes, be required to pay additional amounts as a result of the
deduction or withholding of such tax. As a result, investors may, if FATCA is implemented as
currently proposed by the IRS, receive less interest or principal than expected. Holders of Notes
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should consult their own tax advisers on how these rules may apply to payments they receive under
the Notes.

FATCA is particularly complex and its application is uncertain at this time. The above description is
based in part on proposed regulations and official guidance that is subject to change. The application
of FATCA to Notes issued after 31 December 2012 (or whenever issued, in the case of Notes treated
as equity for U.S. federal tax purposes) may be addressed in the relevant Final Terms or a supplement
to this Base Prospectus, as applicable.

Change of law

The terms of the Conditions are based on English law in effect as at the date of this Base Prospectus.
No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law
or administrative practice after the date of this Base Prospectus.

Additional Risk Factors

Additional risk factors in relation to specific issues of Notes may be included in the applicable Final
Terms.

Risks relating to Notes
Notes where denominations involve integral multiples: Definitive Notes

In relation to any issue of Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified
Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that
such Notes may be traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified
Denomination. In such a case, a Holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount
which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing
system at the relevant time may not receive a Bearer Note in respect of such holding (should
Definitive Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that its
holding amounts to the minimum Specified Denomination.

If Definitive Notes are issued, holders should be aware that Definitive Notes which have a
denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid
and difficult to trade.

Partly-paid Notes

The relevant Issuer may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one instalment.
Failure to pay any subsequent instalment could result in an investor losing all of his investment.

Notes subject to optional redemption by the relevant Issuer

An optional redemption feature of Notes is likely to limit their market value. During any period when
the relevant Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise
substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This may also be true prior to any
redemption period.

The relevant Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the
interest rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the
redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being
redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should
consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.
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Eurosystem Eligibility

There may be an intention (which, if applicable, will be specified in the applicable Final Terms) for
certain Notes to be held in a manner which will allow Eurosystem eligibility. This simply means that
such Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper and
does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all
times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility
criteria.

Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a brief description of the principal market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange
rate risk, interest rate risk and credit risk.

The secondary market generally

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market
does develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily
or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a
developed secondary market. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to
interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or
have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These
types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than
conventional debt securities. Illiquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the market value of
Notes.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The Issuers will pay amounts payable on the Notes and the Guarantor will make any payments under
the Guarantee in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if
an investor’s financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the
Investor’s Currency) other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates
may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or
revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the
Investor’s Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the
Investor’s Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (1) the Investor’s Currency-
equivalent yield on the Notes, (2) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent value of the Final Redemption
Amount in respect of the Notes and (3) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls
that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, the Final Redemption Amount
that investors may receive may be less than expected, or zero.

Interest rate risks

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may
adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes.

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks
One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes. The ratings

may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors
discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a
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recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency
at any time.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted under Regulation (EC) 1060/2009 (as
amended) (the CRA Regulation) from using credit ratings for regulatory purposes, unless such
ratings are issued by a credit rating agency established in the EU and registered under the CRA
Regulation (and such registration has not been withdrawn or suspended). Such general restriction will
also apply in the case of credit ratings issued by non-EU credit rating agencies, unless the relevant
credit ratings are endorsed by an EU-registered credit rating agency or the relevant non-EU rating
agency is certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or
certification, as the case may be, has not been withdrawn or suspended). The list of registered and
certified rating agencies published by the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) on its
website in accordance with the CRA Regulation is not conclusive evidence of the status of the
relevant rating agency included in such list, as there may be delays between certain supervisory
measures being taken against a relevant rating agency and the publication of the updated ESMA list.
Certain information with respect to the credit rating agencies and ratings referred to in this Base
Prospectus and/or the Final Terms will be disclosed in the applicable Final Terms.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or
to review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers
to determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used
as collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of
any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisors or the appropriate regulators to
determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

Issuers:

Guarantor:

Description:

Calculation Agent:

Arranger:

Principal Paying Agent:

Types of Notes

Form of Notes:

Status of the Notes and the
Guarantee:

UniCredit S.p.A. (UniCredit)
UniCredit Bank Ireland p.l.c. (UniCredit Ireland)

UniCredit International Bank (Luxembourg) S.A. (UniCredit
International Luxembourg)

Notes issued by UniCredit Ireland and UniCredit International
Luxembourg will be guaranteed by UniCredit.

Structured Note Programme

UniCredit Bank AG or such other calculation agent specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

UniCredit S.p.A.

Citibank, N.A., London Branch or such other agent(s) specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

Under the Programme the Issuer may from time to time issue notes
(Notes)

Notes of any kind may be issued, including, but not limited to Index
Linked Notes, Equity Linked Notes, Currency Linked Notes,
Commodity Linked Notes, Fund Linked Notes and Inflation Index
Linked Notes.

Notes will be issued in bearer form and, in the case of definitive
Notes, serially numbered, in the Specified Currency and the Specified
Denomination(s).

The Notes, and (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) the obligations of
the Guarantor under the Guarantee, will constitute direct,
unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the
relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, and, in the case of
the Notes, will rank pari passu among themselves.
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Approval, listing
admission to trading:

Governing law:

and Application has been made to the CSSF to approve this document as

three base prospectuses. Application has also been made to the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the Programme
to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's
regulated market and to be listed on the Official List of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on such
other or further stock exchange(s) or market(s) as determined by the
relevant Issuer. Notes which are neither listed nor admitted to trading
on any market may also be issued.

The applicable Final Terms will state whether or not the relevant
Notes are to be listed and/or admitted to trading and, if so, on which
stock exchange(s) and/or markets.

The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in
connection with them will be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, English law.

For the avoidance of doubt, with respect to Notes issued by UniCredit
International Luxembourg, the provisions of Articles 86 to 94-8 of the
Companies Act 1915 relating to meetings of Noteholders shall not

apply.
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FORM OF THE NOTES

Words and expressions defined in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes shall have the same
meanings in this Form of the Notes.

Form of the Notes

Each Tranche of Notes will be in bearer form and will be initially issued in the form of a temporary
global Note (a Temporary Global Note) or, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, a
permanent global Note (a Permanent Global Note and Permanent Global Notes together with
Temporary Global Notes, Global Notes) which, in either case, will:

6) if the Global Notes are intended to be issued in new global note (NGN) form, as stated in the
applicable Final Terms, be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a
common safekeeper (the Common Safekeeper) for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (Euroclear) and
Clearstream Banking, société anonyme (Clearstream, Luxembourg); and

(ii) if the Global Notes are not intended to be issued in NGN form, be delivered on or prior to the
original issue date of the Tranche to a common depositary (the Common Depositary) for,
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Whilst any Note is represented by a Temporary Global Note, payments of principal, interest (if any)
and any other amount payable in respect of the Notes due prior to the Exchange Date (as defined
below) will be made (against presentation of the Temporary Global Note if the Temporary Global
Notes is not intended to be issued in NGN form) only to the extent that certification (in a form to be
provided) to the effect that the beneficial owners of interests in such Note are not U.S. persons or
persons who have purchased for resale to any U.S. person, as required by U.S. Treasury regulations,
has been received by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg, as applicable, has given a like certification (based on the certifications it has received)
to the Principal Paying Agent.

On and after the date (the Exchange Date) which is 40 days after a Temporary Global Note is issued,
interests in such Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge) upon a request as
described therein either for (a) interests in a Permanent Global Note of the same Series or (b) for
definitive Notes of the same Series with, where applicable, receipts, interest coupons and talons
attached (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms and subject, in the case of definitive Notes, to
such notice period as is specified in the applicable Final Terms), in each case against certification of
beneficial ownership in a form to be provided by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (unless
such certificate has already been given) to the effect that the beneficial owners of interests in such
Note are not U.S. persons or persons who have purchased for resale to any U.S. person, as required by
U.S. Treasury regulations. Such certification must have been received by Euroclear and/or
Clearstream, Luxembourg, and Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as applicable, must in
turn have given a like certification (based on the certifications it has received) to the Principal Paying
Agent. The holder of a Temporary Global Note will not be entitled to collect any payment of interest,
principal or other amount due on or after the Exchange Date without such certification unless, upon
due certification, exchange of the Temporary Global Note for an interest in a Permanent Global Note
or for definitive Notes is improperly withheld or refused.
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Payments of principal, interest (if any) or any other amounts on a Permanent Global Note will be
made through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (against presentation or surrender (as the
case may be) of the Permanent Global Note if the Permanent Global Note is not intended to be issued
in NGN form) without any requirement for certification.

The applicable Final Terms will specify that a Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable (free of
charge), in whole but not in part, for definitive Notes with, where applicable, receipts, interest
coupons and talons attached upon either (a) not less than 60 days' written notice from Euroclear
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such
Permanent Global Note) to the Principal Paying Agent as described therein, (b) only upon the
occurrence of an Exchange Event or (c) at any time at the request of the relevant Issuer. For these
purposes, Exchange Event means that (i) an Event of Default (as defined in Notes Condition 10) has
occurred and is continuing, or (ii) the relevant Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg have been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other
than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or have announced an intention permanently to
cease business or have in fact done so and no successor clearing system is available. The relevant
Issuer will promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with Notes Condition 14 if an
Exchange Event occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, Euroclear and/or
Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Permanent
Global Note) may give notice to the Principal Paying Agent requesting exchange. Any such exchange
shall occur not later than 60 days after the date of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Principal
Paying Agent.

The following legend will appear on all Notes which have an original maturity of more than one year
and on all receipts and interest coupons relating to such Notes:

"ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO
LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE
LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165() AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE
CODE."

The sections referred to provide that United States holders, with certain exceptions, will not be
entitled to deduct any loss on Notes, receipts or interest coupons and will not be entitled to capital
gains treatment of any gain on any sale, disposition, redemption or payment of principal in respect of
such Notes, receipts or interest coupons.

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear Bank
S.A./N.V. (Euroclear) and/or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme (Clearstream, Luxembourg),
each person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) who is for the time being shown in
the records of Euroclear or of Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder of a particular nominal amount
of such Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg as to the nominal amount of such Notes standing to the account of any person shall be
conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the
relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) and the Paying Agents as the holder
of such nominal amount of such Notes for all purposes other than with respect to the payment of
principal or interest on such nominal amount of such Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the
relevant Global Note shall be treated by the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed
Notes) and any Paying Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes in accordance with
and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note and the expressions Noteholder and holder of
Notes and related expressions shall be construed accordingly.

Notes which are represented by a Global Note will only be transferable in accordance with the rules
and procedures for the time being of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be.
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Pursuant to the Agency Agreement, the Principal Paying Agent shall arrange that, where a further
Tranche of Notes is issued which is intended to form a single Series with an existing Tranche of
Notes, the Notes of such further Tranche shall be assigned a common code and ISIN which are
different from the common code and ISIN assigned to Notes of any other Tranche of the same Series
until at least the expiry of the distribution compliance period (as defined in Regulation S under the
Securities Act) applicable to the Notes of such Tranche.

Any reference herein to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so
permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system specified in
the applicable Final Terms.

A Note may be accelerated by the holder thereof in certain circumstances described in Notes
Condition 10. In such circumstances, where any Note is still represented by a Global Note and the
Global Note (or any part thereof) has become due and repayable in accordance with the Terms and
Conditions of such Notes and payment in full of the amount due has not been made in accordance
with the provisions of the Global Note then the Global Note will become void at 8.00 p.m. (London
time) on such day. At the same time, holders of interests in such Global Note credited to their
accounts with Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, will become entitled to
proceed directly against the Issuer on the basis of statements of account provided by Euroclear and/or
Clearstream, Luxembourg on and subject to the terms of the Deed of Covenant.
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FORM OF FINAL TERMS OF THE NOTES

Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for each Tranche of Notes issued
under the Programme.

[Date]
IMPORTANT NOTICE

THE NOTES DESCRIBED HEREIN (NOTES), ANY GUARANTEE THEREOF AND ANY ENTITLEMENT
HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT OF
1933, AS AMENDED (SECURITIES ACT) OR UNDER ANY STATE SECURITIES LAWS AND THE NOTES
MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR
BENEFIT OF, ANY 'US PERSON' AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT.
FURTHERMORE, TRADING IN THE NOTES HAS NOT BEEN APPROVED BY THE UNITED STATES
CoOoMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION (CFTC) UNDER THE UNITED STATES
COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT, AS AMENDED (CEA).

[UniCredit S.p.A./UniCredit Bank (Ireland) p.l.c./UniCredit International Bank (Luxembourg)
S.A.]

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] |Title of Notes]
[guaranteed by UniCredit S.p.A.]
under the
Structured Note Programme

[The Base Prospectus referred to below (as completed by these Final Terms) has been prepared on the
basis that, except as provided in sub-paragraph (ii) below, any offer of Notes in any Member State of
the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (2003/71/EC) (each, a
Relevant Member State) will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as
implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers
of the Notes. Accordingly any person making or intending to make an offer of the Notes may only do
so:

) in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a
prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus
pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer; or

(i1) in those Public Offer Jurisdictions mentioned in Paragraph 47 of Part A below, provided such
person is one of the persons mentioned in Paragraph 47 of Part A below and that such offer is
made during the Offer Period specified for such purpose therein.

Neither the Issuer nor any Dealer has authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of
Notes in any other circumstances.

The expression Prospectus Directive means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto,
including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in the Relevant Member
State), and includes any relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member State and the
expression 2010 PD Amending Directive means Directive 2010/73/EU]."

! Consider including this legend where a non-exempt offer of Notes is anticipated (N.B. not relevant for an issue of a Tranche of Notes with
a denomination equal to or greater than EUR 100,000 (or its equivalent in another currency).)
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[The Base Prospectus referred to below (as completed by these Final Terms) has been prepared on the
basis that any offer of Notes in any Member State of the European Economic Area which has
implemented the Prospectus Directive (2003/71/EC) (each, a Relevant Member State) will be made
pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant Member
State, from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of the Notes. Accordingly any person
making or intending to make an offer in that Relevant Member State of the Notes may only do so in
circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus
pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of
the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer. Neither the Issuer nor any Dealer has
authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in any other circumstances.

The expression Prospectus Directive means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto,
including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in the Relevant Member
State), and includes any relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member State and the
expression 2010 PD Amending Directive means Directive 2010/73/EU].>

PART A - CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the terms and conditions
(the Conditions) set forth in the Base Prospectus dated 26 June 2012 [and the supplement([s] to the
Base Prospectus dated [®] and [®]] which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes
of [the Prospectus Directive][Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto, including the 2010 PD
Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in any relevant Member State of the European
Economic Area, the Prospectus Directive), which includes any relevant implementing measure in the
Relevant Member State and the expression 2010 PD Amending Directive means Directive
2010/73/EU]. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the
purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction with the Base
Prospectus [as so supplemented]. Full information on the Issuer[, the Guarantor,] and the offer of
Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus
[as so supplemented]. The Base Prospectus [and the supplement[s] to the Base Prospectus] [are/is]
available for viewing during normal business hours at [UniCredit S.p.A., Via A. Specchi, 16, 00186,
Rome, Italy/UniCredit Bank Ireland p.l.c., La Touche House, International Financial Services Centre,
Dublin 1, Ireland/UniCredit International Bank (Luxembourg) S.A., 8-10 rue Jean Monnet, L-2180
Luxembourg] and on the website of UniCredit www.unicreditgroup.eu, as well as on the website of
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, www.bourse.lu. Copies may be obtained, free of charge, from the
Issuer at the address above. In addition, in the case of Notes listed and admitted to trading on the
regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the applicable Final Terms will also be
published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as “Not Applicable” (N/A). Note that the
numbering should remain as set out below, even if “Not Applicable” is indicated for individual
paragraphs or sub-paragraphs. Italics denote directions for completing the Final Terms.]

[When completing the Final Terms or adding any other Final Terms or information consideration
should be given as to whether such terms or information constitute “significant new factors” and
consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Base Prospectus under Article 16 of the
Prospectus Directive. |

1. Issuer: [UniCredit S.p.A./UniCredit Bank Ireland p.l.c./UniCredit
International Bank (Luxembourg) S.A.]

2 Consider including this legend where only an exempt offer of Notes is anticipated (N.B. Not relevant for an issue of a Tranche of Notes
with a denomination equal to or greater than EUR 100,000 (or its equivalent in another currency).)

64



10.

Guarantor:
Series Number:

Tranche Number:

Specified Currency or
Currencies:

Aggregate Nominal Amount:
6))] Series:
(i1) [Tranche:

Issue Price:

(i) Specified
Denominations:

(i1) Calculation Amount:

[()]  Issue Date [and Interest
Commencement Date]:

(i1) [Interest
Commencement Date
(if different from the
Issue Date):

Maturity Date:

Interest Basis:

[UniCredit S.p.A./Not Applicable]

[ ]
[ ]

If fungible with an existing Series, include details of that
Series, including the date on which the Notes become
fungible

[ ]

[ ]
[ 1l

[ ] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus
accrued interest from [insert date] (in the case of fungible
issues only, if applicable)|

[ 1(N.B. if the Notes are (i) to be admitted to trading
on a European Economic Area exchange, the minimum
denomination should be €100,000 or its equivalent or (ii)
offered to the public for purposes of the Prospectus Directive
the minimum denomination should be €1,000 or its
equivalent)

[ ]

(If only one Specified Denomination, insert the Specified
Denomination

If more than one Specified Denomination, insert the highest
common factor. Note: There must be a common factor in the
case of two or more Specified Denominations.)

—

]

[Fixed Rate Notes - specify date/Floating Rate Notes -
Interest Payment Date falling on or nearest to [specify
month)]]

[[ ] per cent. Fixed Rate]
[[LIBOR/EURIBOR] +/- [ ] per cent. Floating Rate]
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11. Redemption/Payment Basis:

12. Change of Interest Basis or

Redemption/ Payment Basis:

13. Put/Call Options:

[Zero Coupon]

[Index Linked Interest]

[Equity Linked Interest]

[Currency Linked Interest]
[Commodity Linked Interest]

[Fund Linked Interest]

[Inflation Index Linked Interest]
[Non-Interest bearing]

[specify other|

[(further particulars specified below)]

[Redemption at par]

[Index Linked Redemption]
[Equity Linked Redemption]
[Currency Linked Redemption]
[Commodity Linked Redemption]
[Fund Linked Redemption]
[Inflation Index Linked Redemption]
[Partly Paid]
[Instalment]
[specify other|

(N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is other than 100 per
cent. of the nominal value the Notes will be derivative
securities for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive and
the requirements of Annex XII to the Prospectus Directive
Regulation will apply.)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[Specify details of any provision for change of Notes into
another Interest Basis or Redemption/ Payment Basis]

[Investor Put][Issuer Call]
[(further particulars specified below)]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

[Insert if rate of return may be deemed to exceed a reasonable commercial return:

Each Interest Amount payable under the Notes represents an amount payable by the Issuer (i) as
consideration for use of the issue price by the Issuer and (ii) as compensation for and in recognition that
[insert relevant details as to additional risks for which the interest amount is consideration].]

14. Fixed Rate Notes

6)] Rate(s) of Interest:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)

[ ] per cent. per annum [payable [annually/semi-
annually/quarterly] in arrear]

(If payable other than annually, consider amending
Condition 5)

(Not applicable in the case of a flat coupon amount, in
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15.

(ii) Interest Payment
Date(s):

(iii) Fixed Coupon
Amount(s):

(iv)  Broken Amount(s):

(V) Day Count Fraction:

(vi) Determination Date(s):

(vii)  Other terms relating to
the method of
calculating interest for
Fixed Rate Notes:

Floating Rate Notes

(i) Specified
Period(s)/Specified

which case consider disapplying interest accrual provisions
in relation to any Early Redemption Amount.)

([ ] in each year up to and including the Maturity
Date]/[specify other]

(NB: This will need to be amended in the case of long or
short coupons)

[ ] per Calculation Amount

[[ ] per Calculation Amount payable on the Interest
Payment Date falling on [ ]/Not Applicable]

[Insert particulars of any initial or final broken interest
amounts which do not correspond with the Fixed Coupon
Amount(s)]

[Actual/Actual (ICMA)

Actual/Actual (ISDA)

Actual/365 (Fixed)

Actual/365 (Sterling)

Actual/360

30/360 (ICMA)

30/360

30E/360

30E/360 (ISDA)

Other]

[(NB: Actual/Actual (ICMA) is normally only appropriate
for Fixed Rate Notes denominated in euros)]

[ ] in each year

[Insert regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or
maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last
coupon (NB: This will need to be amended in the case of
regular interest payment dates which are not of equal
duration)]

(NB: Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is
Actual/Actual (ICMA))

[None/Give details]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

Interest Payment Dates:

Business Day
Convention:

Additional Business
Centre(s):

Manner in which the

Rate of Interest

and

Interest Amount is to be
determined:

Party responsible
calculating the Rate of
Interest
(if not

Interest
Amount

and

for

the

Principal Paying Agent):

Screen

Determination:

Interest

Rate

Reference Rate:

Determination

Date(s):

Relevant Screen

Page:

Rate Multiplier:

ISDA Determination:

Floating
Option:

Rate

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/[specify
other]]

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination/specify
other)

[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(if not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)

[ ]

(Either LIBOR, EURIBOR or other, although additional
information is required if other - including fallback
provisions in the Agency Agreement)

[ ]

(The second London Business Day prior to the start of each
Interest Period if LIBOR (other than Sterling or euro
LIBOR), the first day of each Interest Period if Sterling
LIBOR, the second day on which the TARGET2 System is
open prior to the start of each Interest Period if EURIBOR
or euro LIBOR)

[ ]

(In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO0I ensure
it is a page which shows a composite rate or amend the
fallback provisions appropriately)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(specify formula)

[ ]
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16.

17.

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

- Designated
Maturity:

- Reset Date:
Margin(s):

Minimum Rate of
Interest:

Maximum Rate of
Interest:

Day Count Fraction:

Fall back provisions,
rounding provisions and
any other terms relating
to the method of
calculating interest on
Floating Rate Notes, if
different from those set
out in the Terms and
Conditions:

Zero Coupon Notes

(1)
(i)
(iii)

(iv)

Accrual Yield:
Reference Price:

Any other formula/basis
of determining amount
payable:

Day Count Fraction in
relation to Early
Redemption =~ Amounts
and late payment:

Index Linked Interest Notes

[ ]

[+/-][ ] per cent. per annum

[ ] per cent. per annum

[ ] per cent. per annum
[Actual/Actual (ICMA)
30/360

Actual/Actual (ISDA)
Actual/365 (Fixed)

Actual/365 (Sterling)

Actual/360

30/360 (ICMA)

30/360

30E/360

30E/360 (ISDA)

Other]

(See Condition 5 for alternatives)

[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)

[ ] per cent. per annum
[ ]
[ ]

[Conditions 7(D)(c) and 7(J) apply/specify other]
(Consider applicable day count fraction if not US$
denominated)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
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(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
)

(xi)

Index/Basket of
Indices/Proprietary
Index/Index Sponsor(s):

Formula for calculating
interest rate including
back up provisions:

Calculation Agent
responsible for making
calculations in respect of
the Notes:

Specified
Period(s)/Specified
Interest Payment Dates:
Business Day
Convention:

Additional Business
Centre(s):

Minimum Rate of
Interest:

Maximum Rate of
Interest:

Day Count Fraction:

Averaging:

Index Performance:

(A)

Best Performing

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)

[The provisions of Annex 1 of the Terms and Conditions —
Additional Terms and Conditions for Index Linked Notes
shall apply.]

[ ]
[The[ ]Index is a Multi-Exchange Index]
[The Index Currency for the [ ]Indexis|[ ]

The Index Composition Percentage is [20] |
normally 20 per cent.]

per cent. [NB

[ ]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/specify
other]

[ ] per cent. per annum

[ ] per cent. per annum
[ ]
[The Averaging Dates are [ 1.1

[In the event that an Averaging Date is a Disrupted Day,
[Omission/ Postponement/ Modified Postponement] will

apply.]
[Applicable - (insert formula)/Not Applicable]

[Applicable — the Best Performing Index means, with respect
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(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)
(xv)
(xvi)
(xvii)
(xvii)

(xix)

(xx)

(xxi)

(xxit)

Index:

(B) Worst
Performing
Index:

Exchange Rate:

Weighting:

Exchange(s):
Related Exchange:
Valuation Date(s):
Valuation Time:
Observation Date(s):

Observation Period:

Disrupted Day:

Trade Date:

Additional  Disruption
Events:

to [a Valuation Date, an Observation Date or an Averaging
Date, (specify as applicable/other)|, as the case may be,]]| the
Index having the highest Index Performance provided that if
[both][two or more] Indices have the same highest Index
Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall determine
which Index shall constitute the Best Performing Index for
such date/Not Applicable]

[Applicable — the Worst Performing Index means, with
respect to [a Valuation Date, an Observation Date or an
Averaging Date, (specify as applicable/other)[, as the case
may be,]] the Index having the lowest Index Performance
provided that if [both][two or more] Indices have the same
lowest Index Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall
determine which Index shall constitute the Worst Performing
Index for such date]/Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[insert details]

The weighting to be applied to each item comprising the
Basket to ascertain the Index Performance is [ ]. (N.B.

Only applicable in relation to Index Linked Notes relating to
a Basket)

[ ]
[ V[All Exchanges]
[ ]
[ ]
[ ]

[Applicable — the period from [(and including/but
excluding)] [ ] to [(and including/but excluding)
[ 11/[Not Applicable]

(N.B. this definition will need to be revised if there is more
than one Observation Period)

If a Valuation Date, an Averaging Date or an Observation
Date, as the case may be, is a Disrupted Day, the relevant
level or price will be calculated [insert calculation method)|

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions in Index Linked
Conditions are not appropriate)

[ ]

The following Additional Disruption Events apply to the
Notes:
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(xxiii) Other

(xxiv)

Adjustment
Events and relevant
consequences:

Knock-in, Knock-out

Provisions:

(A) Knock-in
Determination
Day:

(B) Knock-in Event

©)
(D)

(E)

(F)

(G)

(H)

@

)

and
consequences of
a Knock-in
Event:

Knock-in Level:

Knock-in Period
Beginning Date:

Knock-in Period
Ending Date:

Knock-in
Valuation Time:

Knock-out
Determination
Day:

Knock- out
Event and

consequences of
a Knock-out
Event:

Knock-out
Level:

Knock-out
Period
Beginning Date:

[Change of Law]

[Hedging Disruption]
[Increased Cost of Hedging]
[

Insert other Additional Disruption Event(s)]

—

]

[Applicable — the provisions of Index Linked Condition 6
apply to the Notes/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)
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(xxV)

(K) Knock-out
Period Ending
Date:

(L) Knock-out
Valuation Time:

(M)  Knock-
in/Knock-out
Determination
Day
consequences of
a Disrupted
Day:

(N) Knock-
in/Knock-out
intraday
valuation
consequences of
disruption:

(O) Additional
Knock-
in/Knock-out
Determination
Day Disrupted
Day provisions:

Trigger Event
Provisions:

(A) Trigger Event
and
consequences of
a Trigger Event:

(B) Trigger Event
Observation
Date:

©) Trigger Event
Valuation Time:

(D) Trigger
Percentage:

[Omission][Postponement]

[Omission][Materiality]

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of the Index Linked
Conditions are not appropriate)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

The following Trigger Events apply to the Notes:
[Trigger Event (Closing Observation)]

[Trigger Event (Intraday Observation)]

[specify other and consequences]

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of the Index Linked
Conditions are not appropriate)

[ ]

[ per cent.]]
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18.

(xxvi)

(E) Trigger Event
Strike Level:

(F) Trigger Event
Observation

Date
consequences of
a Disrupted
Day:
(G) Trigger Event
intraday
valuation
consequences of
disruption:

H) Additional
Trigger Event
Observation
Date Disrupted
Day provisions:

Other terms or special
conditions:

Equity Linked Interest Notes

(1)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

™)

Share(s)/Basket of
Share(s):

Formula for calculating
interest rate including
back up provisions:

Calculation Agent
responsible for making
calculations in respect of
the Notes:

Specified
Period(s)/Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

Business
Convention:

Day

[Omission][Postponement]

[Omission][Materiality]

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of the Index Linked
Conditions are not appropriate)

[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[The provisions of Annex 2 of the Terms and Conditions —
Additional Terms and Conditions for Equity Linked Notes
shall apply.]

[ ]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/specify
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(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

Additional Business
Centre(s):

Minimum Rate of
Interest:

Maximum Rate of
Interest:

Day Count Fraction:

Averaging:

Share Performance:

(A) Best Performing
Share:

(B) Worst
Performing
Share:

Exchange Rate:

Weighting:

Exchange(s):
Related Exchange:

Valuation Date(s):

other]

[ ]
[ ]

[The Averaging Dates are [ 1]

[In the event that an Averaging Date is a Disrupted Day,
[Omission/Postponement/Modified  Postponement]  will

apply.]
[Applicable - (insert formula)/Not Applicable]

[Applicable — the Best Performing Share means, with
respect to [a Valuation Date, an Observation Date or an
Averaging Date, (specify as applicable/other)[, as the case
may be,]] the Share having the highest Share Performance
provided that if [both][two or more] Shares have the same
highest Share Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall
determine which Share shall constitute the Best Performing
Share for such date/Not Applicable]

[Applicable — the Worst Performing Share means, with
respect to [a Valuation Date, an Observation Date or an
Averaging Date, (specify as applicable/other)[, as the case
may be,]] the Share having the lowest Share Performance
provided that if [both][two or more] Shares have the same
lowest Share Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall
determine which Share shall constitute the Worst
Performing Share for such date]/Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(insert details)

The weighting to be applied to each item comprising the
Basket to ascertain the Share Performance is [ ]. (N.B.

Only applicable in relation to Equity Linked Notes relating
to a Basket)

[ ]

[ J/[All Exchanges]

[ ]
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(xvii)
(xviii)

(xix)

(xx)

(xxi)

(xxit)

(xxiii)

(xxiv)

(xxv)

(xxvi)

Valuation Time:
Observation Date(s):

Observation Period:

Disrupted Day:

Tender Offer:

Share Substitution:

Trade Date:

Additional
Events:

Disruption

Other Adjustment
Events and relevant
consequences:

Knock-in, Knock-out

Provisions:

Knock-in
Determination
Day:

(A)

Knock-in Event

(B)

[ ]
[ ]

[Applicable — the period from
excluding)] [ ] to [(and
[ ]/[Not Applicable]

[(and including/but
including/but  excluding)]

(N.B. this definition will need to be revised if there is more
than one Observation Period)

[If a Valuation Date, an Averaging Date or an Observation
Date, as the case may be, is a Disrupted Day, the relevant
price will be calculated [insert calculation method)]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions in Equity Linked
Conditions are not appropriate)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[If Applicable: Share Substitution Criteria is [ 1]

[ ]

The following Additional Disruption Events apply to the
Notes:

[Change of Law]

[Hedging Disruption]

[Increased Cost of Hedging]

[Increased Cost of Stock Borrow]

[Initial Stock Loan Rate: [ 1]
[Insolvency Filing]

[Loss of Stock Borrow]

[Maximum Stock Loan Rate: [ 1]

[Insert other Additional Disruption Event(s)]

[ ]

[Applicable — the provisions of Equity Linked Condition 12
apply to the Notes/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)
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©
(D)

(E)

(F)

(G)

(H)

@

)

X)

(L)

M)

(N)

and
consequences of
a Knock-in
Event:

Knock-in Level:

Knock-in Period
Beginning Date:

Knock-in Period
Ending Date:

Knock-in
Valuation Time:

Knock-out
Determination
Day:

Knock- out
Event and
consequences of
a Knock-out
Event:

Knock-out
Level:

Knock-out
Period
Beginning Date:

Knock-out
Period Ending
Date:

Knock-out
Valuation Time:

Knock-
in/Knock-out
Determination
Day
consequences of
a Disrupted
Day:

Knock-
in/Knock-out
intraday
valuation
consequences of
disruption:

[Omission][Postponement]

[Omission][Materiality]
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(xxvii)

(O) Additional
Knock-
in/Knock-out
Determination
Day Disrupted
Day provisions:

Trigger Event
Provisions:

(A) Trigger Event
and
consequences of
a Trigger Event:

(B) Trigger Event
Observation
Date:

©) Trigger Event
Valuation Time:

(D) Trigger
Percentage:

(E) Trigger Event
Strike Level:

(F) Trigger Event
Observation
Date
consequences of
a Disrupted
Day:

(G) Trigger Event
intraday
valuation
consequences of
disruption:

(H) Additional
Trigger Event
Observation
Date Disrupted
Day provisions:

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of the Equity Linked
Conditions are not appropriate)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

The following Trigger Events apply to the Notes:
[Trigger Event (Closing Observation)]
[Trigger Event (Intraday Observation)]

[specify other and consequences]

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of the Equity Linked
Conditions are not appropriate)

[ ]

[ per cent.]]

[Omission][Postponement]

[Omission][Materiality]

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of the Equity Linked
Conditions are not appropriate)
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19.

(xxviii) Other terms or special

conditions:

(xxix) GDR/ADR Linked

Notes:

Currency Linked Interest Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
™)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Base Currency/Subject
Currency:

Currency Price:

FX Market Disruption
Event(s):

FX Price Source(s):

Specified Financial
Centre(s):

Formula for calculating
interest rate including
back up provisions:

Calculation Agent
responsible for making
calculations in respect of
the Notes:

Specified
Period(s)/Specified

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)

[The provisions of Annex 3 of the Terms and
Conditions - Additional Terms and Conditions for Currency
Linked Notes shall apply.]

[ ]
[ ]

(N.B. Complete only if different from definition contained in
Annex 3 of the Terms and Conditions - Additional Terms and
Conditions for Currency Linked Notes)

[As defined in sub-paragraph [(a)(i)/(a)(ii)] of the definition
of "Currency Price" in Currency Linked Condition 2]

(N.B. Applicable where the Notes relate to a basket of
Currencies)

Currency Disruption Event: [Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Insert other FX Market Disruption Event(s)]
(N.B. Only complete if Currency Disruption Event and/or

other disruption events should be included as FX Market
Disruption Events)

[ ]
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Interest Period:

(ix) Business Day
Convention:

(%) Additional Business

Centre(s):

(xi) Minimum  Rate  of
Interest:

(xil) Maximum  Rate of
Interest:

(xiii)  Day Count Fraction:

(xiv)  Averaging:

(xv)  Other Adjustment
Events and relevant
consequences:

(xvi)  Currency Performance

(A) Best Performing
Reference
Exchange Rate:

(B) Worst
Performing
Reference
Exchange Rate:

(xvii) Valuation Date(s):

(xviii) Valuation Time:

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/
Preceding Business Day Convention/specify other]

[ ]
[ ]

Averaging [applies/does not apply] to the Notes. [The
Averaging Dates are [ ].] [In the event that an
Averaging Date is a Disrupted Day
[Omission/Postponement/Modified  Postponement] shall

apply.]

[ ]

[Applicable - (insert formula)/Not Applicable]

[Applicable — the Best Performing Reference Exchange Rate
means, with respect to [a Valuation Date, an Observation
Date or an Averaging Date, (specify as applicable/other)[, as
the case may be,]] the Reference Exchange Rate having the
highest Currency Performance provided that if [both][two or
more] Reference Exchange Rates have the same highest
Currency Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall
determine which Reference Exchange Rate shall constitute
the Best Performing Reference Exchange Rate for such
date/Not Applicable]

[Applicable — the Worst Performing Reference Exchange
Rate means, with respect to [a Valuation Date, an
Observation Date or an Averaging Date, (specify as
applicable/other)[, as the case may be,]] the Reference
Exchange Rate having the lowest Currency Performance
provided that if [both][two or more] Reference Exchange
Rates have the same lowest Currency Performance, then the
Calculation Agent shall determine which Reference
Exchange Rate shall constitute the Worst Performing
Reference Exchange Rate for such date]/Not Applicable]

[ ]
[ ]
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(xix)

(xx)

(xxi)

(xxii)

(xxiii)

Observation Date(s):

Observation Period:

Weighting:

Other Adjustment

Events and relevant

consequences:

Trigger Event

Provisions:

(A) Trigger Event
and
consequences of
a Trigger Event:

(B) Trigger Event
Observation
Date:

© Trigger Event
Observation
Price:

(D) Trigger Event
Valuation Time:

(E) Trigger
Percentage:

(F) Trigger Event
Strike Price:

(G) Trigger Event
Observation
Date

[ ]

[Applicable — the period from [(and including/but
excluding)] [ ] to (and including/but excluding)
[ ]][Not Applicable]

(N.B. this definition will need to be revised if there is more
than one Observation Period)

The weighting to be applied to each item comprising the
Basket to ascertain the Currency Price is [ ].

(N.B. Only applicable in relation to Currency Linked Notes
relating to a Basket)

[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

The following Trigger Events apply to the Notes:
[Trigger Event (Closing Observation)]

[Trigger Event (Intraday Observation)]

[specify other and consequences]

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Currency Linked Notes are not
appropriate)

[ ]

[ percent.]]

[Omission][Postponement]
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20.

consequences of
an FX Disrupted
Day:

(H) Trigger
intraday
valuation
consequences of
disruption:

Event

@ Additional
Trigger Event
Observation
Date Disrupted
Day provisions:

(xxiv) Other terms or special

Commodity
Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

conditions:

Linked Interest

Commodity/Commoditi
es/Commodity
Index/Basket of
Commodity Indices:

Formula for calculating
interest rate including
back up provisions:

Calculation Agent
responsible for making
calculations in respect of
the Notes:

Specified
Period(s)/Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

Business
Convention:

Day

Additional
Centre(s):

Business

Minimum Rate of

[Omission][Materiality]

[ 1]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of Currency Linked
Conditions are not appropriate)

[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)

[The provisions of Annex 4 of the Terms and
Conditions - Additional Terms and Conditions for
Commodity Linked Notes shall apply.]

[ ][which is deemed to be Bullion][in the case the
Commodity is deemed to be Bullion specify any additional
Bullion Business Day Centre(s): [ 1]

[ ]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/
Preceding Business Day Convention/specify other]
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Interest:

(viii) Maximum  Rate  of

Interest:

(ix) Day Count Fraction:

(%) Commodity Reference

Price:
(xi) Price Source:
(xii)  Exchange:
(xiii)  Delivery Date:

(xiv)  Pricing Date:

(xv)  Common Pricing:

(xvi)  Additional

Market

Disruption Events:

(xvii) Additional  provisions
for Commodity Trading

Disruption:

(xviii) Disruption Fallback(s):

(xix)  Relevant Number:

(xx)  Commodity
Day:

(xxi)  Trade Date:

(xxii) Weighting:

(xxiii) Specified Price:

Business

[ ]
[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (N.B. Only applicable in
relation to Commodity Linked Notes relating to a Basket)

[specify any applicable additional Market Disruption Events]
[Not Applicable]

[If Commodity Trading Disruption applies, specify any
additional  futures contracts, options contracts or
commodities and the related exchange to which Trading
Disruption relates. Also specify any Fallback Reference
Price]

[As set out in Commodity Linked Conditions]/[ ]
Commodity Index Cut-Off Date: | ]

[Five/[ ] (for purposes of Delayed Publication or
Announcement, Postponement and Disruption Fallback)

[Commodity Linked Condition 2 applies/insert other]

[ ]

The weighting to be applied to each item comprising the
Basket is [ ]

(N.B. Only applicable in relation to Commodity Linked
Notes relating to a Basket)

high price]

low price]

average of the high price and the low price]
closing price]

[
[
[
[
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(xxiv) Other

(xxv)

Events

Adjustment
and relevant

consequences:

Knock-in, Knock-out

Provisions:

(A) Knock-in
Determination
Day:

(B) Knock-in Event

©
(D)

(E)

(F)

(G)

(H)

@

and
consequences of
a Knock-in
Event:

Knock-in Level:

Knock-in Period
Beginning Date:

Knock-in Period

Ending Date:
Knock-out
Determination
Day:

Knock- out
Event and

consequences of
a Knock-out
Event:

Knock-out
Level:

Knock-out

[opening price]

[bid price]

[asked price]

[average of the bid price and the asked price]
[settlement price]
[official settlement price]
[official price]

[morning fixing]
[afternoon fixing]

[spot price]

[other]

—
[—

[Applicable — the provisions of Commodity Linked
Condition 6 apply to the Notes/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this

paragraph)

—
[—
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(xxvi)

()

(K)

L)

Trigger

Period
Beginning Date:

Knock-out
Period Ending
Date:

Knock-
in/Knock-out
Determination
Day
consequences of
Market
Disruption
Event:

Additional
Knock-
in/Knock-out
Determination
Day Market
Disruption
Event
Adjustments:

Event

Provisions:

(A)

B)

©)

(D)

(E)

(F)

Trigger Event
and

consequences of
a Trigger Event:

Trigger Event
Observation
Date:

Trigger Event
Observation
Period:

Trigger
Percentage:

Trigger Event
Strike Level:

Trigger Event
Observation
Date

[Omission][Market Disruption Applicable][Materiality]

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of Commodity
Linked Conditions are not appropriate)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this

paragraph)
The following Trigger Events apply to the Notes:

[Trigger Event (Closing Observation)]
[specify other and consequences]

[ ]
(N.B. Only applicable where provisions in the Additional

Terms and Conditions for Commodity Linked Notes are not
appropriate)

[ per cent.]]
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consequences of

a Market
Disruption
Event:

(€)) Additional
Trigger Event
Observation
Date Market
Disruption
Event
provisions:

(xxvii) Other terms or special

conditions:

21. Fund Linked Interest Notes

(1)

(1)
(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

Fund/Basket of Funds:

Fund Interests:

Formula for calculating
interest rate including
back up provisions:

Calculation Agent
responsible for making
calculations in respect of
the Notes:

Specified
Period(s)/Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

Business Day

[Omission][ Market Disruption Applicable] [Materiality]

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of Commodity
Linked Conditions are not appropriate)

[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)

[The provisions of Annex 5 of the Terms and Conditions —
Additional Terms and Conditions for Fund Linked Notes
shall apply.]

[ ][The[ ]FundisanETF.]

[[The Exchange for each Fund Share: | 1]
[Related Exchange for each Fund Share:
Exchanges]]

[ JAIL

[Underlying Index for each ETF: [ 1]

[Exchange for each Fund Share: [ ]]

[Related Exchange for each Fund Share: [ /All Exchanges]]
[Underlying Index: [ 1]

[Applicable Index Composition Percentage: |

(N.B. Include for ETFs)

[l

[ ]

[ ]

[ ]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
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22.

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)
(x1)
(xii)
(xii)
(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)
(xvii)

(xviii)

(xix)

Convention:

Additional
Centre(s):

Minimum
Interest:

Maximum
Interest:

Business
Rate of
Rate of

Day Count Fraction:

Trade Date:

Valuation Date(s):

Valuation Time:

Other Fund Events:

NAV  Trigg
Percentage:

er Event

Fund Volatility Event:

AUM Limit:

Other Adjustment

Events and
consequences:

Other terms
conditions:

relevant

or special

Inflation Index Linked Interest

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

Inflation Index/Inflation

Indices:

Inflation
Sponsor(s):

Index

Formula for calculating

interest rate

including

Convention/Modified Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/specify
other]

[ ] per cent. per annum

[ ] per cent. per annum
[ ]
[ ]
[ ]
[ ]

[insert any additional Fund Events]

[ ]
[specify if required]
[ ]
[ ]

[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)

[The provisions of Annex 6 of the Terms and Conditions —

Additional Terms and Conditions for Inflation Index Linked
Notes shall apply.]

[ ]

(Give or annex details of index/indices)

[ ]

[ ]
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(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)
(xi)
(xii)
(xiii)
(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)
(xvii)
(xviii)
(xix)

(xx)

(xxi)

back up provisions:

Calculation

Agent

responsible for making
calculations in respect of

the Notes:

Specified

Period(s)/Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

Business
Convention:

Additional
Centre(s):

Minimum
Interest:

Maximum
Interest:

Day

Business

Rate of

Rate of

Day Count Fraction:

Trade Date:

Valuation Date(s):

Reference Source(s):

Formula:

Related Bond:

Fallback Bond:

Reference Mo

nth:

Determination Date(s):

Cut-Off Date:

End Date:

Additional
Events:

Disruption

[ ]

[ ]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/specify
other]

[ ] per cent. per annum

[ ] per cent. per annum

[ ]

[ ]

[ ]

[ ]

[ ]

[Applicable] / [Not Applicable]

The Related Bond is: | ] [Fallback Bond]
The issuer of the Related Bond is: [ ]
[Applicable] / [Not Applicable]

[ ]

[ ]

[ ]

[ ]

(This is necessary whenever Fallback Bond is Applicable)

[As per Inflation Index Linked Conditions] / [Specify other]
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(xxii) Other Adjustment

Events and relevant
consequences:

(xxiii) Other terms or special

conditions:

[ ]

[ ]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

23.

24.

Issuer Call:

(1)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Optional ~ Redemption
Date(s):

Optional  Redemption
Amount(s) of each Note
and method, if any, of
calculation of such
amount(s):

If redeemable in part:

(A) Minimum
Redemption
Amount:

(B) Maximum
Redemption
Amount:

Notice period (if other
than as set out in the
Conditions):

Investor Put:

(1)

(ii)

(iii)

Optional ~ Redemption
Date(s):

Optional ~ Redemption
Amount(s) of each Note
and method, if any, of
calculation of such
amount(s):

Notice period (if other
than as set out in the

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)

[ ]
[ ] per Calculation Amount
[ ]
[ ]
[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)

[ ]
[ ] per Calculation Amount
[ ]
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25.

26.

27.

Conditions):

Final Redemption Amount of
each Note:

Early Redemption Amount(s) of
each  Notes payable on
redemption for taxation reasons
or on an event of default or on
an illegality (or, where otherwise
required for purposes of any
other  relevant  redemption
specified in the Conditions
and/or the method of calculating
the same (if required or if
different from that set out in
Condition 7(E)):
Linked

Index Redemption

Notes:

(i) Index/Basket of Indices/
Index Sponsor(s):

(i1) Calculation Agent
responsible for making
calculations in respect of
the Notes:

(i)  Final
Amount:

Redemption

([ ] per Calculation Amount/specify other/Not
Applicable (For Index Linked, Equity Linked, Currency
Linked, Commodity Linked, Fund Linked Redemption Notes
and Inflation Index Linked Redemption Notes state "Not
Applicable" and complete relevant section in paragraphs [26]
—[32] below)]

(N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is other than 100 per
cent. of the nominal value the Notes will be derivative
securities for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive and
the requirements of Annex XII to the Prospectus Directive
Regulation will apply.)

[ /Market Value less Associated Costs /Other] per
Calculation Amount

(N.B. In the case of Index Linked, Equity Linked, Currency
Linked, Commodity Linked, Fund Linked and Inflation Index
Linked or where otherwise relevant, consider deducting the
cost to the Issuer and/or its dffiliates of unwinding or
adjusting any underlying or related funding and/or hedging
arrangements in respect of the Notes)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)

[The provisions of Annex 1 of the Terms and Conditions —
Additional Terms and Conditions for Index Linked Notes
shall apply.]

[ ]

[The [
[The Index Currency for the [
The Index Composition Percentage is [20] [
normally 20 per cent.]

] Index is a Multi-Exchange Index]
]Indexis|[ ]]
] per cent. [NB

[ ]

[ ] per Calculation Amount

(N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is other than 100 per
cent. of the nominal value the Notes will be derivative
securities for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive and
the requirements of Annex XII to the Prospectus Directive
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(iv)

v)

(vi)

(b)

(vii)
(viii)
(ix)
(x)
(x1)
(xii)

Averaging:

Index Performance:

(A) Best Performing
Index:

(B) Worst
Performing
Index:

Exchange Rate:

Weighting:

Exchange(s):
Related Exchange:
Valuation Date(s):
Valuation Time:
Observation Date(s):

Observation Period:

Regulation will apply.)
[The Averaging Dates are [ 1]

[In the event that an Averaging Date is a Disrupted Day,
[Omission/ Postponement/ Modified Postponement] will

apply.]
[Applicable - (insert formula)/Not Applicable]

[Applicable — the Best Performing Index means, with respect
to [a Valuation Date, an Observation Date, an Averaging
Date or a Mandatory Early Termination Valuation Date,
(specify as applicable/other)[, as the case may be,]] the
Index having the highest Index Performance provided that if
[both][two or more] Indices have the same highest Index
Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall determine
which Index shall constitute the Best Performing Index for
such date/Not Applicable]

[Applicable — the Worst Performing Index means, with
respect to [a Valuation Date, an Observation Date, an
Averaging Date or a Mandatory Early Termination
Valuation Date (specify as applicable/other)[, as the case
may be,|] the Index having the lowest Index Performance
provided that if [both][two or more] Indices have the same
lowest Index Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall
determine which Index shall constitute the Worst Performing
Index for such date]/Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[insert details)

The weighting to be applied to each item comprising the
Basket to ascertain the Index Performance is [ ]. (N.B.

Only applicable in relation to Index Linked Notes relating to
a Basket)

[ ]
[ J/[All Exchanges]
[ ]
[ ]
[ ]

[Applicable — the period from [(and including/but
excluding)] [ Jto (and including/but excluding)
[ ]][Not Applicable]

(N.B. this definition will need to be revised if there is more
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(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

(xvii)

Disrupted Day:

Trade Date:

Additional  Disruption

Events:

Other Adjustment

Events and relevant

consequences:

Knock-in, Knock-out

Provisions:

(A) Knock-in
Determination
Day:

(B) Knock-in Event
and
consequences of
a Knock-in
Event:

©) Knock-in Level:

(D) Knock-in Period
Beginning Date:

(E) Knock-in Period
Ending Date:

(F) Knock-in
Valuation Time:

(G) Knock-out
Determination
Day:

than one Observation Period)

If a Valuation Date, an Averaging Date, an Observation Date
or a Mandatory Early Termination Valuation Date, as the
case may be, is a Disrupted Day, the relevant level or price
will be calculated [insert calculation method)

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions in Index Linked
Conditions are not appropriate)

[l ]/Not Applicable]

The following Additional Disruption Events apply to the
Notes:

[Change of Law]

[Hedging Disruption]

[Increased Cost of Hedging]

[Insert other Additional Disruption Event(s)]

[ ]

[Applicable — the provisions of Index Linked Condition 6
apply to the Notes/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

92



(xviii)

(H)

@

()

(K)

L)

(M)

N)

©)

Trigger

Knock- out
Event and
consequences of
a Knock-out
Event:

Knock-out
Level:

Knock-out
Period
Beginning Date:

Knock-out
Period Ending
Date:

Knock-out
Valuation Time:

Knock-
in/Knock-out
Determination
Day
consequences of
a Disrupted
Day:

Knock-
in/Knock-out
intraday
valuation
consequences of
disruption:

Additional
Knock-
in/Knock-out
Determination
Day Disrupted
Day provisions:

Event

Provisions:

(A)

Trigger Event
and
consequences of
a Trigger Event:

—
[—

[Omission][Postponement]

[Omission][Materiality]

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of Index Linked
Conditions are not appropriate)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

The following Trigger Events apply to the Notes:
[Trigger Event (Closing Observation)]

[Trigger Event (Intraday Observation)]
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(xix)

(B)

©

(D)

(E)

(F)

(G)

(H)

Mandatory

Trigger Event
Observation
Date:

Trigger Event
Valuation Time:

Trigger
Percentage:

Trigger Event
Strike Level:

Trigger Event
Observation
Date
consequences of
a Disrupted
Day:
Trigger Event
intraday
valuation
consequences of
disruption:

Additional
Trigger Event
Observation
Date Disrupted
Day provisions:

Early

Termination:

(A)

(B)

©

Mandatory
Early
Termination
Amount:

Mandatory
Early
Termination
Calculation
Amount:

Mandatory

[specify other and consequences]

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Index Linked Notes are not
appropriate)

[ ]

[ per cent.]]

[Omission][Postponement]

[Omission][Materiality]

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of Index Linked
Conditions are not appropriate)

[Applicable - the provisions of Index Linked Condition §
apply to the Notes/Not Applicable]

(If Not Applicable, delete the following sub-paragraphs)

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of Index Linked
Conditions are not appropriate)

[Each Calculation Amount][specify other]

[ ]
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28.

(xx)

Equity
Notes:

(1)

(i)

(iii)

Early
Termination
Date:
(D) Mandatory
Early
Termination
Event:

(E) Mandatory
Early
Termination
Level:

(F) Mandatory
Early
Termination
Rate:

(G) Mandatory

Early

Termination

Valuation Date:

(H) Mandatory

Early

Termination

Valuation Time:

Other terms or special
conditions:

Linked Redemption

Share(s) / Basket of
Shares:

Calculation Agent
responsible for making
calculations in respect of
the Notes:

Final
Amount:

Redemption

[ ]
[ ]

(N.B. Specify if consequences of a Disrupted Day are other
than as provided in the Index Linked Conditions)

[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)

[The provisions of Annex 2 of the Terms and Conditions —
Additional Terms and Conditions for Equity Linked Notes
shall apply.]

[ ]

[ ] per Calculation Amount

(N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is other than 100 per
cent. of the nominal value the Notes will be derivative
securities for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive and
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(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)
(ix)
(x)
(xi)
(xii)

(xiii)

Averaging:

Share Performance:

(A) Best Performing
Share:

(B) Worst
Performing
Share:

Exchange Rate:

Weighting:

Exchange(s):
Related Exchange:
Valuation Date(s):
Valuation Time:
Observation Date(s):

Observation Period:

the requirements of Annex XII to the Prospectus Directive
Regulation will apply.)

[The Averaging Dates are [ 1]

[In the event that an Averaging Date is a Disrupted Day,
[Omission/Postponement/Modified  Postponement]  will

apply.]
[ ]

[Applicable — the Best Performing Share means, with respect
to [a Valuation Date, an Observation Date or an Averaging
Date, (specify as applicable/other)|, as the case may be,]]| the
Share having the highest Share Performance provided that if
[both][two or more] Shares have the same highest Share
Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall determine
which Share shall constitute the Best Performing Share for
such date/Not Applicable]

[Applicable — the Worst Performing Share means, with
respect to [a Valuation Date, an Observation Date or an
Averaging Date, (specify as applicable/other)[, as the case
may be,]] the Share having the lowest Share Performance
provided that if [both][two or more] Shares have the same
lowest Share Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall
determine which Share shall constitute the Worst Performing
Share for such date]/Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[insert details]

The weighting to be applied to each item comprising the
Basket to ascertain the Share Performance is | 1. (N.B.

Only applicable in relation to Equity Linked Notes relating
to a Basket)

[ ]
[ J/[All Exchanges]
[ ]
[ ]

[ ]

[Applicable — the period from [(and including/but
excluding)] [ ] to (and including/but excluding)
[ ]1[Not Applicable]

(N.B. this definition will need to be revised if there is more
than one Observation Period)
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(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

(xvii)

(xviii)

(xix)

(xx)

Disrupted Day:

Tender Offer:

Share Substitution:

Trade Date:

Additional ~ Disruption

Events:

Other Adjustment
Events and relevant
consequences:

Knock-in, Knock-out

Provisions:

©) Knock-in
Determination
Day:

(D) Knock-in Event

(E)
(F)

and
consequences of
a Knock-in
Event:

Knock-in Level:

Knock-in Period
Beginning Date:

[If a Valuation Date, an Averaging Date or an Observation
Date, as the case may be, is a Disrupted Day, the relevant
price will be calculated [insert calculation method).

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions in Equity Linked
Conditions are not appropriate)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[If Applicable: Share Substitution Criteria is [ 11

[ ]

The following Additional Disruption Events apply to the
Notes:

[Change of Law]

[Hedging Disruption]

[Increased Cost of Hedging]

[Increased Cost of Stock Borrow]

[Initial Stock Loan Rate: [ ]

[Insolvency Filing]

[Loss of Stock Borrow]

[Maximum Stock Loan Rate: [ ]]

[Insert other Additional Disruption Event(s)]

[ ]

[Applicable — the provisions of Equity Linked Condition 12
apply to the Notes/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)
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(xxi)

(G

(H)

@

Q)

(K)

L)

M)

N)

©)

(P)

Q)

Trigger

Knock-in Period
Ending Date:

Knock-in
Valuation Time:

Knock-out
Determination
Day:

Knock- out
Event and
consequences of
a Knock-out
Event:

Knock-out
Level:

Knock-out
Period
Beginning Date:

Knock-out
Period  Ending
Date:

Knock-out
Valuation Time:

Knock-
in/Knock-out
Determination
Day
consequences of
a Disrupted Day:

Knock-
in/Knock-out
intraday
valuation
consequences of
disruption:

Additional
Knock-
in/Knock-out
Determination
Day Disrupted
Day provisions:

Event

Provisions:

[Omission][Postponement]

[Omission][Materiality]

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of Index Linked
Conditions are not appropriate)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
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(xxii)

(A)

(B)

©

(D)

(E)

()

G

(H)

Mandatory

Trigger Event
and
consequences of

a Trigger Event:

Trigger  Event
Observation
Date:

Trigger  Event
Valuation Time:

Trigger
Percentage:

Trigger  Event
Strike Level:

Trigger  Event
Observation
Date
consequences of
a Disrupted Day:
Trigger  Event
intraday
valuation
consequences of
disruption:

Additional
Trigger  Event
Observation
Date Disrupted
Day provisions:

Early

Termination:

(A)

Mandatory
Early
Termination
Amount:

paragraph)

The following Trigger Events apply to the Notes:
[Trigger Event (Closing Observation)]

[Trigger Event (Intraday Observation)]

[specify other and consequences]

[ ]
(N.B. Only applicable where provisions in the Additional

Terms and Conditions for Index Linked Notes are not
appropriate)
[ ]

[ percent.]]

[Omission][Postponement]

[Omission][Materiality]

[ ]
(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of Index Linked

Conditions are not appropriate)

[Applicable - the provisions of Equity Linked Condition 14
apply to the Notes/Not Applicable]
(If Not Applicable, delete the following sub-paragraphs)

[ ]
(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of Index Linked

Conditions are not appropriate)

99



29.

(xxiii)

(xxiv)

(B)

©

(D)

(E)

(F)

G

(H)

Mandatory Early
Termination
Calculation
Amount:

Mandatory Early
Termination
Date:

Mandatory Early
Termination
Event:

Mandatory Early
Termination
Level:

Mandatory Early
Termination
Rate:

Mandatory Early
Termination
Valuation Date:

Mandatory Early
Termination
Valuation Time:

Other terms or special
conditions:

GDR/ADR
Notes:

Linked

Currency Linked Redemption

Notes:

(1)

(i)

Base

Currency/Subject

Currency:

Currency Price:

[Each Calculation Amount][specify other]

[ ]
[ ]

(N.B. Specify if consequences of a Disrupted Day are other
than as provided in the Index Linked Conditions)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)

[The provisions of Annex 3 of the Terms and Conditions —
Additional Terms and Conditions for Currency Linked Notes
shall apply.]

[ ]

(where the Notes relate to a Basket of Currencies, state each
Base Currency and Subject Currency)

[ ]

(N.B. Complete only if different from definition contained in
Annex 3 of the Terms and Conditions - Additional Terms and

100



(iii)

(iv)
)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

FX Market Disruption

Event(s):

FX Price Source(s):
Specified Financial
Centre(s):

Calculation Agent

responsible for making

calculations in respect of

the Notes:

Final

Redemption

Amount:

Averaging:

Currency Performance

(A)

B)

Best Performing
Reference
Exchange Rate:

Worst
Performing
Reference
Exchange Rate:

Conditions for Currency Linked Notes)

[As defined in sub-paragraph [(x)/(y)] of the definition of
"Currency Price" in Currency Linked Condition 2]

(N.B. Applicable where the Notes relate to a basket of
Currencies)

Currency Disruption Event: [Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Insert other FX Market Disruption Event(s)]

(N.B. Only complete if Currency Disruption Event and/or
other disruption events should be included as FX Market
Disruption Events)

[ ]

[ ]

[ ] per Calculation Amount

(N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is other than 100 per
cent. of the nominal value the Notes will be derivative
securities for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive and
the requirements of Annex XII to the Prospectus Directive
Regulation will apply.)

Averaging [applies/does not apply] to the Notes. [The
Averaging Dates are [ 1]

[Applicable - (insert formula)/Not Applicable]

[Applicable — the Best Performing Reference Exchange Rate
means, with respect to [a Valuation Date, an Observation
Date or an Averaging Date, (specify as applicable/other)[, as
the case may be,]] the Reference Exchange Rate having the
highest Currency Performance provided that if [both][two or
more]| Reference Exchange Rates have the same highest
Currency Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall
determine which Reference Exchange Rate shall constitute
the Best Performing Reference Exchange Rate for such
date/Not Applicable]

[Applicable — the Worst Performing Reference Exchange
Rate means, with respect to [a Valuation Date, an
Observation Date or an Averaging Date, (specify as
applicable/other)[, as the case may be,]] the Reference
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(x)
(xi)
(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

Valuation Date(s):

Valuation Time:

Observation Date(s):

Observation Period:

Weighting:

Other Adjustment

Events and relevant

consequences:

Trigger Event

Provisions:

(A) Trigger Event
and
consequences of
a Trigger Event:

(B) Trigger Event
Observation
Date:

©) Trigger Event
Observation
Price:

(D) Trigger Event

Valuation Time:

Exchange Rate having the lowest Currency Performance
provided that if [both][two or more] Reference Exchange
Rates have the same lowest Currency Performance, then the
Calculation Agent shall determine which Reference
Exchange Rate shall constitute the Worst Performing
Reference Exchange Rate for such date]/Not Applicable].

[Applicable — the period from [(and including/but
excluding)] [ ] to (and including/but excluding)
[ 1][Not Applicable]

(N.B. this definition will need to be revised if there is more
than one Observation Period)

The weighting to be applied to each item comprising the
Basket to ascertain the Currency Price is [ ].

(N.B. Only applicable in relation to Currency Linked Notes
relating to a Basket)

[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

The following Trigger Events apply to the Notes:
[Trigger Event (Closing Observation)]

[Trigger Event (Intraday Observation)]

[specify other and consequences]

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Currency Linked Notes are not

appropriate)

[ ]
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30.

(xvii)

(E) Trigger
Percentage:

(F) Trigger Event
Strike Price:

(G) Trigger Event
Observation
Date
consequences of
an FX Disrupted
Day:
(H) Trigger Event
intraday
valuation
consequences of
disruption:

q)) Additional
Trigger Event
Observation
Date Disrupted
Day provisions:

Other terms or special
conditions:

Commodity Linked Redemption

Notes:

(1)

(ii)

(iii)

Commodity/Basket  of
Commodities/Commodit
y  Index/Basket  of
Commodity Indices:

Calculation Agent
responsible for making
calculations in respect of
the Notes:

Final
Amount:

Redemption

[ per cent.]]

[Omission][Postponement]

[Omission][Materiality]

[ 1l

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of Currency Linked
Conditions are not appropriate)

[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)

[The provisions of Annex 4 of the Terms and Conditions —
Additional Terms and Conditions for Commodity Linked
Notes shall apply.]

[ ][which is deemed to be Bullion][in the case the
Commodity is deemed to be Bullion specify any additional
Bullion Business Day Centres: [ 11

[ ]

[ ] per Calculation Amount

(N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is other than 100 per
cent. of the nominal value the Notes will be derivative
securities for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive and
the requirements of Annex XII to the Prospectus Directive
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(iv)

)
(vi)
(vii)
(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

Commodity Reference
Price:

Price Source:

Exchange:

Delivery Date:

Pricing Date:

Common Pricing:
Additional Market
Disruption Events:
Additional  provisions

for Commodity Trading
Disruption:

Disruption Fallback(s):
Relevant Number:
Commodity  Business
Day:

Trade Date:

Weighting:

(xvii) Specified Price:

Regulation will apply.)

[ ]
[ ]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable] (N.B. Only applicable in
relation to Commodity Linked Notes relating to a Basket)

[specify any additional Market Disruption Events]
[Not Applicable]

[f Commodity Trading Disruption applies, specify any
additional  futures contracts, options contracts or
commodities and the related exchange to which Trading
Disruption relates. Also specify any Fallback Reference
Price]

[As set out in Commodity Linked Conditions]/[ ]
[Commodity Index Cut-Off Date: | 1]

[Five/®] (for purposes of Delayed Publication or
Announcement, Postponement and Disruption Fallback)

[Commodity Linked Condition 2 applies/insert other]

[ ]

The weighting to be applied to each item comprising the
Basket is [ ]

(N.B. Only applicable in relation to Commodity Linked
Notes relating to a Basket)

high price]

low price]

average of the high price and the low price]
closing price]

opening price]

bid price]

asked price]

average of the bid price and the asked price]
settlement price]

official settlement price]

Irulsvirvelrveils Lralreiroe i )
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(xviii) Other

(xix)

Adjustment
Events and relevant
consequences:

Knock-in, Knock-out

Provisions:

(A) Knock-in
Determination
Day:

(B) Knock-in Event

©
(D)

(E)

(F)

(G)

(H)

@

)

and
consequences of
a Knock-in
Event:

Knock-in Level:

Knock-in Period
Beginning Date:

Knock-in Period

Ending Date:
Knock-out
Determination
Day:

Knock- out
Event and

consequences of
a Knock-out
Event:

Knock-out
Level:

Knock-out
Period
Beginning Date:

Knock-out
Period Ending

[official price]
[morning fixing]
[afternoon fixing]
[spot price]
[other]

[ ]

[Applicable — the provisions of Commodity Linked
Condition 6 apply to the Notes/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[ | (Complete by reference to Commodity Reference
Price)

[ ]

[ | (Complete by reference to Commodity Reference
Price)

105



(xx)

(K)

(L)

Trigger

Date:

Knock-
in/Knock-out
Determination
Day
consequences of
Market
Disruption
Event:

Additional
Knock-
in/Knock-out
Determination
Day Market
Disruption
Event
Adjustments:

Event

Provisions:

(A)

B)

©

(D)

(E)

(F)

Trigger Event
and
consequences of
a Trigger Event:

Trigger Event
Observation
Date:

Trigger Event
Observation
Period:

Trigger
Percentage:

Trigger Event
Strike Level:

Trigger Event
Observation
Date
consequences of
a Market
Disruption
Event:

[Omission][Market Disruption Applicable][Materiality]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of Commodity
Linked Conditions are not appropriate)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

The following Trigger Events apply to the Notes:
[Trigger Event (Closing Observation)]
[specify other and consequences]

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Commodity Linked Notes are not

appropriate)

[ ]

[ per cent.]]

[Omission][ Market Disruption Applicable] [Materiality]
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(xxi)

(xxii)

(G) Additional
Trigger Event

Observation
Date Market
Disruption
Event
provisions:
Mandatory Early
Termination:

(A) Mandatory
Early
Termination
Amount:

(B) Mandatory
Early
Termination
Calculation
Amount:

©) Mandatory
Early
Termination
Date:

(D) Mandatory
Early
Termination
Event:

(E) Mandatory
Early
Termination
Level:

(F) Mandatory
Early
Termination
Rate:

(G) Mandatory
Early
Termination
Valuation Date:

Other terms or special
conditions:

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of Commodity
Linked Conditions are not appropriate)

[Applicable - the provisions of Commodity Linked
Condition 8 apply to the Notes/Not Applicable]

(If Not Applicable, delete the following sub-paragraphs)

[ ]

(N.B. Only applicable where provisions of Commodity
Linked Conditions are not appropriate)

[The Calculation Amount][specify other]

[ ]
[ ]

(N.B. Specify if consequences of a Market Event Disruption
are other than as provided in the Commodity Linked
Conditions)
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31.

Fund Linked Redemption Notes:

(i)

(1)
(iii)

(iv)

)
(vi)
(vii)
(viii)

(ix)

(x)

Fund/Basket of Funds:
Fund Interest(s):
Calculation Agent

responsible for making
calculation in respect of
the Notes:

Final Redemption
Amount:

Trade Date:
Valuation Date(s):
Valuation Time:
Other Fund Events:

NAV  Trigger Event
Percentage:

Fund Volatility Event:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)

[The provisions of Annex 5 of the Terms and Conditions —

Additional Terms and Conditions for Fund Linked Notes
shall apply.]

[ ]
[[The [ ] Fund is an ETF]
[Exchange for each Fund Share: [ ]]

[Related Exchange for each Fund Share: | /All
Exchanges]]

[Underlying Index: [ ]]

[Applicable Index Composition Percentage: [ %]] (NB
normally 20%)

(N.B. Include for ETFs)

[ ]

[ ] per Calculation Amount

(N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is other than 100 per
cent. of the nominal value the Notes will be derivative
securities for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive and

the requirements of Annex XII to the Prospectus Directive
Regulation will apply.)

[insert any additional Fund Events]

[ ]

[specify if required]
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32.

(xi) AUM Limit:

(xii)  Other Adjustment
Events and relevant
consequences:

(xiii)  Other terms or special
conditions:

Inflation Index Linked

Redemption Notes:

(i) Inflation Index/Inflation
Indices:

(i1) Inflation Index
Sponsor(s):

(iii) Calculation Agent
responsible for making
calculation in respect of
the Notes:

(iv) Final Redemption
Amount:

V) Trade Date:

(vi) Valuation Date(s):

(vil)  Reference Source(s):

(viii)  Formula:

(ix) Related Bond:

(x) Fallback Bond:

[specify if required]

[ ]

[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)

[The provisions of Annex 6 of the Terms and Conditions —

Additional Terms and Conditions for Inflation Index Linked
Notes shall apply.]

[ ]

(Give or annex details of index/indices)

[ ]

[ ]

[ ] per Calculation Amount

(N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is other than 100 per
cent. of the nominal value the Notes will be derivative
securities for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive and
the requirements of Annex XII to the Prospectus Directive
Regulation will apply.)

[ ]

[ ]

[ ]

[ ]

[Applicable] / [Not Applicable]
The Related Bond is: [ ] [Fallback Bond]
The issuer of the Related Bond is: [ ]

[Applicable] / [Not Applicable]
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33.

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

(xvii)

Reference Month:
Determination Date(s):

Cut-Off Date:

End Date:

Additional  Disruption
Events:

Other Adjustment
Events and relevant
consequences:

Other terms or special
conditions:

Physical Delivery Notes:

(1)

(i)
(iif)
(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

Relevant Asset(s):
Entitlement:
Cut-Off Date:

Guaranteed Cash

Settlement Amount:

Failure to Deliver due to
[liquidity:

Delivery provisions for
Entitlement if different
from Physical Delivery
Notes Conditions:

Settlement Business

Day:

—
[—

[ ]

(This is necessary whenever Fallback Bond is Applicable)

[As per Inflation Index Linked Conditions] / [Specify other]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of
this paragraph)

[Cash Settlement/Physical Delivery/Cash Settlement and/or
Physical Delivery] (If Cash Settlement and/or Physical
Delivery specified, specify details for determining in what
circumstances Cash Settlement or Physical Delivery will

apply)
[The provisions of Annex 7 of the Terms and

Conditions - Additional Terms and Conditions for Physical
Delivery Notes shall apply.]

[ ]
[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
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(viii)

(ix)

Issuer's option to vary

Settlement:

Other terms or special
Conditions:

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (N.B. Option will apply unless
specified as Not Applicable. If Applicable, complete relevant
Cash Settlement provisions)

[ ]

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

34.

35.

36.

37.

Form of Notes:

(i) New Global Note:

(i1) Reference Item Linked
Note:

Payment Day:

Additional Financial Centre(s)

or

other

special

provisions

Each Tranche of Notes will be in bearer form.

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent
Global Note which is exchangeable for definitive Notes [on
60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an Exchange
Event].]

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for definitive Notes
on and after the Exchange Date.]

[Permanent Global Note exchangeable for definitive Notes
[on 60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an Exchange
Event/at any time at the request of the Issuer].]

[Notes shall not be physically delivered in Belgium except to
a clearing system, a depository or other institution for the
purpose of their immobilisation in accordance with article 4
of the Belgium Law of 14 December 2005] [/nclude if Notes
are to be offered in Belgium.)

(Ensure that this is consistent with the wording in the "Form
of the Notes" section in the Base Prospectus and the Notes
themselves. N.B. The exchange upon notice/at any time
options should not be expressed to be applicable if the
Specified Denomination of the Notes in item 6 includes
language substantially to the following effect:

"[€100,000 and integral multiples of [€1,000] in excess
thereof up to and including [€199,000]. No Notes in definitive
form will be issued with a denomination above [€199,000]."
Furthermore, such Specified Denomination construction is
not permitted in relation to any issue of Notes which is to be
represented on issue by a Temporary Global Note
exchangeable for Definitive Notes.)"

[Yes][No]

[Yes][No]

[Following/Modified Following]

[Not Applicable/give details]
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38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

relating to Payment Dates:

Talons for future Coupons or
Receipts to be attached to
Definitive Notes (and dates on
which such Talons mature):

Details relating to Partly Paid
Notes: amount of each payment
comprising the Issue Price and
date on which each payment is
to be made and consequences of
failure to pay, including any
right of the Issuer to forfeit the
Notes and interest due on late
payment:

Details relating to Instalment
Notes:

i) Instalment Amount(s):
(i1) Instalment Date(s):

Redenomination applicable:

Other final terms:

DISTRIBUTION

43.

44,

Method of distribution:

(i) If syndicated, [names
and addresses]  of
Managers [and
underwriting
commitments] ":

(Note that this item relates to the place of payment and not
Interest Period end dates to which items 14(iii), 16(vi),
17mi), 18(xi), 19(vi) and 20(vii) relate)

[Yes/No][If yes, give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]

(NB: a new form of Temporary Global Note and/or
Permanent Global Note may be required for Partly Paid
issues)

[Not Applicable/give details]
[Not Applicable/give details]
Redenomination [not] applicable

[(If Redenomination is applicable, specify the terms of
Redenomination in the Final Terms))]

[Not Applicable/give details]

(When adding any other final terms consideration should be
given as to whether such amendments would be acceptable as
Final Terms or whether such terms constitute "significant
new factors” and consequently trigger the need for a
supplement to the Base Prospectus under Article 16 of the
Prospectus Directive or the use of a Securities Note or
"unitary” Prospectus.) [(Consider including a term providing
for tax certification if required to enable interest to be paid
gross by issuers.)|

[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]

[Not Applicable/give  names, addresses  and

underwriting commitments]']

[and

(Including names and addresses of entities agreeing to
underwrite the issue on a firm commitment basis and names
and addresses of the entities agreeing to place the issue
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45.

46.

47.

48.

(i1) Date of Subscription
Agreement :

(ii1) Stabilising Manager(s)
(if any):

If non-syndicated, name [and
address]” of relevant Dealer:

U.S. Selling Restrictions:

Non exempt Offer:

Additional selling restrictions:

without a firm commitment or on a "best efforts” basis if such
entities are not the same as the Managers)

[Not Applicable/give name]

[Not Applicable/give Name [and address]']

The Notes, any guarantee thereof and any Entitlement have
not been and will not be registered under the United States
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (Securities Act) or under
any state securities laws and the Notes may not be offered or
soldwithin the United States or to, or for the account or
benefit of, any US Person (as defined in Regulation S under
the Securities Act). Furthermore, trading in the Notes has not
been approved by the United States Commodity Futures
Trading Commission (CFTC) under the United States
Commodity Exchange Act, as amended (CEA).

[TEFRA D/TEFRA not applicable]

[Not Applicable] [An offer of the Notes may be made by the
Managers [and [specify names [and addresses] of other
financial intermediaries making non-exempt offers, to the
extent known OR consider a generic description of other
parties involved in non-exempt offers (e.g. "other parties
authorised by the Managers") or (if relevant) note that other
parties may make non-exempt offers in the Public Offer
Jurisdictions during the Offer Period, if not known]] (together
with the Managers, the Financial Intermediaries) other than
pursuant to Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive in
[specify relevant Member State(s) - which must be
jurisdictions where the Base Prospectus and any supplements
have been passported (in addition to the jurisdiction where
approved and published)] (Public Offer Jurisdictions)
during the period from [specify date] until [specify date or a
formula such as "the Issue Date" or "the date which falls [ ]
Business Days thereafter"] (Offer Period). See further Part
B below.

(N.B. Consider any local regulatory requirements necessary
to be fulfilled so as to be able to make a non-exempt offer in
relevant jurisdictions. No such offer should be made in any
relevant jurisdiction until those requirements have been met.
Non-exempt offers may only be made into jurisdictions in
which the base prospectus (and any supplement) has been
notified/passported.)

[Not Applicable/give details]

113



PURPOSE OF FINAL TERMS

These Final Terms comprise the final terms required for issue [and] [public offer in the Public Offer
Jurisdictions] [and] [admission to the Official List and trading on the regulated market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange] of the Notes described herein pursuant to the Structured Note
Programme of [UniCredit S.p.A./UniCredit Bank Ireland p.l.c./UniCredit International Bank
(Luxembourg) S.A.] [guaranteed by UniCredit S.p.A.].

RESPONSIBILITY

[[Subject as provided below,] [each of] the Issuer [and the Guarantor] accept[s] responsibility for the
information contained in these Final Terms.] [The information relating to ® [and ®] contained herein
has been accurately extracted from [insert information source(s)]. The Issuer [and the Guarantor]
accept[s] responsibility for the accuracy of such extraction but accept no further or other responsibility

in respect of such information. ]

Signed on behalf of [name of the Issuer]:

Duly authorised Duly authorised

[Signed on behalf of the Guarantor:

Duly authorised Duly authorised]
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PART B — OTHER INFORMATION

LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

6))] Listing and Admission

to trading:

(i1) Estimate of  total

expenses related
admission to trading: "

RATINGS

Ratings:

to

[Application [has been]/[will be] made by the Issuer (or on
its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on, [the
regulated market of], and listed on the Official List of, the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange [with effect from [ 1]
[Application is expected to be made by the Issuer (or on
its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on, [the
regulated market of,] and listed on the Official List of, the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange with effect from [ ].] [Not
Applicable.]

(Where documenting a fungible issue need to indicate that
original securities are already admitted to trading)

[ ]

[The Notes to be issued [[have been]/[are expected to be]]
rated [insert details] by [insert the legal name of the
relevant credit rating agency entity(ies)]

[Need to include a brief explanation of the meaning
of the ratings if this has previously been published by
the rating provider.]

(The above disclosure should reflect the rating
allocated to Notes of the type being issued under the
Programme generally or, where the issue has been
specifically rated, that rating.)

[[{nsert the legal name of the relevant credit rating agency
entity] is established in the FEuropean Union and is
registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as
amended). As such [insert the legal name of the relevant
credit rating agency entity] is included in the list of credit
rating agencies published by the European Securities and
Markets Authority on its website in accordance with such
Regulation.]

[[Insert the legal name of the relevant non-EU credit
rating agency entity] is not established in the European
Union and is not registered in accordance with Regulation
(EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended).Insert the legal name of
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the relevant non-EU credit rating agency entity] is
therefore not included in the list of credit rating agencies
published by the European Securities and Markets
Authority on its website in accordance with such
Regulation.]

[[Insert the legal name of the relevant non-EU credit
rating agency entity] is not established in the European
Union and has not applied for registration under
Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended) (the CRA
Regulation). The ratings [[have been]/[are expected to
be]] endorsed by [insert the legal name of the relevant
EU-registered credit rating agency entity] in accordance
with the CRA Regulation. [Insert the legal name of the
relevant EU-registered credit rating agency entity] is
established in the European Union and registered under
the CRA Regulation. As such [insert the legal name of the
relevant EU credit rating agency entity] is included in the
list of credit rating agencies published by the European
Securities and Markets Authority on its website in
accordance with the CRA Regulation.]

[[Insert the legal name of the relevant non-EU credit
rating agency entity] is not established in the European
Union and has not applied for registration under
Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended) (the CRA
Regulation), but it [is]/[has applied to be] certified in
accordance with the CRA Regulation [and it is included in
the list of credit rating agencies published by the European
Securities and Markets Authority on its website in
accordance with the CRA Regulation]/[although
notification of the corresponding certification decision has
not yet been provided by the relevant competent authority
and [insert the legal name of the relevant non-EU credit
rating agency entity] is not included in the list of credit
rating agencies published by the European Securities and
Markets Authority on its website in accordance with the
CRA Regulation].]

[[{nsert the legal name of the relevant credit rating agency
entity] is established in the European Union and has
applied for registration under Regulation (EC) No.
1060/2009 (as amended), although notification of the
corresponding registration decision has not yet been
provided by the relevant competent authority[ and [insert
the legal name of the relevant credit rating agency entity]
is not included in the list of credit rating agencies
published by the European Securities and Markets
Authority on its website in accordance with such
Regulation.].]

[[Insert the legal name of the relevant non-EU credit
rating agency entity] is not established in the European
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Union and has not applied for registration under
Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended) (the CRA
Regulation). However, the application for registration
under the CRA Regulation of [insert the legal name of the
relevant EU credit rating agency entity that applied for
registration], which is established in the European Union,
disclosed the intention to endorse credit ratings of [insert
the legal name of the relevant non-EU credit rating
agency entity][, although notification of the corresponding
registration decision has not yet been provided by the
relevant competent authority and [insert the legal name of
the relevant EU credit rating agency entity] is not
included in the list of credit rating agencies published by
the European Securities and Markets Authority on its
website in accordance with the CRA Regulation].]]

INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE

[Save for any fees payable to the [Managers/Dealers], so far as the Issuer is aware, no person
involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest material to the offer — amend as appropriate
if there are other interests)

[(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such
matters described constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a
supplement to the Base Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive or the use of
a Securities Note or "unitary” prospectus.)|

REASONS FOR THE OFFER, ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AND TOTAL
EXPENSES™™

(i) [Reasons for offer [ ]

(See "Use of Proceeds"” wording in Base Prospectus — if
reasons for offer different from making profit and/or
hedging certain risks will need to include those reasons
here)

(i1) Estimated net proceeds: | ]

(If proceeds are intended for more than one use will need
to split out and present in order of priority. If proceeds
insufficient to fund all proposed uses state amount and
sources of other funding)

(iii) Estimated total [ ] (Expenses are required to be broken down into
expenses: each principal intended to "use" and presented in order of
priority of such "uses")

(N.B.: If the Notes are derivative securities to which
Annex XII of the Prospectus Directive Regulation applies
(i) above is required where the reasons for the offer are
different from making profit and/or hedging certain risks
regardless of the minimum denomination of the securities
and where this is the case disclosure of net proceeds and

117



total expenses at (ii) and (iii) above are also required.)

YIELD (Fixed Rate Notes
Only)"™

Indication of yield: [ ]

The yield is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis of the
Issue Price. It is not an indication of future yield.

PERFORMANCE OF [INDEX/BASKET OF INDICES], EXPLANATION OF
EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT AND ASSOCIATED RISKS [AND OTHER
INFORMATION CONCERNING THE [INDEX/BASKET OF INDICES] (INDEX
LINKED NOTES ONLY)

[Need to include details of where past and future performance and volatility of [the/each]
index can be obtained, the relevant weighting of each index within a basket of indices and
where pricing information is available]. [Need to include a clear and comprehensive
explanation of how the value of the investment is affected by the underlying and the
circumstances when the risks are most evident.]’

[Need to include the name of [the/each] index, the name of [the/each] index sponsor and a
description if composed by the Issuer and if the index is not composed by the Issuer need to
include details of where the information about [the/each] index can be obtained.]

PERFORMANCE OF [THE SHARE/BASKET OF SHARES], EXPLANATION OF
EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT AND ASSOCIATED RISKS [AND OTHER
INFORMATION CONCERNING [THE SHARE/BASKET OF SHARES]] (EQUITY
LINKED NOTES ONLY)

[Need to include details of the name of [the/each] share company, any security identification
number of the shares, where pricing information about the shares is available, the relevant
weighting of each share within a basket of shares (if relevant) and where past and future
performance and volatility of the [share/basket of shares] can be obtained.] [Need to include
a clear and comprehensive explanation of how the value of the investment is affected by the
underlying and the circumstances when the risks are most evident.]

PERFORMANCE OF [RATE[S] OF EXCHANGE/CURRENCIES], EXPLANATION
OF EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT AND ASSOCIATED RISKS [AND
OTHER INFORMATION CONCERNING [THE [RATE[S] OF
EXCHANGE/FORMULA/CURRENCIES]] (CURRENCY LINKED NOTES ONLY)

[Need to include details of [the/each] currency, the relevant weighting of each currency,
where past and future performance and volatility of the [relevant rates/currencies] can be
obtained.] [Need to include a clear and comprehensive explanation of how the value of the
investment is affected by the underlying and the circumstances when the risks are most
evident.]’

PERFORMANCE OF [THE COMMODITY/BASKET OF
COMMODITIES/COMMODITY INDEX/BASKET OF COMMODITY INDICES],
EXPLANATION OF EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT AND ASSOCIATED
RISKS [AND OTHER INFORMATION CONCERNING [THE
COMMODITY/BASKET OF COMMODITIES/COMMODITY INDEX/BASKET OF
COMMODITY INDICES]] (COMMODITY LINKED NOTES ONLY)
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10.

11.

12.

[Need to include details of [the/each] [commodity/commodity index], where pricing
information about [the/each] [commodity/commodity index] is available, the relevant
weighting of each [commodity/commodity index] within a basket of [commodities/commodity
indices] and where past and future performance and volatility of [the commodity/basket of
commodities/commodity index/basket of commodity indices] can be obtained.] [Need to
include a clear and comprehensive explanation of how the value of the investment is affected
by the underlying and the circumstances when the risks are most evident.]”

PERFORMANCE OF [THE FUND/BASKET OF FUNDS], EXPLANATION OF
EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT AND ASSOCIATED RISKS [AND OTHER
INFORMATION CONCERNING [THE FUND/BASKET OF FUNDS]|] (FUND
LINKED NOTES ONLY)

[Need to include details of [the/each] fund, the relevant weighting of each fund within a
basket of funds and where past and future performance and volatility of [the/each]
[fund/basket of funds] can be obtained.] [Need to include a clear and comprehensive
explanation of how the value of the investment is affected by the underlying and the
circumstances when the risks are most evident.]’

PERFORMANCE OF [INFLATION INDEX/BASKET OF INFLATION INDICES],
EXPLANATION OF EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT AND ASSOCIATED
RISKS [AND OTHER INFORMATION CONCERNING [INFLATION
INDEX/BASKET OF INFLATION INDICES]] (/NFLATION INDEX LINKED NOTES
ONLY)

[Need to include details of where past and future performance and volatility of [the/each]
inflation index can be obtained, the relevant weighting of each inflation index within a basket
of indices and where pricing information is available]. [Need to include a clear and
comprehensive explanation of how the value of the investment is affected by the underlying
and the circumstances when the risks are most evident.]

[Need to include the name of [the/each] inflation index, the name of [the/each] inflation index
sponsor and a description if composed by the Issuer and if the inflation index is not composed
by the Issuer need to include details of where the information about [the/each] inflation index
can be obtained.]’

OPERATIONAL INFORMATION

(1) ISIN Code: [ ]
(i1) Common Code: [ ]
(ii1) CFI Code/other codes: [ [TBC]

(iv) Any clearing system(s) other [Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)]
than Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V.
and Clearstream  Banking,
société  anonmyme and the
relevant identification
number(s):

v) Delivery: Delivery [against/free of | payment
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13.

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Names and addresses of initial
Paying Agents and Calculation
Agent:

Names and addresses of
additional Paying Agent(s) (if
any):

Intended to be held in a manner

which would allow Eurosystem
eligibility.

[ ]

[Yes][No]

[Note that the designation "yes" simply means that
the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited
with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper and
does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be
recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by
the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all
times during their life. Such recognition will
depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem
eligibility criteria.] [include this text if "yes"
selected in which case the Notes must be issued in
NGN form]

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER (PUBLIC OFFER ONLY)** *

(1)
(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

Offer Price:

Conditions to which the offer is
subject:

Time period, including possible
amendments, during which the
offer will be open and
description of the application
process:

Details of the minimum and/or
maximum amount of
application:

Description of possibility to
reduce  subscriptions  and
manner for refunding excess
amount paid by applicants:

Details of the method and time
limits for paying up and
delivering the Notes:

Manner in and date on which
results of the offer are to be
made public:

[Issue Price/Not Applicable/specify]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not applicable/give details]

[Not applicable/give details]

[Not applicable/give details]

[Not applicable/give details]

[Not applicable/give details]
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* 3%k

*ksk

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

Procedure for exercise of any
right of pre-emption,
negotiability of subscription
rights and treatment of

subscription rights not
exercised:
Categories of potential

investors to which the Notes
are offered and whether
tranche(s) have been reserved
for certain countries:

Process for notification to
applicants of the amount
allotted and the indication
whether dealing may begin
before notification is made:

Amount of any expenses and
taxes specifically charged to
the subscriber or purchaser:

Name(s) and address(es), to the
extent known to the Issuer, of
the placers in the various
countries where the offer takes
place.

Delete if the Notes are not derivative securities

Delete if the Notes are derivative securities

Delete if minimum denomination is €100,000 (or its equivalent in the relevant currency as at the date of issue).

[Not applicable/give details]

[Not applicable/give details]

[Not applicable/give details]

[Not applicable/give details]

[None/give details]
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes which will be attached to or (in the case
of Notes issued by UniCredit Ireland) incorporated by reference into each Global Note (as defined
below) and each definitive Note, in the latter case only if permitted by the relevant stock exchange
or other relevant authority (if any) and agreed by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of
issue but, if not so permitted and agreed, such definitive Note will have endorsed thereon or
attached thereto such Terms and Conditions. The applicable Final Terms in relation to any
Tranche of Notes may specify other terms and conditions (including the Additional Terms and
Conditions described below) which shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with
the following Terms and Conditions, replace or modify the following Terms and Conditions for the
purpose of such Notes. The applicable Final Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) will be
endorsed upon, or attached to, each Global Note and definitive Note. Reference should be made to
"Form of the Notes'" for a description of the content of Final Terms which will specify which of
such terms are to apply in relation to the relevant Notes.

The Additional Terms and Conditions contained in Annex 1 in the case of Index Linked Notes,
Annex 2 in the case of Equity Linked Notes, Annex 3 in the case of Currency Linked Notes, Annex
4 in the case of Commodity Linked Notes, Annex 5 in the case of Fund Linked Notes, Annex 6 in
the case of Inflation Index Linked Notes and Annex 7 in the case of Physical Delivery Notes (each
as defined below) will apply to the Notes if specified in the applicable Final Terms.

IMPORTANT NOTICE

THE NOTES DESCRIBED HEREIN (NOTES), ANY GUARANTEE THEREOF AND ANY ENTITLEMENT
HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT OF
1933, AS AMENDED (SECURITIES ACT) OR UNDER ANY STATE SECURITIES LAWS AND THE NOTES
MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR
BENEFIT OF, ANY 'US PERSON' AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT.
FURTHERMORE, TRADING IN THE NOTES HAS NOT BEEN APPROVED BY THE UNITED STATES
CoMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION (CFTC) UNDER THE UNITED STATES
COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT, AS AMENDED (CEA).

The Series of Notes described in the applicable Final Terms (such Notes being hereinafter referred to
as the Notes) are issued by UniCredit S.p.A. (UniCredit or the Parent) or UniCredit Bank Ireland
p.l.c. (UniCredit Ireland) or UniCredit International Bank (Luxembourg) S.A. (UniCredit
International Luxembourg) (or any other company which has become an issuer under the
Programme in accordance with Condition 15) as indicated in the applicable Final Terms (each of
them, the Issuer, which expression shall include any company substituted in place of the Issuer in
accordance with Condition 15). The terms of the guarantee applicable to the Notes issued by
UniCredit Ireland and UniCredit International Luxembourg and provided by UniCredit (in its capacity
as guarantor of Notes issued by UniCredit Ireland and UniCredit International Luxembourg, the
Guarantor, which expression shall include any company substituted in place of the Guarantor in
accordance with Condition 15) are contained in the Deed of Guarantee. This Note is one of a Series
(as defined below) of securities (the Notes) issued by the Issuer. References herein to the "Notes"
shall be references to the Notes of this Series and shall mean:

(1) in relation to any Notes represented by a global Note (a Global Note), units of each Specified
Denomination in the Specified Currency (in the case of Notes) or each security unit

represented by the Global Note (in the case of Certificates);

(i1) any Global Note; and
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(iii) any definitive Notes issued in exchange for a Global Note.

The Notes, the Receipts (as defined below) and the Coupons (as defined below) have the benefit of an
agency agreement dated 26 June 2012 (such agency agreement as amended and/or supplemented
and/or restated from time to time, the Agency Agreement) and made between UniCredit, UniCredit
Ireland, UniCredit International Luxembourg, the Guarantor and Citibank, N.A., London Branch as
principal paying agent (the Principal Paying Agent), KBL European Private Bankers S.A. as paying
agent (together with the Principal Paying Agent, the Paying Agents which expression shall include
any additional or successor paying agents) and the other agents named therein. A calculation agent
(the Calculation Agent) may be appointed in respect of each Series of Notes.

Interest bearing definitive Notes have interest coupons (Coupons) and, if indicated in the applicable
Final Terms, talons for further Coupons (Talons) attached on issue. Any reference herein to Coupons
or coupons shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be deemed to include a reference to Talons or
talons. Definitive Notes repayable in instalments have receipts (Receipts) for the payment of the
instalments of principal (other than the final instalment) attached on issue. Global Notes do not have
Receipts, Coupons or Talons attached on issue.

The Final Terms for this Note (or the relevant provisions thereof) are set out in Part A of the Final
Terms attached to or endorsed on this Note which supplement these Terms and Conditions (the
Terms and Conditions, or the Conditions) and may specify other terms and conditions which shall,
to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with these Terms and Conditions, replace or
modify these Terms and Conditions for the purposes of this Note. References to the applicable Final
Terms are to Part A of the Final Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) attached to or endorsed on
this Note.

Any reference to Noteholders or Holders in relation to any Notes shall mean the holders of the Notes
and shall, in relation to any Notes represented by a Global Note, be construed as provided below.
Any reference herein to Receiptholders shall mean the holders of the Receipts and any reference
herein to Couponholders shall mean the holders of the Coupons and shall, unless the context
otherwise requires, include the holders of the Talons.

As used herein, Tranche means Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing and
admission to trading) and Series means a Tranche of Notes together with any further Tranche or
Tranches of Notes which are (i) expressed to be consolidated and form a single series and (ii) identical
in all respects (including as to listing and admission to trading) except for their respective Issue Dates,
Interest Commencement Dates and/or Issue Prices.

The Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the Couponholders are entitled to the benefit of the Deed of
Covenant (the Deed of Covenant) dated 26 June 2012 and made by the Issuers. The original of the
Deed of Covenant is held by the common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
(each as defined below).

The Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the Couponholders are entitled to the benefit of the Deed of
Guarantee (the Deed of Guarantee) dated 26 June 2012 and made by the Guarantor.

Copies of the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant and the Deed of Guarantee are available for
inspection during normal business hours at the specified office of each of the Paying Agents and the
Luxembourg Listing Agent as long as the Notes are admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange’s regulated market and listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.
Copies of the applicable Final Terms are available for viewing during normal business hours at the
specified office of each of the Agents save that, if this Note is neither admitted to trading on a
regulated market in the European Economic Area nor offered in the European Economic Area in
circumstances where a prospectus is required to be published under the Prospectus Directive, the
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applicable Final Terms will only be obtainable by a Noteholder holding one or more Notes and such
Noteholder must produce evidence satisfactory to the Issuer and the relevant Paying Agent as to its
holding of such Notes and identity. The base prospectus prepared by the Issuer in respect of the Notes
(the Base Prospectus) and, in the case of Notes admitted to trading on the regulated market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the applicable Final Terms will also be published on the website of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu). The Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the
Couponholders are deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the provisions of
the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Deed of Guarantee and the applicable Final Terms
which are applicable to them. The statements in these Terms and Conditions include summaries of,
and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Agency Agreement.

Words and expressions defined in the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Guarantee or used in the
applicable Final Terms shall have the same meanings where used in these Terms and Conditions
unless the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated and provided that, in the event of
inconsistency between the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Guarantee and the applicable Final Terms,
the applicable Final Terms will prevail.

1. Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes are in bearer form and, in the case of definitive Notes, serially numbered, (in the
case of Notes) in the Specified Currency and the Specified Denomination(s) or (in the case of
Certificates) in security units. Notes of one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged
for Notes of another Specified Denomination. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable
Final Terms, the Notes will be issued in Classic Global Note (CGN) form.

This Note may be a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note, an Index
Linked Interest Note, an Equity Linked Interest Note, a Currency Linked Interest Note, a
Commodity Linked Interest Note, a Fund Linked Interest Note, an Inflation Index Linked
Interest Note (each such term as defined in the applicable Final Terms) or a combination of
any of the foregoing depending on the Interest Basis specified in the applicable Final Terms.

This Note may be an Instalment Note, a Partly Paid Note, an Index Linked Redemption Note
(together with Index Linked Interest Notes, Index Linked Notes), an Equity Linked
Redemption Note (together with Equity Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked Notes, which
expression shall include GDR/ADR Linked Notes), a Currency Linked Redemption Note
(together with Currency Linked Interest Notes, Currency Linked Notes), a Commodity
Linked Redemption Note (together with Commodity Linked Interest Notes, Commodity
Linked Notes), a Fund Linked Redemption Note (together with Fund Linked Interest Notes,
Fund Linked Notes), an Inflation Index Linked Redemption Note (together with Inflation
Index Linked Interest Notes, Inflation Index Linked Notes) or a combination of any of the
foregoing, depending upon the Redemption/Payment Basis specified in the applicable Final
Terms. Any of an Index Linked Note, an Equity linked Note, a Currency Linked Note, a
Commodity Linked Note, a Fund Linked Note and an Inflation Index Linked Note will be a
Reference Item Linked Note if so specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Definitive Notes are issued with Coupons attached, unless they are Zero Coupon Notes in
which case references to Coupons and Couponholders in these Terms and Conditions are not
applicable.

If the applicable Final Terms specify that the Note is a Physical Delivery Note, being a Note

to be redeemed by delivery of the Entitlement, Annex 7 to the Terms and Conditions -
Additional Terms and Conditions for Physical Delivery Notes shall apply.
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Subject as set out below, title to the Notes, Receipts and Coupons will pass by delivery. The
Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) and the Paying Agents will (except as
otherwise required by law or as otherwise required by a court of competent jurisdiction or a
public official authority) deem and treat the bearer of any Note, Receipt or Coupon as the
absolute owner thereof (whether or not overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership
or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) for all purposes but, in the
case of any Global Note, without prejudice to the provisions set out in the next succeeding
paragraph.

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear
Bank S.A./N.V. (Euroclear) and/or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme (Clearstream,
Luxembourg), each person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) who is for
the time being shown in the records of Euroclear or of Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder
of a particular nominal amount of such Notes (in which regard any certificate or other
document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as to the nominal amount of such
Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes
save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of
Guaranteed Notes) and the Paying Agents as the holder of such nominal amount of such
Notes for all purposes other than with respect to the payment of principal or interest on such
nominal amount of such Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the relevant Global Note shall
be treated by the Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) and any Paying
Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes in accordance with and subject to
the terms of the relevant Global Note and the expressions "Noteholder" and "holder of Notes"
and related expressions shall be construed accordingly.

Notes which are represented by a Global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the
rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the
case may be.

References to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so
permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system
specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Guaranteed Notes

This Condition 2 applies only to Notes specified in the applicable Final Terms as being
Guaranteed Notes.

If the Notes are specified in the applicable Final Terms to be guaranteed (Guaranteed
Notes), the Guarantor has unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due performance of
all payment and other obligations of the Issuer under the Notes, Receipts and Coupons and
these Conditions. The obligations of the Guarantor in this respect (the Guarantee) are
contained in the Deed of Guarantee.

Status Of The Notes And The Guarantee

The Notes and any relative Receipts and Coupons and (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) the
obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantee constitute direct, unconditional,
unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantor respectively,
ranking equally (subject to any obligations preferred by any applicable law) with all other
unsecured obligations (other than subordinated obligations, if any) of the Issuer and the
Guarantor respectively, present and future and, in the case of the Notes, pari passu and
rateably without any preference among themselves. Any payment by the Guarantor under the
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(A)

Guarantee shall (to the extent of such payment) extinguish the corresponding debt of the
Issuer.

Redenomination
Redenomination

Where redenomination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being applicable, the
Issuer may, without the consent of the Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the
Couponholders on giving prior notice to the Principal Paying Agent, Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg (as applicable) and at least 30 days' prior notice to the Noteholders
in accordance with Condition 14, elect that, with effect from the Redenomination Date
specified in the notice, the Notes shall be redenominated in euro.

The election will have effect as follows:

(a) the Notes and the Receipts shall be deemed to be redenominated in euro in the
denomination of €0.01 with a nominal amount for each Note and Receipt equal to the
principal amount of that Note or Receipt in the Specified Currency, converted into
euro at the Established Rate, provided that, if the Issuer determines, with the
agreement of the Principal Paying Agent, that the then market practice in respect of
the redenomination in euro of internationally offered securities is different from the
provisions specified above, such provisions shall be deemed to be amended so as to
comply with such market practice and the Issuer shall promptly notify the
Noteholders, the stock exchange (if any) on which the Notes may be listed and the
Paying Agents of such deemed amendments;

(b) save to the extent that an Exchange Notice has been given in accordance with
paragraph (d) below, the amount of interest due in respect of the Notes will be
calculated by reference to the aggregate nominal amount of Notes held (or, as the
case may be, in respect of which Coupons are presented for payment) by the relevant
holder and the amount of such payment shall be rounded down to the nearest euro
0.01;

(©) if definitive Notes are required to be issued after the Redenomination Date, they shall
be issued at the expense of the Issuer (i) in the case of Relevant Notes in the
denomination of €100,000 and/or such higher amounts as the Principal Paying Agent
may determine and notify to the Noteholders and any remaining amounts less than
€100,000 shall be redeemed by the Issuer and paid to the Noteholders in euro in
accordance with Condition 6; and (ii) in the case of Notes which are not Relevant
Notes, in the denominations of €1,000, €10,000, €100,000 and (but only to the extent
of any remaining amounts less than €1,000 or such smaller denominations as the
Principal Paying Agent may approve) €0.01 and such other denominations as the
Principal Paying Agent shall determine and notify to the Noteholders;

(d) if issued prior to the Redenomination Date, all unmatured Coupons denominated in
the Specified Currency (whether or not attached to the Notes) will become void with
effect from the date on which the Issuer gives notice (the Exchange Notice) that
replacement euro-denominated Notes, Receipts and Coupons are available for
exchange (provided that such securities are so available) and no payments will be
made in respect of them. The payment obligations contained in any Notes and
Receipts so issued will also become void on that date although those Notes and
Receipts will continue to constitute valid exchange obligations of the Issuer. New
euro-denominated Notes, Receipts and Coupons will be issued in exchange for Notes,
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(B)

(e)

()

€3]

(h)

Receipts and Coupons denominated in the Specified Currency in such manner as the
Principal Paying Agent may specify and as shall be notified to the Noteholders in the
Exchange Notice. No Exchange Notice may be given less than 15 days prior to any
date for payment of principal or interest on the Notes;

after the Redenomination Date, all payments in respect of the Notes, the Receipts and
the Coupons, other than payments of interest in respect of periods commencing
before the Redenomination Date, will be made solely in euro as though references in
the Notes to the Specified Currency were to euro. Payments will be made in euro by
credit or transfer to a euro account (or any other account to which euro may be
credited or transferred) specified by the payee or, at the option of the payee, by a euro
cheque;

if the Notes are Fixed Rate Notes and interest for any period ending on or after the
Redenomination Date is required to be calculated for a period ending other than on an
Interest Payment Date, it will be calculated:

(i) in the case of the Notes represented by a Global Note, by applying the Rate of
Interest to the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Notes
represented by such Global Note; and

(i1) in the case of definitive Notes, by applying the Rate of Interest to the
Calculation Amount,

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and
rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified
Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in
accordance with applicable market convention. Where the Specified Denomination
of a Fixed Rate Note in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the
amount of interest payable in respect of such Fixed Rate Note shall be the product of
the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount
and the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified
Denomination, without any further rounding;

if the Notes are Floating Rate Notes, the applicable Final Terms will specify any
relevant changes to the provisions relating to interest; and

such other changes shall be made to this Condition as the Issuer may decide, after
consultation with the Paying Agents, and as may be specified in the notice, to
conform it to conventions then applicable to instruments denominated in euro.

Definitions

In the Terms and Conditions, the following expressions have the following meanings:

Established Rate means the rate for the conversion of the Specified Currency (including
compliance with rules relating to roundings in accordance with applicable European Union
regulations) into euro established by the Council of the European Union pursuant to Article
140 of the Treaty;

euro means the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and
monetary union pursuant to the Treaty;
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Redenomination Date means (in the case of interest bearing Notes) any date for payment of
interest under the Notes or (in the case of Zero Coupon Notes) any date, in each case specified
by the Issuer in the notice given to the Noteholders pursuant to Condition 4(A) above and
which falls on or after the date on which the country of the Specified Currency first
participates in the third stage of European economic and monetary union;

Relevant Notes means all Notes where the applicable Final Terms provide for a minimum
Specified Denomination in the Specified Currency which is equivalent to at least €100,000
and which are admitted to trading on a regulated market in the European Economic Area; and

Treaty means the Treaty on the functioning of the European Union, as amended.
Interest
Day Count Fraction

Day Count Fraction means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest in
accordance with this Condition 5:

(a) if Actual/Actual (ICMA) is specified in the applicable Final Terms:

) in the case of Notes where the number of days in the relevant period from
(and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the
Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date
(the Accrual Period) is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period
during which the Accrual Period ends, the number of days in such Accrual
Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such
Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Dates (as
specified in the applicable Final Terms) that would occur in one calendar
year; or

(i1) in the case of Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the
Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the sum of:

(A) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the
Determination Period in which the Accrual Period begins divided by
the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period
and (y) the number of Determination Dates that would occur in one
calendar year; and

(B) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the next
Determination Period divided by the product of (x) the number of
days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of
Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year;

(b) if Actual/Actual (ISDA) or Actual/Actual is specified in the applicable Final Terms,
the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of
that Interest Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (1) the actual number of days in
that portion of the Interest Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (2) the
actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a non-leap year
divided by 365);

(©) if Actual/365 (Fixed) is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of
days in the Interest Period divided by 365;
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(e)
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(h)

if Actual/365 (Sterling) is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number
of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Payment
Date falling in a leap year, 366;

if Actual/360 is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in
the Interest Period divided by 360;

if 30/360 (ICMA) is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in
the period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none,
the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (such
number of days being calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day
months) divided by 360.

if 30/360, 360/360 or Bond Basis is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the
number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as
follows:

[360x (Y, — Y))]+[30x(M, —M,)]+ (D, —D))]
360

Day Count Fraction =

where:

"Y," is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period
falls;

"Y," is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day of the Interest Period falls;

"M;" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the
Interest Period falls;

"M," is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately
following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

"D;" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless
such number is 31, in which case D; will be 30; and

"D," is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day
included in the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31 and D, is greater
than 29, in which case D, will be 30;

if 30E/360 or Eurobond Basis is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number
of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as
follows:
[360x (Y, = Y)I+[30x (M, =M )]+(D, —=Dy)]

360

Day Count Fraction =

where:

"Y," is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period
falls;
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"Y," is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day of the Interest Period falls;

"M;" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the
Interest Period falls;

"M," is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately
following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

"D," is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless
such number would be 31, in which case D, will be 30; and

"D," is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day
included in the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D,
will be 30; or

if 30E/360 (ISDA) is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in
the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

[360x (Yo — Y))]+[30x(My —M)]+(Dy D))
360

Day Count Fraction =

where:

"Y," is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period
falls;

"Y," is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day of the Interest Period falls;

"M;" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the
Interest Period falls;

"M," is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately
following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

"D," is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless (i)
that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D,
will be 30; and

"D," is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day
included in the Interest Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not
the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D, will be 30.

In these Terms and Conditions:

Determination Period means each period from (and including) a Determination Date to (but
excluding) the next Determination Date (including, where either the Interest Commencement
Date or the final Interest Payment Date is not a Determination Date, the period commencing
on the first Determination Date prior to, and ending on the first Determination Date falling
after, such date); and
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sub-unit means, with respect to any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such
currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, with respect to
euro, one cent.

Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at
the rate(s) per annum equal to the Rate(s) of Interest. Subject to early redemption of the
Notes, interest will be payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) in each year up to
(and including) the Maturity Date.

If the Notes are in definitive form except as provided in the applicable Final Terms, the
amount of interest payable on each Interest Payment Date in respect of the Fixed Interest
Period ending on (but excluding) such date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount.
Payments of interest on any Interest Payment Date will, if so specified in the applicable Final
Terms, amount to the Broken Amount so specified.

As used in these Terms and Conditions, Fixed Interest Period means the period from (and
including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding)
the next (or first) Interest Payment Date.

Except in the case of Notes in definitive form where an applicable Fixed Coupon Amount or
Broken Amount is specified in the applicable Final Terms, interest shall be calculated in
respect of any period by applying the Rate of Interest to:

(a) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate
outstanding nominal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes represented by such Global
Note or, if they are Partly Paid Notes, the aggregate amount paid up; or

(b) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes in definitive form, the Calculation Amount;

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding
the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such
sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market
convention. Where the Specified Denomination of a Fixed Rate Note in definitive form is a
multiple of the Calculation Amount, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Fixed
Rate Note shall be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for
the Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to
reach the Specified Denomination, without any further rounding.

Interest on Floating Rate Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked Interest Notes,
Currency Linked Interest Notes, Commodity Linked Interest Notes, Fund Linked Interest
Notes and Inflation Index Linked Interest Notes

(a) Interest Payment Dates

Each Floating Rate Note, Index Linked Interest Note, Equity Linked Interest Note,
Currency Linked Interest Note, Commodity Linked Interest Note, Fund Linked
Interest Note and Inflation Index Linked Interest Note bears interest on its
outstanding nominal amount (or, if it is a Partly Paid Note, the amount paid up) from
(and including) the Interest Commencement Date and such interest will be payable in
arrear on either:
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(ii)

the Specified Interest Payment Date(s) in each year specified in the
applicable Final Terms; or

if no Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are specified in the applicable
Final Terms, each date (each such date, together with each Specified Interest
Payment Date, an Interest Payment Date) which falls the number of months
or other period specified as the Specified Period in the applicable Final Terms
after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest
Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

Such interest will be payable in respect of each Interest Period (which
expression shall, in these Terms and Conditions, mean the period from (and
including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to
(but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date).

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms and
(x) if there is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in
which an Interest Payment Date should occur or (y) if any Interest Payment
Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the
Business Day Convention specified is:

(D) in any case where Specified Periods are specified in accordance with
Condition 5(B)(a)(ii) above, the Floating Rate Convention, such
Interest Payment Date (i) in the case of (x) above, shall be the last
day that is a Business Day in the relevant month and the provisions
of (B) below shall apply mutatis mutandis or (ii) in the case of (y)
above, shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day
unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which
event (A) such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the
immediately preceding Business Day and (B) each subsequent
Interest Payment Date shall be the last Business Day in the month
which falls in the Specified Period after the preceding applicable
Interest Payment Date occurred; or

(2) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date
shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day; or

3) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest
Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business
Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in
which event such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to
the immediately preceding Business Day; or

4 the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date
shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

In these Terms and Conditions, Business Day means a day which is both:

(A) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets
settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing
in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London and
each Additional Business Centre specified in the applicable Final
Terms; and
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(B) either (1) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency
other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign
exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business
(including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits)
in the principal financial centre of the country of the relevant
Specified Currency (if other than London and any Additional
Business Centre and which if the Specified Currency is Australian
dollars or New Zealand dollars shall be Sydney or Auckland,
respectively) or (2) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a day on
which the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement
Express Transfer (TARGET2) System (the TARGET2 System) is
open.

Rate of Interest

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes,
Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked Interest Notes, Currency Linked Interest
Notes, Commodity Linked Interest Notes, Fund Linked Interest Notes and Inflation
Index Linked Interest Notes will be determined in the manner specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

(1)

ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the
manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest
for each Interest Period will be the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as
indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any). For the purposes
of this sub-paragraph (i), "ISDA Rate" for an Interest Period means a rate
equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Principal Paying
Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if the Principal Paying Agent
were acting as Calculation Agent for that swap transaction under the terms of
an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as published by the
International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. and as amended and
updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes (the ISDA
Definitions) and under which:

(A) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Final
Terms;

(B) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Final
Terms; and

©) the relevant Reset Date is either (i) if the applicable Floating Rate
Option is based on the London interbank offered rate (LIBOR) or on
the Euro-zone interbank offered rate (EURIBOR), the first day of
that Interest Period or (ii) in any other case, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

For the purposes of this sub-paragraph(i), Floating Rate, Calculation Agent,
Floating Rate Option, Designated Maturity and Reset Date have the

meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Final Terms, the Minimum Rate of
Interest shall be deemed to be zero.
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(i1) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms
as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of
Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be either:

(A) the offered quotation; or

(B) the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place,
with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate which
appears or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at
11.00 a.m. (London time, in the case of LIBOR, or Brussels time, in the case
of EURIBOR) on the Interest Determination Date in question plus or minus
(as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all as
determined by the Principal Paying Agent. If five or more of such offered
quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there
is more than one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the
lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such
quotations) shall be disregarded by the Principal Paying Agent for the
purpose of determining the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of
such offered quotations.

The Agency Agreement contains provisions for determining the Rate of
Interest in the event that the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if, in the
case of (1) above, no such offered quotation appears or, in the case of (2)
above, fewer than three such offered quotations appear, in each case as at the
time specified in the preceding paragraph.

If the Reference Rate from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes is
specified in the applicable Final Terms as being other than LIBOR or
EURIBOR, the Rate of Interest in respect of such Notes will be determined as
provided in the applicable Final Terms.

Minimum Rate of Interest and/or Maximum Rate of Interest

If the applicable Final Terms specifies a Minimum Rate of Interest for any Interest
Period, then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period
determined in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (b) above is less than such
Minimum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be such
Minimum Rate of Interest.

If the applicable Final Terms specifies a Maximum Rate of Interest for any Interest
Period, then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period
determined in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (b) above is greater than
such Maximum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be
such Maximum Rate of Interest.

Determination of Rate of Interest and Calculation of Interest Amounts
The Principal Paying Agent, in the case of Floating Rate Notes, and the Calculation

Agent, in the case of Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked Interest Notes,
Currency Linked Interest Notes, Commodity Linked Interest Notes, Fund Linked
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Interest Notes and Inflation Index Linked Interest Notes, will, at or as soon as
practicable after each time at which the Rate of Interest is to be determined,
determine the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period. In the case of Index
Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked Interest Notes, Currency Linked Interest Notes,
Commodity Linked Interest Notes, Fund Linked Interest Notes and Inflation Index
Linked Interest Notes, the Calculation Agent will notify the Principal Paying Agent
of the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period as soon as practicable after
calculating the same.

The Principal Paying Agent, in the case of Floating Rate Notes, and the Calculation
Agent, in the case of Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked Interest Notes,
Currency Linked Interest Notes, Commodity Linked Interest Notes, Fund Linked
Interest Notes and Inflation Index Linked Interest Notes, will calculate the amount of
interest (the Interest Amount) payable on the Notes for the relevant Interest Period
by applying the Rate of Interest to:

6))] in the case of Floating Rate Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity
Linked Interest Notes, Currency Linked Interest Notes, Commodity Linked
Interest Notes, Fund Linked Interest Notes or Inflation Index Linked Interest
Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding
nominal amount of the Notes represented by such Global Note (or, if they are
Partly Paid Notes, the aggregate amount paid up); or

(i1) in the case of Floating Rate Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity
Linked Interest Notes, Currency Linked Interest Notes, Commodity Linked
Interest Notes, Fund Linked Interest Notes or Inflation Index Linked Interest
Notes in definitive form, the Calculation Amount,

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and
rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified
Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in
accordance with applicable market convention. Where the Specified Denomination
of a Floating Rate Note, Index Linked Interest Note, Equity Linked Interest Note,
Currency Linked Interest Note, Commodity Linked Interest Note, Fund Linked
Interest Note or Inflation Index Linked Interest Note in definitive form is a multiple
of the Calculation Amount, the Interest Amount payable in respect of such Note shall
be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the
Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied
to reach the Specified Denomination, without any further rounding. In such case, the
Calculation Agent will notify the Principal Paying Agent of the Interest Amount for
the relevant Interest Period as soon as practicable after calculating the same.

Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amounts

The Principal Paying Agent will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount
for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange at the latest on the second London Business Day
following its determination, the Issuer and any stock exchange on which the relevant
Floating Rate Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked Interest Notes,
Currency Linked Interest Notes, Commodity Linked Interest Notes, Fund Linked
Interest Notes or Inflation Index Linked Interest Notes are for the time being listed
and notice thereof to be published in accordance with Condition 14 as soon as
possible after their determination but in no event later than the fourth London
Business Day thereafter. Each Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date so notified
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may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way
of adjustment) without prior notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the
Interest Period. Any such amendment will be promptly notified to each stock
exchange on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes,
Equity Linked Interest Notes, Currency Linked Interest Notes, Commodity Linked
Interest Notes, Fund Linked Interest Notes or Inflation Index Linked Interest Notes
are for the time being listed and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14.
For the purposes of this paragraph (e), the expression London Business Day means a
day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange
markets are open for general business in London.

Certificates to be final

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations
and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions
of this Condition 5(C), whether by the Principal Paying Agent or, if applicable, the
Calculation Agent, shall (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith or manifest error
or proven error) be binding on the Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of the Guaranteed
Notes), the Principal Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent (if applicable), the other
Paying Agents and all Noteholders, Receiptholders and Couponholders and (in the
absence of wilful default or bad faith) no liability to the Issuer, the Guarantor (in the
case of the Guaranteed Notes), the Noteholders, the Receiptholders or the
Couponholders shall attach to the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent (if
applicable) in connection with the exercise or non exercise by it of its powers, duties
and discretions pursuant to such provisions.

Interest on Partly Paid Notes

In the case of Partly Paid Notes (other than Partly Paid Notes which are Zero Coupon Notes),
interest will accrue as aforesaid on the paid-up nominal amount of such Notes and otherwise
as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Accrual of interest

Each Note (or in the case of the redemption of part only of a Note, that part only of such
Note) will cease to bear interest (if any) from the date for its redemption unless payment of
principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event, interest will continue to accrue
until whichever is the earlier of:

(a)

(b)

the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Note have been paid and/or all
assets deliverable in respect of such Note have been delivered; and

five days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable in respect of
such Note has been received by the Principal Paying Agent and/or all assets in respect
of such Note have been received by any agent appointed by the Issuer to deliver such
assets to Noteholders and notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders in
accordance with Condition 14.

Payments

Method of payment

Subject as provided below:
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(a) payments in a Specified Currency other than euro or U.S. dollars will be made by
credit or transfer to an account in the relevant Specified Currency maintained by the
payee with, or, at the option of the payee, by a cheque in such Specified Currency
drawn on, a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of such Specified
Currency (which, if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars or New Zealand
dollars, shall be Sydney and Auckland, respectively);

(b) payments in euro will be made by credit or transfer to a euro account (or any other
account to which euro may be credited or transferred) specified by the payee or, at the
option of the payee, by a euro cheque; and

(©) payments in U.S. dollars will be made by transfer to a U.S. dollar account maintained
by the payee with a bank outside of the United States (which expression, as used in
this Condition 6, means the United States of America, including the States and the
District of Columbia, its territories, its possessions and other areas subject to its
jurisdiction), or by cheque drawn on a United States bank.

In no event will payment be made by a cheque mailed to an address in the United States.
Payments Subject to Fiscal and Other Laws

Payments will be subject in all cases, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8,
to (i) any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable thereto in any jurisdiction, and (ii)
any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b)
of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the Code) or otherwise imposed pursuant to
Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, official
interpretations thereof, or law implementing an intergovernmental approach thereto.

Presentation of definitive Notes, Receipts and Coupons

Payments of principal in respect of definitive Notes will (subject as provided below) be made
in the manner provided in paragraph (4) above only against presentation and surrender (or, in
the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of definitive Notes, and payments of
interest in respect of definitive Notes will (subject as provided below) be made as aforesaid
only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due,
endorsement) of Coupons, in each case at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the
United States (which expression, as used herein, means the United States of America
(including the States and the District of Columbia, its territories, its possessions and other
areas subject to its jurisdiction)).

Payments of instalments of principal (if any) in respect of definitive Notes, other than the
final instalment, will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner provided in
paragraph (A) above only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment
of any sum due, endorsement) of the relevant Receipt in accordance with the preceding
paragraph. Payment of the final instalment will be made in the manner provided in paragraph
(A) above only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum
due, endorsement) of the relevant Note in accordance with the preceding paragraph. Each
Receipt must be presented for payment of the relevant instalment together with the definitive
Note to which it appertains. Receipts presented without the definitive Note to which they
appertain do not constitute valid obligations of the Issuer. Upon the date on which any
definitive Note becomes due and repayable, unmatured Receipts (if any) relating thereto
(whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect thereof.
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Fixed Rate Notes in definitive form (other than Index Linked Redemption Notes, Equity
Linked Redemption Notes, Commodity Linked Redemption Notes, Fund Linked Redemption
Notes, Inflation Index Linked Redemption Notes or Long Maturity Notes (as defined below))
should be presented for payment together with all unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto
(which expression shall for this purpose include Coupons falling to be issued on exchange of
matured Talons), failing which the amount of any missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case
of payment not being made in full, the same proportion of the amount of such missing
unmatured Coupon as the sum so paid bears to the sum due) will be deducted from the sum
due for payment. Each amount of principal so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned
above against surrender of the relative missing Coupon at any time before the expiry of ten
years after the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8) in respect of such principal (whether
or not such Coupon would otherwise have become void under Condition 9) or, if later, five
years from the date on which such Coupon would otherwise have become due, but in no event
thereafter.

Upon any Fixed Rate Note in definitive form becoming due and repayable prior to its
Maturity Date, all unmatured Talons (if any) appertaining thereto will become void and no
further Coupons will be issued in respect thereof.

Upon the date on which any Floating Rate Note, Index Linked Note, Equity Linked Note,
Commodity Linked Note, Fund Linked Note, Inflation Index Linked Note or Long Maturity
Note in definitive form becomes due and repayable, unmatured Coupons and Talons (if any)
relating thereto (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment or, as the case
may be, exchange for further Coupons shall be made in respect thereof. A Long Maturity
Note is a Fixed Rate Note (other than a Fixed Rate Note which on issue had a Talon attached)
whose nominal amount on issue is less than the aggregate interest payable thereon provided
that such Note shall cease to be a Long Maturity Note on the Interest Payment Date on which
the aggregate amount of interest remaining to be paid after that date is less than the nominal
amount of such Note.

If the due date for redemption of any definitive Note is not an Interest Payment Date, interest
(if any) accrued in respect of such Note from (and including) the preceding Interest Payment
Date or, as the case may be, the Interest Commencement Date shall be payable only against
surrender of the relevant definitive Note.

Payments in respect of Global Notes

Payments of principal and interest (if any) in respect of Notes represented by any Global Note
will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner specified above in relation to
definitive Notes or otherwise in the manner specified in the relevant Global Note, where
applicable against presentation or surrender, as the case may be, of such Global Note at the
specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States. A record of each payment,
distinguishing between any payment of principal and any payment of interest, will be made
on such Global Note either by the Paying Agent to which it was presented or in the records of
Euroclear and Clearstream, as applicable.

General provisions applicable to payments

The holder of a Global Note shall be the only person entitled to receive payments in respect of
Notes represented by such Global Note and the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor
(in the case of Guaranteed Notes) will be discharged by payment to, or to the order of, the
holder of such Global Note in respect of each amount so paid. Each of the persons shown in
the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as the beneficial holder of a particular
nominal amount of number of units of Notes represented by such Global Note must look
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solely to Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, for his share of each
payment so made by the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor (in the case of
Guaranteed Notes) to, or to the order of, the holder of such Global Note.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Condition 6, if any amount of principal
and/or interest in respect of Notes is payable in U.S. dollars, such U.S. dollar payments of
principal and/or interest in respect of such Notes will be made at the specified office of a
Paying Agent in the United States if:

(a) the Issuer has appointed Paying Agents with specified offices outside the United
States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to
make payment in U.S. dollars at such specified offices outside the United States of
the full amount of principal and interest on the Notes in the manner provided above
when due;

(b) payment of the full amount of such principal and interest at all such specified offices
outside the United States is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or
other similar restrictions on the full payment or receipt of principal and interest in
U.S. dollars; and

(©) such payment is then permitted under United States law without involving, in the
opinion of the Issuer and the Guarantor, adverse tax consequences to the Issuer or the
Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Notes).

Payment Day

If the date for payment of any amount in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon is not a
Payment Day, the holder thereof shall not be entitled to payment until the next following
Payment Day in the relevant place and shall not be entitled to further interest or other
payment in respect of such delay or amendment. For these purposes, Payment Day means
any day which (subject to Condition 9) is:

(a) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and
are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign
currency deposits) in:

) in the case of Notes in definitive form only, the relevant place of
presentation; and

(i1) any Additional Financial Centre specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

(b) either (1) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than euro, a
day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and
are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign
currency deposits) in the principal financial centre of the country of the relevant
Specified Currency which if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars or New
Zealand dollars shall be Sydney and Auckland, respectively) or (2) in relation to any
sum payable in euro, a day on which the TARGET2 System is open.

Interpretation of principal and interest

Any reference in these Terms and Conditions to principal in respect of the Notes shall be
deemed to include, as applicable:
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(a) the Final Redemption Amount of the Notes;

(b) the Early Redemption Amount of the Notes;

(c) the Optional Redemption Amount(s) (if any) of the Notes;

(d) the Failure to Deliver Settlement Price (if any) in respect of the Notes;
(e) the Disruption Cash Settlement Price (if any) in respect of the Notes;
® in relation to Notes redeemable in instalments, the Instalment Amounts;

(2) in relation to Zero Coupon Notes, the Amortised Face Amount (as defined in
Condition 7(D)(c)); and

(h) any premium and any other amounts (other than interest) which may be payable by
the Issuer under or in respect of the Notes.

Definition of Affiliate

Affiliate means, in relation to any entity (the First Entity), any entity controlled, directly or
indirectly, by the First Entity, any entity that controls, directly or indirectly, the First Entity or
any entity directly or indirectly under common control with the First Entity. For these
purposes control means ownership of a majority of the voting power of an entity.

Redemption and Purchase
Redemption at maturity

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as specified below, each Note will be
redeemed by the Issuer at its Final Redemption Amount specified in, or determined in the
manner specified in, the applicable Final Terms in the relevant Specified Currency on the
Maturity Date or if the Notes are specified as Physical Delivery Notes in the applicable Final
Terms, by delivery of the Entitlement (subject as provided in Annex 7 — Additional Terms
and Conditions for Physical Delivery Notes) specified in or determined in the manner
specified in the applicable Final Terms on the Maturity Date.

Redemption at the option of the Issuer (Issuer Call)
If Issuer Call is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer may, having given:

(a) not less than 15 nor more than 30 days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 14; and

(b) not less than 4 days before the giving of the notice referred to in (a), notice to the
Principal Paying Agent,

(which notices shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date fixed for redemption), redeem
all or some only of the Notes then outstanding on any Optional Redemption Date and at the
Optional Redemption Amount(s) specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the
applicable Final Terms together, if appropriate, with interest accrued to (but excluding) the
relevant Optional Redemption Date. Any such redemption must be of a nominal amount or
number of units not less than the Minimum Redemption Amount and/or not more than the
Maximum Redemption Amount, in each case as may be specified in the applicable Final
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Terms. In the case of a partial redemption of Notes, the Notes to be redeemed (Redeemed
Notes) will be selected individually by lot, in the case of Redeemed Notes represented by
definitive Notes, and in accordance with the rules of Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg, (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as
either a pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount at their discretion) in the case of
Redeemed Notes represented by a Global Note, not more than 30 days prior to the date fixed
for redemption (such date of selection being hereinafter called the Selection Date). In the
case of Redeemed Notes represented by definitive Notes, a list of the serial numbers of such
Redeemed Notes will be published in accordance with Condition 14 not less than 15 days
prior to the date fixed for redemption. No exchange of the relevant Global Note will be
permitted during the period from (and including) the Selection Date to (and including) the
date fixed for redemption pursuant to this paragraph (B) and notice to that effect shall be
given by the Issuer to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 at least five days prior
to the Selection Date.

Redemption at the option of the Noteholders (Investor Put)

If Investor Put is specified in the applicable Final Terms, upon the holder of any Note giving
to the Issuer in accordance with Condition 14 not less than 15 nor more than 30 days' notice
the Issuer will, upon the expiry of such notice, redeem, subject to, and in accordance with, the
terms specified in the applicable Final Terms, such Note on the Optional Redemption Date
and at the Optional Redemption Amount together, if appropriate, with interest accrued to (but
excluding) the Optional Redemption Date. It may be that before an Investor Put can be
exercised, certain conditions and/or circumstances will need to be satisfied. Where relevant,
the provisions will be set out in the applicable Final Terms.

If this Note is in definitive form and held outside Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, to
exercise the right to require redemption of this Note the holder of this Note must deliver, at
the specified office of any Paying Agent at any time during normal business hours of such
Paying Agent falling within the notice period, accompanied by a duly completed and signed
notice of exercise in the form (for the time being current) obtainable from any specified office
of any Paying Agent (a Put Notice) and in which the holder must specify a bank account (or,
if payment is required to be made by cheque, an address) to which payment is to be made
under this Condition 7 accompanied by this Note or evidence satisfactory to the Paying Agent
concerned that this Note will, following delivery of the Put Notice, be held to its order or
under its control. Ifthis Note is represented by a Global Note or is in definitive form and held
through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, to exercise the right to require redemption of
this Note the holder of this Note must, within the notice period, give notice to the Principal
Paying Agent of such exercise in accordance with the standard procedures of Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg (which may include notice being given on his instruction by
Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any common depositary or common safekeeper, as
the case may be, for them to the Principal Paying Agent by electronic means) in a form
acceptable to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg from time to time and, if this Note is
represented by a Global Note, the terms of which require presentation for recording changes
to its nominal amount, at the same time present or procure the presentation of the relevant
Global Note to the Principal Paying Agent for notation accordingly.

Any Put Notice or other notice given in accordance with the standard procedures of Euroclear
and Clearstream, Luxembourg given by a holder of any Note pursuant to this paragraph (C)
shall be irrevocable except where, prior to the due date of redemption, an Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing in which event such holder, at its option, may elect by notice to the
Issuer to withdraw the notice given pursuant to this paragraph (C) and instead to declare such
Note forthwith due and payable pursuant to Condition 10.
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Early Redemption Amounts

The Early Redemption Amount shall be calculated as follows:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

in the case of a Note with a Final Redemption Amount equal to the Issue Price, at the
Final Redemption Amount thereof;

in the case of a Note (other than a Zero Coupon Note and excluding Notes specified
in paragraph (d) below but including an Instalment Note and a Partly Paid Note) with
a Final Redemption Amount which is or may be less or greater than the Issue Price or
which is payable in a Specified Currency other than that in which the Note is
denominated, at the amount specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the
applicable Final Terms or, if no such amount or manner is so specified in the
applicable Final Terms, at its nominal amount;

in the case of a Zero Coupon Note, at an amount (the Amortised Face Amount)
calculated in accordance with the following formula:

Early Redemption Amount = RP x (1+ AY)y

where:
"RP" means the Reference Price; and

"AY" means the Accrual Yield expressed as a decimal; and

ne n

y is a fraction, the numerator of which is equal to the number of days
(calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of 12 months of 30 days each)
from (and including) the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but
excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which
such Note becomes due and repayable, and the denominator of which is 360,

or on such other calculation basis as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms;
or

in the case of Index Linked Notes, Equity Linked Notes, Currency Linked Notes,
Commodity Linked Notes, Fund Linked Notes or Inflation Index Linked Notes, the
Early Redemption Amount in respect of each nominal amount of such Notes equal to
the Calculation Amount will be set out in the applicable Final Terms

If Market Value less Associated Costs is specified as the Early Redemption Amount
in the applicable Final Terms the Early Redemption Amount in respect of each
nominal amount of Notes equal to the Calculation Amount shall be an amount
determined by the Calculation Agent, which on (i) in the case of redemption other
than pursuant to Condition 10, the second Business Day immediately preceding the
due date for the early redemption of the Notes or (ii) in the case of redemption
pursuant to Condition 10, the due date for the early redemption of such Notes,
represents the fair market value of such Notes (taking into account all factors which
the Calculation Agent determines relevant) less Associated Costs, and provided that
in determining such fair market value, no account shall be taken of the financial
condition of the Issuer which shall be presumed to be able to perform fully its
obligations in respect of the Notes.

As used herein:
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Associated Costs means an amount per nominal amount of the Notes (which may not
be less than zero) equal to the Calculation Amount equal to such Notes' pro rata share
of the total amount of any and all costs and losses associated with or incurred by the
Issuer and/or any Affiliate in connection with such early redemption, including,
without limitation, any costs and losses associated with or incurred by the Issuer
and/or any Affiliate in connection with unwinding any funding relating to the Notes
and/ any hedge positions (including without limitation, any derivative transactions)
relating to or entered into in connection with the Notes, all as determined by the
Calculation Agent in its sole discretion.

Instalments

Instalment Notes will be redeemed in the Instalment Amounts and on the Instalment Dates.
In the case of early redemption, the Early Redemption Amount will be determined pursuant to
paragraph (D) above.

Partly Paid Notes

Partly Paid Notes will be redeemed, whether at maturity, early redemption or otherwise, in
accordance with the provisions of this Condition 7 and the applicable Final Terms.

lllegality, Force Majeure Event and General Hedging Disruption Event

In the event that the Issuer determines in good faith that (1) the performance of its obligations
under the Notes or that any arrangements made to hedge its obligations under the Notes
(Hedging Arrangements) has or will become unlawful, illegal or otherwise prohibited in
whole or in part as a result of compliance with any applicable present or future law, rule,
regulation, judgment, order or directive of any governmental, administrative, legislative or
judicial authority or power, or in the interpretation thereof, (2) a Force Majeure Event exists
or occurs and/or (3) a General Hedging Disruption Event exists or occurs, the Issuer having
given not less than 10 nor more than 30 days' notice to Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 14 (which notice shall be irrevocable), may, on expiry of such notice redeem all,
but not some only, of the Notes, each Note being redeemed at the Early Redemption Amount
together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption. For
the avoidance of doubt this provision shall not be affected or qualified by any hedging
disruption or other adjustment or early redemption provisions in relation to the Notes set out
in these Terms and Conditions or any additional terms and conditions applicable to the Notes.
Where an event or circumstance may at the same time allow action to be taken under this
provision or such other provisions the the Calculation Agent or Issuer may determine in its
sole discretion which provisions to apply.

For these purposes:

Force Majeure Event means an event or circumstance which prevents or materially affects
the performance of the Issuer's obligations under the Notes which may include, without
limitation, a system failure, fire, building evacuation, natural or man-made disaster, act of
God, armed conflict, act of terrorism, riot or labour disruption or any similar intervening
circumstances; and

General Hedging Disruption Event means that the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates or
agents or any other party providing Hedging Arrangements directly or indirectly to the Issuer
is unable, after using commercially reasonable efforts, to (i) acquire, establish, re-establish,
substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary to
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hedge the risk of the Issuer issuing and performing its obligations with respect to the Notes, or
(ii) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such transaction(s) or asset(s).

Purchases

The Issuer or any subsidiary of the Parent may at any time purchase Notes (provided that, in
the case of definitive Notes, all unmatured Receipts, Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto
are purchased therewith) at any price in the open market or otherwise. Such Notes may be
held, reissued, resold or, at the option of the purchaser, surrendered to any Paying Agent for
cancellation.

Cancellation

All Notes which are redeemed will forthwith be cancelled (together with all unmatured
Receipts, Coupons and Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith at the time of
redemption). All Notes so cancelled and the Notes purchased by the Parent, the Issuer or any
Subsidiary of the Issuer and surrendered to any Paying Agent for cancellation pursuant to
paragraph (H) above (together with all unmatured Receipts, Coupons and Talons cancelled
therewith) shall be forwarded to the Principal Paying Agent and cannot be reissued or resold.

Late payment on Zero Coupon Notes

If the amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note upon redemption of such Zero
Coupon Note pursuant to paragraphs (4), (B) or (C) above or upon its becoming due and
repayable as provided in Condition 10 is improperly withheld or refused, the amount due and
repayable in respect of such Zero Coupon Note shall be the amount calculated as provided in
paragraph (D)(c) above as though the references therein to the date fixed for the redemption
or the date upon which such Zero Coupon Note becomes due and payable were replaced by
references to the date which is the earlier of:

(a) the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Zero Coupon Note have been
paid; and

(b) five days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable in respect of
such Zero Coupon Notes has been received by the Principal Paying Agent and notice
to that effect has been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14.

Taxation

All payments of principal and interest (including any Arrears of Interest and Default
Interest) in respect of the Notes, Receipts and Coupons by the Issuer or the Guarantor
(in the case of Guaranteed Notes) will be made without withholding or deduction for
or on account of any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental
charges of whatever nature, imposed or levied by or on behalf of any Tax
Jurisdiction, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In such event,
the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) will
make such payment after the withholding or deduction of such taxes, duties,
assessments or governmental charges has been made, shall account to the relevant
authorities for the amount required to be withheld or deducted and shall not pay any
additional amounts to the holders of the Notes, Receipts or Coupons.As used herein:

(A) Tax Jurisdiction means (I) (in the case of payments by UniCredit) the

Republic of Italy or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or
therein having power to tax, (II) (in the case of payments by UniCredit
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Ireland) the Republic of Ireland or any political subdivision or any authority
thereof or therein having power to tax, and (III) (in the case of payment by
UniCredit International Luxembourg) Luxembourg or any political
subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or in any
such case any other jurisdiction or any political subdivision or any authority
thereof or therein having power to tax to which the relevant Issuer or the
Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Notes), as the case may be, becomes
subject in respect of payments made by it of principal and interest on the
Notes, Receipts and Coupons; and

(B) the Relevant Date means the date on which such payment first becomes due,
except that, if the full amount of the moneys payable has not been duly
received by the Principal Paying Agent on or prior to such due date, it means
the date on which, the full amount of such moneys having been so received,
notice to that effect is duly given to the Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 15.

Prescription

The Notes, Receipts and Coupons will become void unless claims in respect of principal
and/or interest are made within a period of ten years (in the case of principal) and five years
(in the case of interest) after the Relevant Date (as defined below) therefor.

As used herein, the Relevant Date means the date on which such payment first becomes due,
except that, if the full amount of the moneys payable has not been duly received by the
Principal Paying Agent on or prior to such due date, it means the date on which, the full
amount of such moneys having been so received, notice to that effect is duly given to the
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14.

There shall not be included in any Coupon sheet issued on exchange of a Talon any Coupon
the claim for payment in respect of which would be void pursuant to this Condition 9 or
Condition 6(B) or any Talon which would be void pursuant to Condition 6(B).

In relation only to the Notes issued by UniCredit International Luxembourg, the Luxembourg
Act dated 3 September, 1996 on the involuntary dispossession of bearer securities, as
amended (the Involuntary Dispossession Act 1996), requires that any amount that is payable
under the Notes (but which has not yet been paid to the holders of the Notes) in the event that
(i) an opposition has been filed in relation to the Notes and (ii) the Notes mature prior to
becoming forfeited (as provided for in the Involuntary Dispossession Act 1996), is paid to the
Caisse des consignations in Luxembourg until the opposition has been withdrawn or the
forfeiture of the Notes occurs.

Events of Default

The holder of any Note may give notice to the relevant Issuer that the Note is, and it shall
accordingly forthwith become, immediately due and repayable at its principal amount,
together with interest accrued to the date of repayment, if any of the following events (Events
of Default) shall have occurred and be continuing:

(a) if default is made in the payment in the Specified Currency of any interest due in

respect of the Notes or any of them and the default continues for a period of 14 days;
or
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if default is made in the payment in the Specified Currency of any principal or
premium (if any) due in respect of the Notes or any of them, or in the delivery when
due of the Entitlement in respect of the Notes or any of them (in each case whether at
maturity or upon redemption or otherwise), and the default continues for a period of
seven days; or

if the Issuer or, in the case of Guaranteed Notes, the Guarantor fails to perform or
observe any obligation or provision binding on it under the Notes or the Deed of
Guarantee (other than any obligation for payment of any principal, premium (if any)
or interest in respect of the Notes) and such default continues for 30 days after the
date on which written notice of such failure, requiring the Issuer or the Guarantor, as
the case may be, to remedy the same, first shall have been given to the Issuer or the
Guarantor, as the case may be, and the Principal Paying Agent by holders of at least
one quarter in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding or

one or more final judgment(s) or order(s), not being susceptible to appeal, for the
payment of any amount of indebtedness (being an amount of indebtedness which is
material in the context of the Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) the
Guarantor) is rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction against the Issuer or (in
the case of Guaranteed Notes) the Guarantor and continue(s) unsatisfied and unsteady
for a period of 30 days after the date(s) thereof or, if later, the date therein specified
for judgment; or

the Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) the Guarantor shall be adjudicated or
found bankrupt or insolvent or shall stop or threaten to stop payment or shall be found
unable to pay its debts, or any order shall be made by any competent court or
administrative agency for, or any resolution shall be passed by the Issuer or (in the
case of Guaranteed Notes) the Guarantor for, judicial composition proceedings with
its creditors or for the appointment of a receiver or trustee or other similar official in
insolvency proceedings in relation to the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor
or all or substantially all of its assets and, in the case of UniCredit International
Luxembourg, suspension of payments (sursis de paiement) measures, winding-up and
liquidation (/iguidation) proceedings; or

(in the case of Notes issued by UniCredit) the Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed
Notes) the Guarantor becomes subject to an order for Liquidazione coatta
amministrativa (within the meaning ascribed to that expression by the Italian Banking
Act and the other laws of the Republic of Italy); or

the Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) the Guarantor shall be wound up,
liquidated or dissolved (otherwise than for the purposes of an amalgamation, merger,
reconstruction or reorganisation on terms previously approved in writing by an
Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders); or

the Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) the Guarantor shall cease to carry on
business or threaten to cease to carry on all or substantially all of its business
(otherwise than for the purposes of an amalgamation, merger, reconstruction or
reorganisation on terms previously approved in writing by an Extraordinary
Resolution of the Noteholders); or

if (i) proceedings are initiated against the Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Notes)
the Guarantor under any applicable liquidation, insolvency, composition,
examination, reorganisation or other similar laws, or an application is made for the
appointment of an administrative or other receiver, manager, administrator or other
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similar official (in Luxembourg, including but not limited to, any administrateur,
Juge—commissaire, liquidateur or similar officer), or an administrative or other
receiver, manager, administrator, examiner or other similar official (in Luxembourg,
including but not limited to, any administrateur, juge-commissaire, liquidateur or
similar officer) is appointed, in relation to the Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed
Notes) the Guarantor or, as the case may be, in relation to all or substantially all of
the undertaking or assets of any of them, or an encumbrancer takes possession of all
or substantially all of the undertakings or assets of either of them, or a distress,
execution, attachment, sequestration or other process is levied, enforced upon, sued
out or put in force against all or substantially all of the undertakings or assets of either
of them and, in the case of UniCredit International Luxembourg, suspension of
payments (sursis de paiement) measures, winding-up and liquidation (liguidation)
proceedings, and (ii) in any case is not discharged within 30 days; or

)] if either (i) any indebtedness for Borrowed Money in excess of €35,000,000 (or its
equivalent in any other currency or currencies) of the Issuer or (in the case of
Guaranteed Notes) the Guarantor shall become repayable prior to the due date for
payment thereof by reason of default by the Issuer or, as the case may be, the
Guarantor or shall not be repaid at maturity as extended by any applicable grace
period therefor and, in either case, steps shall have been taken to obtain repayment, or
(i) any guarantee given by the Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) the
Guarantor of any indebtedness for Borrowed Money in excess of €35,000,000 (or its
equivalent in any other currency or currencies) shall not be honoured when due and
called; or

(k) (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) the Guarantee of the Notes is not (or is claimed by
the Guarantor not to be) in full force and effect; or

)] any event occurs which, under the laws of the jurisdiction of incorporation of the
Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) the Guarantor, has an analogous effect to
any of the events referred to in paragraphs (e), (g), (h) and (i) above

For the purposes of this Condition 10:

Borrowed Money means any obligation (excluding an obligation under a revolving credit
arrangement for which there are no outstanding, unpaid drawings in respect of principal) for
the payment or repayment of borrowed money (which term shall include, without limitation,
deposits and reimbursement obligations arising from drawings pursuant to letters of credit).
Replacement of Notes, Receipts, Coupons and Talons

Should any Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon be lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it
may be replaced at the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent upon payment by the
claimant of such costs and expenses as may be incurred in connection therewith and on such
terms as to evidence and indemnity as the Issuer may reasonably require. Mutilated or
defaced Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements will be
issued.

Paying Agents and Calculation Agent

Paying Agents

The names of the initial Paying Agents and their initial specified offices are set out below.
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The Issuer is entitled to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent and/or
appoint additional or other Paying Agents and/or approve any change in the specified office
through which any Paying Agent acts, provided that:

(a) there will at all times be a Paying Agent (which may be the Principal Paying Agent),
having a specified office in a Member State of the European Union other than the
jurisdiction in which the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may be) is incorporated;

(b) so long as the Notes are listed on any stock exchange or admitted to trading by any
other relevant authority, there will at all times be a Paying Agent, which may be the
Principal Paying Agent, with a specified office in such place as may be required by
the rules and regulations of the relevant stock exchange, the competent authority or
other relevant authority;

(©) the Issuer undertakes that it will ensure that it maintains a Paying Agent in a Member
State of the European Union that is not obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to
European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any law implementing, or complying
with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive.

In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent having a specified office in New
York City in the circumstances described in Condition 6(E). Notice of any variation,
termination, appointment or change will be given to the Noteholders promptly by the Issuer in
accordance with Condition 14.

In acting under the Agency Agreement, the Paying Agents act solely as agents of the Issuer
and the Guarantor (in the case of the Guaranteed Notes) and do not assume any obligation to,
or relationship of agency or trust with, any Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders.
The Agency Agreement contains provisions permitting any entity into which any Paying
Agent is merged or converted or with which it is consolidated or to which it transfers all or
substantially all of its assets to become the successor paying agent.

Calculation Agent

In relation to each issue of Notes, the Calculation Agent acts solely as agent of the Issuer and
does not assume any obligation or duty to, or any relationship of agency or trust for or with,
the Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders. All calculations and determinations made
in respect of the Notes by the Calculation Agent shall be in its sole and absolute discretion, in
good faith, and shall (save in the case of manifest error) be final, conclusive and binding on
the Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of the Guaranteed Notes), the Paying Agents and the
Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders. The Calculation Agent shall promptly notify
the Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of the Guaranteed Notes) and the Principal Paying Agent
upon any such calculations and determinations, and (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith
or manifest error) no liability to the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the Noteholders, the
Receiptholders or the Couponholders shall attach to the Calculation Agent in connection with
the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such
provisions.

The Calculation Agent may, with the consent of the Issuer, delegate any of its obligations and
functions to a third party as it deems appropriate.

Exchange of Talons

On and after the Interest Payment Date on which the final Coupon comprised in any Coupon
sheet matures, the Talon (if any) forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the
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specified office of the Principal Paying Agent or any other Paying Agent in exchange for a
further Coupon sheet including (if such further Coupon sheet does not include Coupons to
(and including) the final date for the payment of interest due in respect of the Note to which it
appertains) a further Talon, subject to the provisions of Condition 9.

Notices

All notices regarding the Notes will be deemed to be validly given if published (if and for so
long as the Notes are admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated
market and listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange) either in a daily
newspaper of general circulation in Luxembourg or on the website of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange (www.bourse.lu). It is expected that any such publication in a newspaper will be
made in the Luxemburger Wort or the Tageblatt. The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are
duly published in a manner which complies with the rules of any other stock exchange or
other relevant authority on which the Notes are for the time being listed or by which they
have been admitted to trading. Any such notice will be deemed to have been given on the
date of the first publication or, where required to be published in more than one newspaper,
on the date of the first publication in all required newspapers.

Until such time as any definitive Notes are issued, there may, so long as any Global Notes
representing the Notes are held in their entirety on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg, be substituted for publication as provided above the delivery of the relevant
notice to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg for communication by them to the
holders of the Notes and (if and for so long as the Notes are admitted to trading on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated market and listed on the Official of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange) if published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
(www.bourse.lu) or in a daily newspaper of general circulation in Luxembourg. It is expected
that any such publication in a newspaper will be made in the Luxemburger Wort or the
Tageblatt. In addition, for so long as any Notes are listed on any other stock exchange or are
admitted to trading by another relevant authority and the rules of that stock exchange or
relevant authority so require, such notice will be published as may be required by those rules.
Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the holders of the Notes on the day on
which the said notice was given to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Notices to be given by any Noteholder shall be in writing and given by lodging the same,
together (in the case of any Note in definitive form) with the relative Note or Notes, with the
Principal Paying Agent. Whilst any of the Notes are represented by a Global Note, such
notice may be given by any holder of a Note to the Principal Paying Agent through Euroclear
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, in such manner as the Principal Paying
Agent and Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, may approve for
this purpose.

Meetings of Noteholders, Modification, Waiver and Substitution
Meetings of Noteholders, Modification and Waiver

The Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of the Noteholders to
consider any matter affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary
Resolution of a modification of the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons or any of the provisions
of the Agency Agreement. Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer, the Guarantor (in
the case of the Guaranteed Notes) or Noteholders holding not less than 10 per cent. in
nominal amount of the Notes for the time being remaining outstanding. The quorum at any
such meeting for passing an Extraordinary Resolution is one or more persons holding or
representing not less than 50 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being
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outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting one or more persons being or representing
Noteholders whatever the nominal amount of the Notes so held or represented, except that at
any meeting the business of which includes the modification of certain provisions of the
Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons or these Conditions (including modifying the date of
maturity of the Notes or any date for payment of interest thereon, reducing or cancelling the
amount of principal or the Entitlement or the rate of interest payable in respect of the Notes or
altering the currency of payment of the Notes, the Receipts or the Coupons), the quorum shall
be one or more persons holding or representing not less than two-thirds in nominal amount or
number of units of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned such meeting
one or more persons holding or representing not less than one-third in nominal amount or
number of units of the Notes for the time being outstanding. An Extraordinary Resolution
passed at any meeting of the Noteholders shall be binding on all the Noteholders, whether or
not they are present at the meeting, and on all Receiptholders and Couponholders.

The Principal Paying Agent and the Issuer may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders,
Receiptholders or Couponholders, to:

(a) any modification of the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons, these Conditions, the
Agency Agreement or to any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed
breach of any of the provisions of the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons or the Agency
Agreement or determine that any Event of Default or potential Event of Default shall
not be treated as such which is not, in the sole opinion of the relevant Issuer,
prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders; or

(b) any modification of the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons, these Conditions, the
Agency Agreement which is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to
correct a manifest or proven error or to comply with mandatory provisions of the law.

Any such modification, waiver, authorisation or determination shall be binding on the
Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the Couponholders and any such modification shall be
notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 as soon as practicable thereafter.

Substitution of Issuer or Branch

The Issuer (or any previously substituted company from time to time) shall, without the
consent of the Noteholders, be entitled at any time to substitute for the Issuer any other
company (the Substitute) as principal debtor in respect of all obligations arising from or in
connection with the Notes provided that (i) all action, conditions and things required to be
taken, fulfilled and done (including the obtaining of any necessary consents) to ensure that the
Notes represent valid, legally binding and enforceable obligations of the Substitute have been
taken, fulfilled and done and are in full force and effect; (ii) the Substitute shall have assumed
all obligations arising from or in connection with the Notes and shall have become a party to
the Agency Agreement, with any consequential amendments; (iii) each stock exchange or
listing authority on which the Notes are listed shall have confirmed that following the
proposed substitution of the Substitute the Notes would continue to be listed on such stock
exchange; and (v) the Issuer shall have given at least 14 calendar days' prior notice of the date
of such substitution to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14, including by
providing notice of the substitution to the CSSF and the Luxembourg Stock Exchange in a
form acceptable to them to be published subsequently in accordance with Condition 14.

The Issuer shall have the right upon giving notice to the Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 14 to change the branch through which it is acting for the purposes of the Notes,
the date of such change to be specified in such notice provided that no change may take place
prior to the date of the giving of such notice. The Issuer shall provide notice of any such
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(4)

(B)

change of branch to the CSSF and the Luxembourg Stock Exchange in a form acceptable to
them (to be published subsequently in accordance with Condition 14).

The provisions of articles 86 to 94-8 of the Companies Act 1915 relating to meetings of
Noteholders will not apply in respect of the Notes issued by UniCredit International
Luxembourg.

Further Issues

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders, the
Receiptholders or the Couponholders to create and issue further securities having terms and
conditions the same as the Notes or the same in all respects save for the amount and date of
the first payment of interest thereon and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a
single Series with the outstanding Notes.

If the Issuer issues further Notes of the same Series during the initial 40-day restricted period
applicable to the outstanding Notes of such Series, then such 40-day period will be extended
until 40 days after the later of the commencement of the offering of such further issue of
Notes and the Issue Date of such further issue of Notes. In addition, if the Issuer issues further
Notes of the same Series after the expiration of the 40-day restricted period, a new 40-day
restricted period will be applied to such further issue of Notes without applying to the
outstanding Notes. After the expiration of the new 40-day restricted period, all such Notes
will be consolidated with and form a single Series with the outstanding Notes.

Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of this Note under the
Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999, but this does not affect any right or remedy of
any person which exists or is available apart from that Act.

Governing Law and Submission to Jurisdiction
Governing law

The Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Guarantee, the Notes, the Receipts and
the Coupons and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the
Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Guarantee, the Notes, the Receipts and the
Coupons shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, English law.

Submission to jurisdiction

The Issuer and (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) the Guarantor each agrees, for the benefit of
the Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the Couponholders, that the courts of England are to
have jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the
Notes, the Receipts and/or the Coupons (including a dispute relating to any non-contractual
obligations arising out of or in connection with them) and that accordingly any suit, action or
proceedings (together referred to as Proceedings) arising out of or in connection with the
Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons (including any Proceedings relating to any non-
contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with them) may be brought in such
courts.

The Issuer and (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) the Guarantor each hereby irrevocably

waives any objection which it may have now or hereafter to the laying of the venue of any
such Proceedings in any such court and any claim that any such Proceedings have been
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brought in an inconvenient forum, and hereby further irrevocably agrees that a judgment in
any such Proceedings brought in the English courts shall be conclusive and binding upon it
and may be enforced in the courts of any other jurisdiction.

Nothing contained in this Condition shall limit any right to take Proceedings against the
Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) the Guarantor in any other court of competent
jurisdiction, nor shall the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the
taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction, whether concurrently or not.

Appointment of Process Agent

Each of the Issuers and (in the case of the Guaranteed Notes) the Guarantor agrees that any
documents required to be served on it in relation to any Proceedings (including any
documents which start any Proceedings) may be served on it by being delivered to UniCredit
Bank AG, London Branch at Moor House, 120 London Wall, London, EC2Y 5ET or, if
different, its principal office for the time being in London. In the event of UniCredit Bank
AG, London Branch ceasing to act or ceasing to be registered in England, each of the Issuers
and (in the case of Guaranteed Notes) the Guarantor will appoint another person for the
purpose of accepting service of process on its behalf in England in respect of any
Proceedings. Nothing herein shall affect the right to serve Proceedings in any other manner
permitted by law.

Non-Exclusivity

The submission to the jurisdiction of the courts of England shall not (and shall not be
construed so as to) limit the right of any Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder to take
Proceedings in any other court of competent jurisdiction, nor shall the taking of Proceedings
in any one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction
(whether concurrently or not) if and to the extent permitted by law.

Severability

Should any of the provisions contained in these Terms and Conditions be or become invalid,
the validity of the remaining provisions shall not be affected in any way.
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ANNEX 1
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR INDEX LINKED NOTES
Interpretation

If specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the terms and conditions applicable to
Index Linked Notes shall comprise the terms and conditions of the Notes (the Conditions)
and the Additional Terms and Conditions for Index Linked Notes set out below (the Index
Linked Conditions), subject to completion and/or amendment in the applicable Final Terms.
In the event of any inconsistency between the Conditions and the Index Linked Conditions,
the Index Linked Conditions shall prevail. In the event of any inconsistency between (i) the
Conditions and/or the Index Linked Conditions and (ii) the applicable Final Terms, the
applicable Final Terms shall prevail.

Definitions
For the purposes of these Index Linked Conditions:

Averaging Date means each date specified as an Averaging Date in the applicable Final
Terms or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the immediately following
Scheduled Trading Day unless, in the opinion of the Calculation Agent, any such day is a
Disrupted Day. If any such day is a Disrupted Day:

(a) if Omission is specified as applying in the applicable Final Terms, then such date will
be deemed not to be an Averaging Date for the purposes of determining the relevant
level or price provided that, if through the operation of this provision there would not
be an Averaging Date, then the provisions of the definition of "Valuation Date" will
apply for the purposes of determining the relevant level or price on the final
Averaging Date, as if such Averaging Date were a Valuation Date that was a
Disrupted Day; or

(b) if Postponement is specified as applying in the applicable Final Terms, then the
provisions of the definition of "Valuation Date" will apply for the purposes of
determining the relevant level, price or amount on that Averaging Date as if such
Averaging Date were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day irrespective of
whether, pursuant to such determination, that deferred Averaging Date would fall on
a day that already is or is deemed to be an Averaging Date; or

(c) if Modified Postponement is specified as applying in the applicable Final Terms
then:

(1) where the Index Linked Notes relate to a single Index, the Averaging Date
shall be the first succeeding Valid Date (as defined below). If the first
succeeding Valid Date has not occurred as of the Valuation Time on the
eighth Scheduled Trading Day immediately following the original date that,
but for the occurrence of another Averaging Date or Disrupted Day, would
have been the final Averaging Date in respect of the relevant Scheduled
Valuation Date, then (A) that eighth Scheduled Trading Day shall be deemed
to be the Averaging Date (irrespective of whether that eighth Scheduled
Trading Day is already an Averaging Date), and (B) the Calculation Agent
shall determine the relevant level or price for that Averaging Date in
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accordance with sub-paragraph a(ii) of the definition of "Valuation Date"
below; and

(i1) where the Index Linked Notes relate to a Basket of Indices, if any Index is
affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day the Averaging Date for each
Index shall be the first succeeding Valid Date (as defined below). If the first
succeeding Valid Date has not occurred as of the Valuation Time on the
eighth Scheduled Trading Day immediately following the original date that,
but for the occurrence of another Averaging Date or Disrupted Day, would
have been the final Averaging Date, then (A) that eighth Scheduled Trading
Day shall be deemed to be the Averaging Date (irrespective of whether that
eighth Scheduled Trading Day is already an Averaging Date) in relation to
each Index, and (B) the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant level
or price for that Averaging Date of each Index which, where such day is a
Disrupted Day for an Index, will be in accordance with sub-paragraph b(ii) of
the definition of "Valuation Date" below,

for the purposes of these Index Linked Conditions Valid Date means a Scheduled
Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day and on which another Averaging Date does
not or is deemed not to occur.

Component Security means, in respect of a Multi-Exchange Index, each component security
in such Index.

Disrupted Day means (a) where the relevant Index is not specified in the applicable Final
Terms to be a Multi-Exchange Index or Proprietary Index, any Scheduled Trading Day on
which a relevant Exchange or any Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its
regular trading session or on which a Market Disruption Event has occurred or (b) where the
relevant Index is specified in the applicable Final Terms to be a Multi-Exchange Index, any
Scheduled Trading Day on which (i) the Index Sponsor fails to publish the level of the Index,
(ii) the Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session or (iii) a
Market Disruption Event has occurred or (c) for any Proprietary Index, any Scheduled
Trading Day on which a Market Disruption Event has occurred (provided that the Calculation
Agent may, in its discretion, determine that such event will instead constitute an Index
Adjustment Event.

Early Closure means:

(a) in relation to an Index which is not specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a
Multi-Exchange Index, the closure on any Exchange Business Day of any relevant
Exchange(s) relating to securities that comprise at least the Index Composition
Percentage of the level of the relevant Index or any Related Exchange(s) prior to its
Scheduled Closing Time unless such earlier closing time is announced by such
Exchange(s) or Related Exchange(s) at least one hour prior to the earlier of (i) the
actual closing time for the regular trading session on such Exchange(s) or Related
Exchange(s) on such Exchange Business Day and (ii) the submission deadline for
orders to be entered into the Exchange or Related Exchange system for execution at
the Valuation Time, the Knock-in Valuation Time, the Knock-out Valuation Time,
the Trigger Event Valuation Time or the Mandatory Early Termination Valuation
Time, as the case may be, on such Exchange Business Day; or

(b) in relation to an Index which is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a

Multi-Exchange Index, the closure on any Exchange Business Day of the Exchange
in respect of any Component Security or the Related Exchange prior to its Scheduled
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Closing Time unless such earlier closing is announced by such Exchange or Related
Exchange, as the case may be, at least one hour prior to the earlier of (a) the actual
closing time for the regular trading session on such Exchange or Related Exchange,
as the case may be, on such Exchange Business Day, or (b) the submission deadline
for orders to be entered into on the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange system
for execution at the relevant Valuation Time, Knock-in Valuation Time, Knock-out
Valuation Time, Trigger Event Valuation Time or Mandatory Early Termination
Valuation Time, as the case may be, on such Exchange Business Day.

Exchange means:

(a) in relation to an Index which is not specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a
Multi-Exchange Index or Proprietary Index, each exchange or quotation system
specified as such for such Index in the applicable Final Terms, any successor to such
exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to
which trading in the securities comprising such Index has temporarily relocated
(provided that the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity
relative to the securities comprising such Index on such temporary substitute
exchange or quotation system as on the original Exchange); and

(b) in relation to an Index which is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a
Multi-Exchange Index, in respect of each Component Security, the principal stock
exchange on which such Component Security is principally traded, as determined by
the Calculation Agent.

Exchange Business Day means (a) where the relevant Index is not specified in the applicable
Final Terms to be a Multi-Exchange Index, any Scheduled Trading Day on which each
Exchange and each Related Exchange are open for trading during their respective regular
trading sessions, notwithstanding any such Exchange or Related Exchange closing prior to its
Scheduled Closing Time or (b) where the relevant Index is specified in the applicable Final
Terms to be a Multi-Exchange Index, any Scheduled Trading Day on which (i) the Index
Sponsor publishes the level of the Index; and (ii) the Related Exchange is open for trading
during its regular trading session, notwithstanding the Related Exchange closing prior to its
Scheduled Closing Time.

Exchange Disruption means:

(a) in relation to an Index which is not specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a
Multi-Exchange Index, any event (other than an Early Closure) that disrupts or
impairs (as determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants in
general (i) to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for, on any relevant
Exchange(s) in securities that comprise at least the Index Composition Percentage of
the level of the relevant Index, or (ii) to effect transactions in, or obtain market values
for, futures or options contracts relating to the relevant Index on any relevant Related
Exchange; or

(b) in relation to an Index which is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a
Multi-Exchange Index, any event (other than an Early Closure) that disrupts or
impairs (as determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants in
general to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for: (i) any Component
Security on the Exchange in respect of such Component Security; or (ii) futures or
options contracts relating to the Index on the relevant Related Exchange.
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Index and Indices mean, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Index Linked
Conditions, the basket of indices or index specified in the applicable Final Terms and related
expressions shall be construed accordingly.

Index Business Day means, in respect of a Proprietary Index, each day in respect of which
the relevant Index Sponsor is scheduled to calculate and publish the relevant level or value of
the Proprietary Index.

Index Closing Level means, in respect of an Index and subject to these Index Linked
Conditions and to "Valuation Date", "Observation Date", "Knock-in Determination Day",
"Knock-out Determination Day", "Trigger Event Observation Date" and "Mandatory Early
Termination Valuation Date" below and "Averaging Date" above, as the case may be, an
amount equal to the official closing level (which shall be deemed to be an amount in the
Index Currency) of such Index as determined by the Calculation Agent on (i) if Averaging is
not specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Valuation Date, an Observation Date, a
Knock-in Determination Day, a Knock-out Determination Day, a Trigger Event Observation
Date or a Mandatory Early Termination Valuation Date, as the case may be, or (ii) if
Averaging is specified in the applicable Final Terms, an Averaging Date converted, if
Exchange Rate is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, into the Specified
Currency at the Exchange Rate.

Index Level means, in respect of an Index and a time on a Scheduled Trading Day and
subject to these Index Linked Conditions, the level of such Index at such time on such day as
determined by the Calculation Agent.

Index Performance means, in relation to an Averaging Date, a Valuation Date, an
Observation Date, a Knock-in Determination Day, a Knock-out Determination Day, a Trigger
Event Determination Date or a Mandatory Early Termination Valuation Date or any other
event date described in the applicable Final Terms, as the case may be, an amount
(howsoever) expressed determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the formula
or such other basis of reference designated for such purpose in the applicable Final Terms.

Index Sponsor means, in relation to an Index, the corporation or other entity that (i) is
responsible for setting and reviewing the rules and procedures and the methods of calculation
and adjustments, if any, related to such Index and (ii) announces (directly or through an
agent) the level of such Index on a regular basis during each Scheduled Trading Day, which
as of the Issue Date is the index sponsor specified for such Index in the applicable Final
Terms and in either case all references to Index Sponsor shall include any Successor Index
Sponsor (as defined below).

Observation Cut-Off Date means, in respect of each Scheduled Observation Date, the eighth
Scheduled Trading Day immediately following the relevant Scheduled Observation Date or if
earlier the second Business Day immediately preceding the date of payment or delivery of any
amount calculated in respect of such Observation Date pursuant to the definition of
Observation Date or, if such Business Day is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the immediately
preceding Scheduled Trading Day.

Observation Date means each Observation Date specified in the applicable Final Terms, or if
such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day the first Scheduled Trading Day thereafter unless,
in the opinion of the Calculation Agent such day is a Disrupted Day. If any such day is a
Disrupted Day, then:

(a) where the Index Linked Notes relate to a single Index, that Observation Date shall be
the first succeeding Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day, unless each
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of the Scheduled Trading Days immediately following the Scheduled Observation
Date up to and including the Observation Cut-Off Date is a Disrupted Day. In that
case, (i) the Observation Cut-Off Date shall be deemed to be that Observation Date
(notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day) and (ii) the Calculation
Agent shall determine the relevant level or price in the manner set out in the
applicable Final Terms or, if not set out or if not practicable, determine the relevant
level or price by determining the level of the Index as of the Valuation Time on the
Observation Cut-Off Date in accordance with (subject to Index Linked Condition 4
below) the formula for and method of calculating the Index last in effect prior to the
occurrence of the first Disrupted Day using the Exchange traded or quoted price as of
the Valuation Time on the Observation Cut-Off Date of each security or other
reference basis comprised in the Index (or, if an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day
has occurred in respect of the relevant security on the Observation Cut-Off Date, its
good faith estimate of the value for the relevant security or other reference basis as of
the Valuation Time on the Observation Cut-Off Date); or

(b) where the Index Linked Notes relate to a Basket of Indices, that Observation Date for
each Index shall be the first succeeding Scheduled Trading Day that is not a
Disrupted Day relating to any Index, unless each of the Scheduled Trading Days
immediately following the Scheduled Observation Date up to and including the
Observation Cut-Off Date is a Disrupted Day. In that case, (i) the Observation Cut-
Off Date shall be deemed to be that Observation Date for each Index
(notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day) and (ii) the Calculation
Agent shall determine the relevant level or price using, in relation each Index, the
level of that Index determined in the manner set out in the applicable Final Terms or,
if not set out or if not practicable, using the level of that Index as of the Valuation
Time on the Observation Cut-Off Date in accordance with (subject to Index Linked
Condition 4) the formula for and method of calculating that Index last in effect prior
to the occurrence of the first Disrupted Day using the Exchange traded or quoted
price as of the Valuation Time on the Observation Cut-Off Date of each security or
other reference basis comprised in that Index (or, if an event giving rise to a
Disrupted Day has occurred in respect of the relevant security or other reference basis
on the Observation Cut-Off Date, its good faith estimate of the value for the relevant
security or other reference basis as of the Valuation Time on the Observation Cut-Off
Date).

Observation Period means the period or periods specified as such in the applicable Final
Terms.

Proprietary Index means an index described as such in the applicable Final Terms and
which may, without limitation, be sponsored and/or calculated by the Issuer or any of its
Affiliates.

Related Exchange means, in relation to an Index, each exchange or quotation system
specified as such for such Index in the applicable Final Terms, any successor to such
exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading
in futures or options contracts relating to such Index has temporarily relocated (provided that
the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to the futures
or options contracts relating to such Index on such temporary substitute exchange or quotation
system as on the original Related Exchange), provided, however, that where "All Exchanges"
is specified as the Related Exchange in the applicable Final Terms, Related Exchange shall
mean each exchange or quotation system where trading has a material effect (as determined
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by the Calculation Agent) on the overall market for futures or options contracts relating to
such Index.

Scheduled Closing Time means, in respect of an Exchange or Related Exchange and a
Scheduled Trading Day, the scheduled weekday closing time of such Exchange or Related
Exchange on such Scheduled Trading Day, without regard to after hours or any other trading
outside of the regular trading session hours.

Scheduled Observation Date means any original date that, but for the occurrence of an event
causing a Disrupted Day, would have been an Observation Date.

Scheduled Trading Day means (a) where the relevant Index is not specified in the applicable
Final Terms to be a Multi-Exchange Index or Proprietary Index, any day on which each
Exchange and each Related Exchange are scheduled to be open for trading for their respective
regular trading sessions or (b) where the relevant Index is specified in the applicable Final
Terms to be a Multi-Exchange Index or Proprietary Index, any day on which (i) the Index
Sponsor is scheduled to publish the level of that Index, and (ii) the Related Exchange is
scheduled to be open for trading for its regular trading session.

Scheduled Valuation Date means any original date that, but for the occurrence of an event
causing a Disrupted Day, would have been a Valuation Date.

Trading Disruption means:

(a) in relation to an Index which is not specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a
Multi-Exchange Index, any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by the
relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise and whether by reason of
movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the relevant Exchange or Related
Exchange or otherwise (i) on any relevant Exchange(s) relating to securities that
comprise at least the Index Composition Percentage of the level of the relevant Index,
or (ii) in futures or options contracts relating to the Index on any relevant Related
Exchange;

(b) in relation to an Index which is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a
Multi-Exchange Index, any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by the
relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise and whether by reason of
movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the relevant Exchange or Related
Exchange or otherwise: (i) relating to any Component Security on the Exchange in
respect of such Component Security; or (ii) in futures or options contracts relating to
the Index on the Related Exchange.

Valuation Cut-Off Date means the eighth Scheduled Trading Day immediately following the
Scheduled Valuation Date or if earlier the second Business Day immediately preceding the
date of payment or delivery of any amount calculated pursuant to the definition of Valuation
Date or, if such Business Day is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the immediately preceding
Scheduled Trading Day.

Valuation Date means each Valuation Date specified in the applicable Final Terms or if such
date is not a Scheduled Trading Day the first Scheduled Trading Day thereafter unless, in the
opinion of the Calculation Agent such day is a Disrupted Day. If such day is a Disrupted
Day, then:

(a) where the Index Linked Notes relate to a single Index, the Valuation Date shall be the
first succeeding Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day, unless each of
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(b)

the Scheduled Trading Days immediately following the Scheduled Valuation Date up
to and including the Valuation Cut-Off Date is a Disrupted Day. In that case, (i) the
Valuation Cut-Off Date shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date (notwithstanding
the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day) and (ii) the Calculation Agent shall
determine the relevant level or price in the manner set out in the applicable Final
Terms or, if not set out or if not practicable, determine the relevant level or price by
determining the level of the Index as of the Valuation Time on the Valuation Cut-Off
Date in accordance with (subject to Index Linked Condition 4 below) the formula for
and method of calculating the Index last in effect prior to the occurrence of the first
Disrupted Day using the Exchange traded or quoted price as of the Valuation Time on
the Valuation Cut-Off Date of each security or other reference basis comprised in the
Index (or, if an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred in respect of the
relevant security or other reference basis on the Valuation Cut-Off Date, its good faith
estimate of the value for the relevant security or other reference basis as of the
Valuation Time on the Valuation Cut-Off Date); or

where the Index Linked Notes relate to a Basket of Indices, the Valuation Date for
each Index shall be the first succeeding Scheduled Trading Day that is not a
Disrupted Day relating to any Index, unless each of the Scheduled Trading Days
immediately following the Scheduled Valuation Date up to and including the
Valuation Cut-Off Date is a Disrupted Day. In that case, (i) the Valuation Cut-Off
Date shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date for each Index (notwithstanding the
fact that such day is a Disrupted Day) and (ii) the Calculation Agent shall determine
the relevant level or price using, in relation to each Index, the level of that Index
determined in the manner set out in the applicable Final Terms or, if not set out or if
not practicable, using the level of that Index as of the Valuation Time on the
Valuation Cut-Off Date in accordance with (subject to Index Linked Condition 4) the
formula for and method of calculating that Index last in effect prior to the occurrence
of the first Disrupted Day using the Exchange traded or quoted price as of the
Valuation Time on the Valuation Cut-Off Date of each security or other reference
basis comprised in that Index (or, if an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has
occurred in respect of the relevant security or other reference basis on the Valuation
Cut-Off Date, its good faith estimate of the value for the relevant security or other
reference basis as of the Valuation Time on the Valuation Cut-Off Date).

Valuation Time means:

(a)

(b)

where the relevant Index is not specified in the applicable Final Terms to be a Multi-
Exchange Index or Proprietary Index, the Valuation Time specified in the applicable
Final Terms or, if no Valuation Time is specified, the Scheduled Closing Time on the
relevant Exchange on the relevant Valuation Date, Observation Date or Averaging
Date, as the case may be, in relation to each Index to be valued. If the relevant
Exchange closes prior to its Scheduled Closing Time and the specified Valuation
Time is after the actual closing time for its regular trading session, then the Valuation
Time shall be such actual closing time;

where the relevant Index is specified in the applicable Final Terms to be a Multi-
Exchange Index, the Valuation Time specified in the applicable Final Terms or if no
Valuation Time is specified (i) for the purposes of determining whether a Market
Disruption Event has occurred: (x) in respect of any Component Security, the
Scheduled Closing Time on the relevant Exchange and (y) in respect of any options
contracts or futures contracts on the Index, the close of trading on the relevant
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Related Exchange, and (ii) in all other circumstances, the time at which the official
closing level of the Index is calculated and published by the Index Sponsor;

(©) where the relevant Index is specified in the applicable Final Terms to be a Proprietary
Index, the time at which the Index Sponsor calculates and publishes the official
closing level of Proprietary Index;

(d) where the Index Level is to be determined during any period on any Scheduled
Trading Day, each relevant time at which the Index Level is so determined.

Market Disruption

Market Disruption Event means:

(a)

(b)

in respect of an Index other than a Multi-Exchange Index or Proprietary Index, the
occurrence or existence of (i) a Trading Disruption, (ii) an Exchange Disruption,
which in either case the Calculation Agent determines is material, at any time during
the one hour period that ends at the relevant Valuation Time, Knock-in Valuation
Time, Knock-out Valuation Time, Trigger Event Valuation Time or Mandatory Early
Termination Valuation Time, as the case may be, or (iii) an Early Closure; or

in respect of an Index which is a Multi-Exchange Index either:

(i) (A) the occurrence or existence, in respect of any Component Security,
of:

L a Trading Disruption, which the Calculation Agent
determines is material, at any time during the one hour
period that ends at the relevant Valuation Time, Knock-in
Valuation Time, Knock-out Valuation Time, Trigger Event
Valuation Time or Mandatory Early Termination Valuation
Time, as the case may be, in respect of the Exchange on
which such Component Security is principally traded;

II. an Exchange Disruption, which the Calculation Agent
determines is material, at any time during the one hour
period that ends at the relevant Valuation Time, Knock-in
Valuation Time, Knock-out Valuation Time, Trigger Event
Valuation Time or Mandatory Early Termination Valuation
Time, as the case may be, in respect of the Exchange on
which such Component Security is principally traded; or

I1I. an Early Closure; and

(B) the aggregate of all Component Securities in respect of which a
Trading Disruption, an Exchange Disruption or an Early Closure
occurs or exists, comprises at least the Index Composition Percentage
of the level of the Index; or

(i1) the occurrence or existence, in respect of futures or options contracts relating
to the Index, of (A) a Trading Disruption, (B) an Exchange Disruption which
in either case the Calculation Agent determines is material, at any time during
the one hour period that ends at the Valuation Time, the Knock-in Valuation
Time, the Knock-out Valuation Time, the Trigger Event Valuation Time or
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(a)

(b)

the Mandatory Early Termination Valuation Time, as the case may be, in
respect of any Related Exchange or (C) an Early Closure.

For the purposes of determining whether a Market Disruption Event in
respect of an Index exists at any time, if a Market Disruption Event occurs in
respect of a security included in the Index or such Component Security at any
time, then the relevant percentage contribution of that security or Component
Security, as the case may be, to the level of the Index shall be based on a
comparison of (i) the portion of the level of the Index attributable to that
security or Component Security, as the case may be, and (ii) the overall level
of the Index, in each case either (a) except where the Index is not a Multi-
Exchange Index, immediately before the occurrence of such Market
Disruption Event or (b) where that Index is a Multi-Exchange Index, using
the official opening weightings as published by the Index Sponsor as part of
the market "opening data"; or

(©) In respect of any Proprietary Index, the failure by the Index Sponsor to calculate and
publish the relevant level or value of the Index on any Scheduled Trading Day or in
respect of such Scheduled Trading Day within the scheduled timeframe for
publication.

Adjustments and Corrections to an Index
Successor Index Sponsor Calculates and Reports an Index

If a relevant Index is (i) not calculated and announced by the Index Sponsor but is calculated
and announced by a successor sponsor (the Successor Index Sponsor) acceptable to the
Calculation Agent, or (ii) replaced by a successor index using, in the determination of the
Calculation Agent, the same or a substantially similar formula for and method of calculation
as used in the calculation of that Index, then in each case that index (the Successor Index)
will be deemed to be the Index.

Modification and Cessation of Calculation of an Index

If in the determination of the Calculation Agent (i) on or prior to any date on which any Index
valuation or obligation is scheduled to occur the relevant Index Sponsor makes or announces
that it will make a material change in the formula for or the method of calculating a relevant
Index or in any other way materially modifies that Index (other than a modification prescribed
in that formula or method to maintain that Index in the event of changes in constituent stock
and capitalisation or contracts or other reference bases and other routine events) (an Index
Modification), (ii) the relevant Index Sponsor permanently cancels a relevant Index and no
Successor Index exists (an Index Cancellation), (iii) on any date on which any Index
valuation or obligation is scheduled to occur the Index Sponsor or, if applicable, the
Successor Index Sponsor fails to calculate and announce a relevant Index (an Index
Disruption) or (iv) any disruption, adjustment and/or market disruption event or analogous
circumstance exists or occurs in relation to any constituent or component of a Proprietary
Index (and, without limitation, this may include any such event or circumstance as described
in any relevant adjustment, disruption and/or market disruption provisions included in the
Proprietary Index itself and/or in any additional terms and conditions other than the Index
Linked Conditions which the Calculation Agent determines the Issuer would have selected in
the applicable Final Terms if the Notes had related directly to the relevant Proprietary Index
constituent or component) (an Index Constituent Disruption and, together with an Index
Modification an Index Calculation and an Index Disruption, each an Index Adjustment
Event), then the Issuer may take the action described in (A) or (B) below:
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(c)

(a)

(A) require the Calculation Agent to determine if such Index Adjustment Event has a
material effect on the Index Linked Notes and, if so, to determine in its sole and
absolute discretion the appropriate adjustment, if any, to be made to any of the other
terms Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms to account for the Index
Adjustment Event and determine the effective date of that adjustment (such
adjustment may include, without limitation, the Calculation Agent calculating the
relevant Index level or price using, in lieu of a published level for that Index, the level
for that Index as at the relevant time as determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the formula for and method of calculating that Index last in effect
prior to the change, failure or cancellation, but using only those securities or other
reference bases that comprised that Index immediately prior to that Index Adjustment
Event); or

(B) on giving notice to the Holders in accordance with Condition 14, redeem all (but not
some only) of the Notes, each Note being redeemed at the Early Redemption
Amount.

Upon the occurrence of an Index Adjustment Event, the Issuer shall give notice as soon as
reasonably practicable to the Holders in accordance with Condition 14, giving details of the
action proposed to be taken in relation thereto, provided that any failure to give, or non-
receipt of, such notice will not affect the validity of such action. The Issuer shall make
available for inspection by Holders copies of any such determinations.

Corrections to an Index

If the level of a relevant Index published on any Valuation Date, Observation Date, Averaging
Date, or any other date for Index valuation or observation, as the case may be, by the relevant
Index Sponsor or (if applicable) the relevant Successor Index Sponsor and which is utilised
for any calculation or determination made for the purposes of the Index Linked Notes (a
Relevant Calculation) is subsequently corrected and the correction (the Corrected Index
Level) published by the relevant Index Sponsor or (if applicable) the relevant Successor Index
Sponsor no later than two Business Days prior to the date of payment of any amount to be
calculated by reference to the Relevant Calculation then such Corrected Index Level shall be
deemed to be the relevant level for such Index on such Averaging Date, Observation Date,
Valuation Date, or other relevant date, as the case may be, and the Calculation Agent shall use
such Corrected Index Level in determining the relevant level or price.

Additional Disruption Events

Additional Disruption Event means any of Change of Law, Hedging Disruption and/or
Increased Cost of Hedging, in each case if specified in the applicable Final Terms, and such
other events (if any) specified as an Additional Disruption Event in the applicable Final
Terms.

Change in Law means that, on or after the Trade Date (as specified in the applicable Final
Terms) (i) due to the adoption of or any change in any applicable law or regulation (including,
without limitation, any tax law), or (ii) due to the promulgation of or any change in the
interpretation by any court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of any
applicable law or regulation (including any action taken by a taxing authority), the
Calculation Agent determines in its sole and absolute discretion that (A) it has become illegal
to hold, acquire or dispose of any relevant security comprised in an Index or (B) the Issuer
will incur a materially increased cost in performing its obligations in relation to the Index
Linked Notes (including, without limitation, due to any increase in tax liability, decrease in
tax benefit or other adverse effect on the tax position of the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates).
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(b)

(c)

Hedging Disruption means that the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates or agents is unable,
after using commercially reasonable efforts, to (i) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute,
maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge the
equity or other price risk of the Issuer issuing and performing its obligations with respect to
the Index Linked Notes, or (ii) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such
transaction(s) or asset(s).

Increased Cost of Hedging means that the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates or agents acting
on its behalf would incur a materially increased (as compared with circumstances existing on
the Trade Date) amount of tax, duty, expense or fee (other than brokerage commissions) to (i)
acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s)
or asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge the equity or other price risk of the Issuer issuing and
performing its obligations with respect to the Index Linked Notes, or (ii) realise, recover or
remit the proceeds of any such transaction(s) or asset(s), provided that any such materially
increased amount that is incurred solely due to the deterioration of the creditworthiness of the
Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates or agents shall not be deemed an Increased Cost of Hedging.

If Additional Disruption Events are specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, then
if an Additional Disruption Event occurs, the Issuer in its sole and absolute discretion may
take the action described in (i) or (ii) below:

(1) require the Calculation Agent to determine in its sole and absolute discretion the
appropriate adjustment, if any, to be made to any one or more of the terms of these
Terms and Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms to account for the Additional
Disruption Event and determine the effective date of that adjustment; or

(i1) give notice to Holders in accordance with Condition 14, redeem all, but not some
only, of the Notes, each nominal amount of Notes equal to the Calculation Amount
being redeemed at the Early Redemption Amount.

Upon the occurrence of an Additional Disruption Event, the Issuer shall give notice as soon as
practicable to the Holders stating the occurrence of the Additional Disruption Event, giving
details thereof and the action proposed to be taken in relation thereto provided that any failure
to give, or non-receipt of, such notice will not affect the validity of the Additional Disruption
Event.

Knock-in Event, Knock-out Event

If "Knock-in Event" is specified as applicable in the Final Terms, then the payment and/or
delivery obligations under the Notes relating to the occurrence of a Knock-in Event shall be
as set out in the applicable Final Terms.

If "Knock-out Event" is specified as applicable in the Final Terms, then the payment and/or
delivery obligations under the Notes relating to the occurrence of a Knock-out Event shall be
as set out in the applicable Final Terms.

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms:

Knock-in Determination Day means the date(s) specified as such in the applicable Final
Terms or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the first succeeding Scheduled
Trading Day thereafter or, if not so specified, each Scheduled Trading Day during the Knock-
in Determination Period, subject, in each case, as provided in Knock-in/Knock-out Disrupted
Day Adjustments below.
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Knock-in Determination Period means the period which commences on, and includes, the
Knock-in Period Beginning Date and ends on, and includes, the Knock-in Period Ending

Date.

Knock-in Event is as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Knock-in/Knock-out Disrupted Day Adjustments means:

(a)

(b)

if the Knock-in Valuation Time or the Knock-out Valuation Time is a single time on
each relevant day and any Knock-in Determination Day or Knock-out Determination
Day is a Disrupted Day then, if "Knock-in/Knock-out Determination Day
consequences of a Disrupted Day" is specified in the applicable Final Terms as:

(i)

(i)

Omission, then such date will be deemed not to be a Knock-in Determination
Day or Knock-out Determination Day for the purposes of determining
whether a Knock-in Event or a Knock-out Event has occurred, as applicable;
provided that if the Knock-in Period Ending Date or the Knock-out Period
Ending Date is a Disrupted Day and no Knock-in Event or Knock-out Event
has occurred in the Knock-in Determination Period or Knock-out
Determination Period, the Knock-in Period Ending Date or Knock-out Period
Ending Date, as applicable, shall be treated as a Valuation Date and the
provisions of the definition of "Valuation Date" will apply for the purposes of
determining the relevant level or price on the Knock-in Period Ending Date
or Knock-out Period Ending Date, as applicable, as if such Knock-in Period
Ending Date or Knock-out Period Ending Date, as applicable, were a
Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day and the Calculation Agent shall
determine the relevant level or price of the relevant Index or Indices in
respect of such day in accordance with such provisions (as such provisions
may be amended for these purposes in the applicable Final Terms, for
example but without limitation, in respect of the time at which any
subsequent valuation(s) is/are made) for the purpose of determining whether
a Knock-in Event or Knock-out Event shall occur; or

Postponement, then the provisions of the definition of "Valuation Date" will
apply for the purposes of determining the relevant level or price on that
Knock-in Determination Day or Knock-out Determination Day as if such
Knock-in Determination Day or Knock-out Determination Day, as the case
may be, were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day and the Calculation
Agent shall determine the relevant level or price of the relevant Index(ices) in
respect of such day in accordance with such provisions (as such provisions
may be amended for these purposes in the applicable Final Terms, for
example but without limitation, in respect of the time at which any
subsequent valuation(s) is/are made) for purposes of determining whether a
Knock-in Event or Knock-out Event shall occur; or

if the Knock-in Valuation Time or the Knock-out Valuation Time specified in the
applicable Final Terms is other than a single time on each relevant day and if on any
Knock-in Determination Day or Knock-out Determination Day as of any Knock-in
Valuation Time or Knock-out Valuation Time a Knock-in Event or Knock-out Event
has or would have occurred but the conditions for a Disrupted Day have been
satisfied at such time then, if "Knock-in/Knock-out intraday valuation consequences
of disruption" is specified in the applicable Final Terms as:
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(i) Omission, then such Knock-in Valuation Time or the Knock-out Valuation
Time, as the case may be, shall be ignored for purposes of determining
whether a Knock-in Event or a Knock-out Event has occurred, provided that
if no Knock-in Event or Knock-out Event has occurred in the Knock-in
Determination Period or Knock-out Determination Period and the conditions
for a Disrupted Day are satisfied as of the last occurring Knock-in Valuation
Time or Knock-out Valuation Time on the Knock-in Period Ending Date or
Knock-out Period Ending Date, as applicable, then such day shall be treated
as a Valuation Date and the provisions of the definition of "Valuation Date"
will apply for the purposes of determining the relevant level or price on the
Knock-in Period Ending Date or Knock-out Period Ending Date, as
applicable, as if such Knock-in Period Ending Date or Knock-out Period
Ending Date, as applicable, were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day
and the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant level or price of the
relevant Index or Indices in respect of such day in accordance with such
provisions (as such provisions may be amended for these purposes in the
applicable Final Terms, for example but without limitation, in respect of the
time at which any subsequent valuation(s) is/are made) for the purpose of
determining whether a Knock-in Event or Knock-out Event shall occur; or

(ii) Materiality, then (i) where the Calculation Agent determines that the
relevant event or occurrence giving rise to such Disrupted Day is not material
for the purposes of determining the Index Level as of such time, the Knock-in
Event or Knock-out Event, as applicable, may occur notwithstanding such
event or occurrence, or (ii) where the Calculation Agent determines that the
relevant event or occurrence giving rise to such Disrupted Day is material for
the purposes of determining the Index Level as of such time, then the Knock-
in Event or the Knock-out Event shall be deemed not to have occurred at such
time provided that if no Knock-in Event or Knock-out Event has occurred in
the Knock-in Determination Period or Knock-out Determination Period and
the conditions for a Disrupted Day are satisfied as of the last occurring
Knock-in Valuation Time or Knock-out Valuation Time on the Knock-in
Period Ending Date or Knock-out Period Ending Date, as applicable, then
such day shall be treated as a Valuation Date and the provisions of the
definition of "Valuation Date" will apply for the purposes of determining the
relevant level or price on the Knock-in Period Ending Date or Knock-out
Period Ending Date, as applicable, as if such Knock-in Period Ending Date or
Knock-out Period Ending Date, as applicable, were a Valuation Date that was
a Disrupted Day and the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant level
or price of the relevant Index or Indices in respect of such day in accordance
with such provisions (as such provisions may be amended for these purposes
in the applicable Final Terms, for example but without limitation, in respect
of the time at which any subsequent valuation(s) is/are made) for the purpose
of determining whether a Knock-in Event or Knock-out Event shall occur.

Knock-in Level means, in respect of an Index, the level or value of the Index specified as
such or otherwise determined as provided in the applicable Final Terms.

Knock-in Period Beginning Date means the date specified as such in the applicable Final

Terms or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading
Day.
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Knock-in Period Ending Date means the date specified as such in the applicable Final
Terms or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading
Day or, if earlier, the second Business Day immediately preceding the date of payment or
delivery of any amount calculated pursuant to the applicable Knock-in Event provisions or, if
such Business Day is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the immediately preceding Scheduled
Trading Day.

Knock-in Valuation Time means the time or period of time on any Knock-in Determination
Day specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no such time is so specified, the
Valuation Time for which purposes, references in the definition of Valuation Time to
"Valuation Date", shall be deemed to be to "Knock-in Determination Day".

Knock-out Determination Day means the date(s) specified as such in the applicable Final
Terms, or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the first succeeding Scheduled
Trading Day thereafter or each Scheduled Trading Day during the Knock-out Determination
Period, subject, in each case, as provided in Knock-in/Knock-out Disrupted Day Adjustments
above.

Knock-out Determination Period means the period which commences on, and includes, the
Knock-out Period Beginning Date and ends on, and includes, the Knock-out Period Ending
Date.

Knock-out Event is as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Knock-out Level means, in respect of an Index, the level or value of the Index specified as
such or otherwise determined as provided in the applicable Final Terms.

Knock-out Period Beginning Date means the date specified as such in the applicable Final
Terms or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading
Day.

Knock-out Period Ending Date means the date specified as such in the applicable Final
Terms or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading
Day or, if earlier, the second Business Day immediately preceding the date of payment or
delivery of any amount calculated pursuant to the applicable Knock-out Event provisions or,
if such Business Day is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the immediately preceding Scheduled
Trading Day.

Knock-out Valuation Time means the time or period of time on any Knock-out
Determination Day specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no such time is so
specified, the Valuation Time, for which purposes references in the definition of Valuation
Time to "Valuation Date", shall be deemed to be to "Knock-out Determination Day".

Trigger Event

If "Trigger Event" is specified as applicable in the Final Terms, then the payment and/or
delivery provisions under the Notes relating to the occurrence of a Trigger Event shall be as
set out in the applicable Final Terms.

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms:

Trigger Event means a Trigger Event (Closing Observation), a Trigger Event (Intraday
Observation) or such other event as specified in the applicable Final Terms.
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Trigger Event (Closing Observation) means, unless otherwise specified in the applicable
Final Terms, a determination by the Calculation Agent that, on any Trigger Event Observation
Date, the Index Closing Level of any Index as calculated and announced by the Index Sponsor
at the Trigger Event Valuation Time is less than or equal to the relevant Trigger Level for
such Index, as determined by the Calculation Agent.

Trigger Event Date means a date on which a Trigger Event has occurred as determined by
the Calculation Agent.

Trigger Event Disrupted Day Adjustments means:

(a)

(b)

if Trigger Event (Closing Observation) is specified as Applicable in the applicable
Final Terms and any Trigger Event Observation Date is a Disrupted Day then, if
"Trigger Event Observation Date consequences of a Disrupted Day" is specified in
the applicable Final Terms as:

(i)

(i)

Omission, then such date will be deemed not to be a Trigger Event
Observation Date for the purposes of determining whether a Trigger Event
has occurred; provided that if the final Trigger Event Observation Date in any
Trigger Event Observation Period is a Disrupted Day and no Trigger Event
has occurred in that Trigger Event Observation Period, such final Trigger
Event Observation Date in such Trigger Event Observation Period shall be
treated as a Valuation Date and the provisions of the definition of "Valuation
Date" will apply for the purposes of determining the relevant level or price on
such day as if such day were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day and
the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant level or price of the
relevant Index or Indices in respect of such day in accordance with such
provisions (as such provisions may be amended for these purposes in the
applicable Final Terms, for example but without limitation, in respect of the
time at which any subsequent valuation(s) is/are made) for the purpose of
determining whether a Trigger Event shall occur; or

Postponement, then the provisions of the definition of "Valuation Date" will
apply for the purposes of determining the relevant level or price on that
Trigger Event Observation Date as if such Trigger Event Observation Date
were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day and the Calculation Agent
shall determine the relevant level or price of the relevant Index(ices) in
respect of such day in accordance with such provisions (as such provisions
may be amended for these purposes in the applicable Final Terms, for
example but without limitation, in respect of the time at which any
subsequent valuation(s) is/are made) for purposes of determining whether a
Trigger Event shall occur; or

if "Trigger Event (Intraday Observation)" is specified as Applicable in the applicable
Final Terms and if on any Trigger Event Observation Date as of any Trigger Event
Valuation Time a Trigger Event has or would have occurred but the conditions for a
Disrupted Day have been satisfied at such time then, if "Trigger Event intraday
valuation consequences of disruption" is specified in the applicable Final Terms as:

(i)

Omission, then such Trigger Event Valuation Time shall be ignored for
purposes of determining whether a Trigger Event has occurred, provided that
if no Trigger Event has occurred in the Trigger Event Observation Period and
the conditions for a Disrupted Day are satisfied as of the last occurring
Trigger Event Valuation Time on the final Trigger Event Observation Date in
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such Trigger Event Observation Period, then such day shall be treated as a
Valuation Date and the provisions of the definition of "Valuation Date" will
apply for the purposes of determining the relevant level or price on such day
as if such day were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day and the
Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant level or price of the relevant
Index or Indices in respect of such day in accordance with such provisions (as
such provisions may be amended for these purposes in the applicable Final
Terms, for example but without limitation, in respect of the time at which any
subsequent valuation(s) is/are made) for the purpose of determining whether
a Trigger Event shall occur; or

(i1) Materiality,